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In the opinion of Quarles & Brady LLP, Bond Counsel, under existing law interest on the Bonds is included in gross income for federal income 
tax purposes.  See “LEGAL MATTERS - Taxability of Interest” herein.  The interest on the Bonds is not exempt from present Wisconsin income 
or franchise taxes.   
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$5,100,000 Taxable General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2018D 
 
Dated:   November 27, 2018 Due:  October 1, as shown below 
 
The Taxable General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2018D (the “Bonds”) are being issued pursuant to Chapter 67 of the Wisconsin 
Statutes.  The Bonds will be general obligations of the City of Oak Creek, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin (the “City”) for which its full faith, credit 
and resources are pledged.  The Bonds are being issued for the public purpose of refunding certain outstanding obligations of the City, to wit: 
the Taxable General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2016A, dated July 6, 2016 (the "2016A Notes") and paying related costs of financing.  
(See “THE BONDS – Purpose” herein.) 

MATURITY SCHEDULE 
The Bonds will mature October 1, as follows: 

Year Amount Rate Yield 
CUSIP No. 
671137 (1) 

 

Year Amount Rate Yield 
CUSIP No. 
671137 (1) 

2021 $220,000 4.000% 3.300% YM3  2026 $385,000 4.000% 3.700% YS0 
2022 250,000 4.000 3.400 YN1  2027 425,000 4.000 3.750 YT8 
2023 280,000 4.000 3.450 YP6  2028 465,000 4.250 3.850 YU5 
2024 310,000 4.000 3.550 YQ4  2029 520,000 3.950 3.950 YV3 
2025 345,000 4.250 3.650 YR2  2030 575,000 4.000 4.000 YW1 

$1,325,000  4.125% Term Bond Due October 1, 2032  Yield 4.125%  CUSIP 671137 YY7 

The Bonds will be issued as fully registered obligations without coupons and, when issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as 
nominee of The Depository Trust Company ("DTC").  DTC will act as securities depository of the Bonds.  Individual purchases may be made 
in book entry form only, in the principal amount of $5,000 and integral multiples thereof.  Purchasers will not receive certificates representing 
their interest in the Bonds purchased.  Associated Trust Company, National Association, Green Bay, Wisconsin, will act as registrar and fiscal 
agent for the Bonds. 
 
Principal of the Bonds, payable annually each October 1, commencing October 1, 2021 through 2030, and continuing as term bonds maturing 
on October 1, 2032 (the "Term Bonds"), and interest, payable each April 1 and October 1, commencing April 1, 2019, will be paid to DTC, 
which will in turn remit such principal and interest payments to its participants for subsequent disbursement to the beneficial owners of the 
Bonds as described herein.  
 
The Bonds maturing on October 1, 2029 and thereafter shall be subject to redemption prior to maturity, at the option of the City, on October 1, 
2028 or on any date thereafter.  Said Bonds are redeemable as a whole or in part, and if in part, from maturities selected by the City and within 
each maturity by lot, at the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.  In addition, the Term Bonds are subject 
to annual mandatory redemption by lot as set forth in "THE BONDS - Redemption Provisions" herein. 
 
The Bonds are offered when, as and if issued, subject to the receipt of the approving opinion of Quarles & Brady LLP, Milwaukee, Wisconsin, 
Bond Counsel.  Quarles & Brady LLP will also serve as Disclosure Counsel for the Bonds.  The Bonds will be available for delivery on or about 
November 27, 2018, through the facilities of DTC in New York, New York. 
  __________________________________________  
 
THIS COVER PAGE CONTAINS CERTAIN INFORMATION FOR QUICK REFERENCE ONLY.  IT IS NOT A SUMMARY OF THIS ISSUE.  
INVESTORS MUST READ THE ENTIRE OFFICIAL STATEMENT TO OBTAIN INFORMATION ESSENTIAL TO THE MAKING OF AN 
INFORMED INVESTMENT DECISION. 
  __________________________________________  

October 16, 2018 

Hutchinson, Shockey, Erley & Co. 

 

1 See “CUSIP INFORMATION” herein. 



 
Unless otherwise indicated, information contained in this Official Statement is based upon material provided by the City and available 
at the date of publication of the Official Statement.  Certain information contained herein has been obtained from sources other than 
records of the City, and is believed to be reliable, but is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness. 
 
No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized by the City to give any information or to make any representation 
other than as contained in this Official Statement in connection with the offering of the Bonds and, if given or made, such other 
information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the City or the Underwriter.  This Official 
Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy nor shall there be any sale of the Bonds by any 
person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale.  The information and 
expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale 
made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the operations of the City 
since the date of this Official Statement. 
 
The Bonds have not been registered pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, in reliance upon exemptions contained in such Act. 
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SUMMARY 
 
This is not a summary of the entire Official Statement.  It is only a brief description of and guide to, and is qualified by, more complete and 
detailed information contained in the entire Official Statement, including the cover page and appendices hereto, and the documents 
summarized or described herein.  A full review should be made of the entire Official Statement.  The offering of the Bonds to potential 
investors is made only by means of the entire Official Statement and all such documents. 
 
Issuer City of Oak Creek, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin 
 
Issue $5,100,000 Taxable General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2018D 
 

Dated Date November 27, 2018 
 
Principal Due Annually each October 1, commencing October 1, 2021 through 2030, and continuing 

as Term Bonds maturing on October 1, 2032 (the "Term Bonds"). 
 
Interest Payment Date Commencing April 1, 2019 and on each October 1 and April 1 thereafter.  Interest shall 

be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months. 
 
Redemption Provision The Bonds maturing on October 1, 2029 and thereafter shall be subject to redemption 

prior to maturity, at the option of the City, on October 1, 2028 or on any date thereafter.  
Said Bonds are redeemable as a whole or in part, and if in part, from maturities selected 
by the City and within each maturity by lot, at the principal amount thereof, plus accrued 
interest to the date of redemption.  In addition, the Term Bonds are subject to annual 
mandatory redemption by lot as set forth in “THE BONDS – Redemption Provisions” 
herein. 

 
Purpose The Bonds are being issued for the public purpose of refunding certain outstanding 

obligations of the City, to wit: the Taxable General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 
2016A, dated July 6, 2016 and paying related costs of financing. 

 
Security The City pledges its full faith, credit and resources and there will be levied on all the 

taxable property in the City a direct, annual, irrepealable tax in an amount and at times 
sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds. 

 
Authority The Bonds are being issued pursuant to Chapter 67 of the Wisconsin Statutes and a 

resolution adopted by the Common Council on October 16, 2018. 
 
Tax Status Interest on the Bonds is included in gross income for federal income tax purposes.  (See 

“LEGAL MATTERS – Taxability of Interest” herein.) 
 
Credit Rating The Bonds have been rated "Aa2" by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. 
 
Underwriter Hutchinson, Shockey, Erley & Co. 
 
Registrar and Fiscal Agent Associated Trust Company, National Association, Green Bay, Wisconsin. 
 
Record Date The 15th day of the month next preceding an interest payment date.  
 
Delivery Date and Place On or about November 27, 2018 through the facilities of DTC in New York, New York. 
 
Denominations The Bonds will be issued in denominations of $5,000 each and integral multiples thereof. 
  
Bond Years 48,636.67 Average Life 9.537 years 
 
Continuing Disclosure The Official Statement will be available from the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board 

through the Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) System.  The City will 
covenant to provide annual reports, as required, and timely notice of certain events as 
set forth in the Continuing Disclosure Certificate.  See Appendix C herein. 
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
 

CITY OF OAK CREEK 
MILWAUKEE COUNTY, WISCONSIN 

$5,100,000 Taxable General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2018D 
 

INTRODUCTION 

 
The purpose of this Official Statement, which includes the cover page and appendices hereto, is to provide certain information in connection 
with the issuance of $5,100,000 Taxable General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2018D (the "Bonds") of the City of Oak Creek, 
Wisconsin (the "City"). 
 
This Official Statement speaks only as of its date, and the information contained herein is subject to change. 
 
The information contained in this Official Statement is based upon material provided by the City or obtained from other sources and is 
believed to be reliable, but is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness. 
 
All references to material included in this Official Statement not purporting to be quoted in full are only summaries of certain provisions thereof 
and do not purport to summarize or describe all the provisions thereof.  Reference is made to such instruments, documents and other 
materials for the complete provisions thereof, copies of which will be furnished upon request.  
 
Information, including the City’s prior years' financial statements, is available upon request and upon payment to the City of a charge for any 
copying, mailing and handling if required, from Catherine Roeske, City Clerk, City of Oak Creek, 8040 S. 6th Street, Oak Creek, Wisconsin, 
53154, telephone (414) 766-7000, croeske@oakcreekwi.org; or from Hutchinson, Shockey, Erley & Co. (the "Underwriter") at (414) 298-
9898. 

 
THE BONDS 

Purpose 
 
The Bonds are being issued for the public purpose of refunding certain outstanding obligations of the City, to wit: the Taxable General 
Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2016A, dated July 6, 2016 (the "2016A Notes") and paying related costs of financing. 
 
Authority for Issuance 
 
The Bonds are being issued pursuant to Chapter 67, Wisconsin Statutes, and a Resolution Authorizing the Issuance and Sale of $5,100,000 
Taxable General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2018D (the “Resolution”) adopted by the Common Council on October 16, 2018. 
 
Description 
 
The Bonds are dated November 27, 2018 and will bear interest from their dated date to their respective maturities.  Principal of the Bonds 
will be payable annually each October 1, commencing October 1, 2021 through 2030, and continuing as term bonds maturing on October 1, 
2032 (the "Term Bonds").  Interest will be payable each April 1 and October 1, commencing April 1, 2019. 
 
Sources and Applications of Funds 
 
 Sources of Funds 
  Par Amount of Bonds $ 5,100,000 
  Unspent Proceeds of 2016A Notes  682,302 
  Reoffering Premium  66,809 

   TOTAL $ 5,849,111 

 Applications of Funds 
  Deposit to Borrowed Money Fund (for current refunding of the 2016A Notes) $ 5,750,000 
  Costs of Issuance (including Underwriter's Discount)  99,111 
   TOTAL $ 5,849,111 
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Obligations to be Refunded 

$5,750,000 Taxable General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2016A (the "2016A Notes") 
Dated: July 6, 2016 

Due:  December 1, 2018 
Callable:  December 1, 2017 or on any date thereafter 

 
 Year Amount Outstanding Amount to be Refunded (1) CUSIP No. 
 2018 $5,750,000 $5,100,000 671137VB0 
 
(1) Proceeds of the Bonds will be used, along with unspent proceeds of the 2016A Notes, to pay the principal of and interest on the 2016A 

Notes due at maturity on December 1, 2018. 
 
Sources of Payment for the Bonds  
 
The City is authorized and required by law to levy on all property taxable by the City such ad valorem taxes, without limitation as to rate or 
amount, as may be necessary to pay the Bonds and the interest thereon. 
 
Security for the Bonds  
 
As security for the Bonds, the City pledges its full faith, credit and resources and there will be levied on all of the taxable property in the City 
a direct, annual irrepealable tax in an amount and at times sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds.  The tax will be levied 
under the Resolution for collection in each of the years 2019 through 2032 or monies to pay debt service will otherwise be appropriated. 
 
The Resolution provides that the tax will be, from year to year, carried onto the tax rolls of the City and collected as other taxes are collected 
and that the City shall not repeal such levy or obstruct the collection of the tax.  Provision is made for reducing the amount of tax carried onto 
the tax rolls by the amount of any surplus money in the debt service account for the Bonds. 
 
Redemption Provisions 
 
Optional Redemption.  The Bonds maturing on October 1, 2029 and thereafter shall be subject to redemption prior to maturity, at the option 
of the City, on October 1, 2028 or on any date thereafter.  Said Bonds are redeemable as a whole or in part, and if in part, from maturities 
selected by the City and within each maturity by lot, at the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.  If less 
than all of the Bonds are to be redeemed, selection of the Bonds to be so redeemed shall be by lot conducted by DTC in accordance with 
its rules and practices.  (See “BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM” herein.) 
 
Mandatory Redemption.  The Bonds due on October 1, 2032 (the "Term Bonds") shall be subject to mandatory redemption prior to maturity 
by lot on October 1 of each of the years and in the amounts set forth below at the price of par plus accrued interest to the date of redemption. 
 

$1,325,000 Term Bonds due October 1, 2032 

 Year Amount 
 2031 $ 630,000 
 2032 (maturity) 695,000 

The Term Bonds to be so redeemed in each such year shall be selected by lot from among the Term Bonds of that maturity then outstanding.  
Upon the optional redemption of any of the Term Bonds, the principal amount of such Term Bonds so redeemed shall be credited against 
the mandatory redemption payments shown above for such Term Bonds in such manner as the City shall direct. 
 
Notice of Redemption.  Notice of redemption shall be given by facsimile transmission, certified or registered mail, overnight express delivery, 
electronic transmission, or in any other manner required by DTC, to DTC, or its nominee as the registered owner of the Bonds.  Such notice 
shall be sent not less than 30 days nor more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for redemption.  Except as set forth in any undertaking by 
the City to provide continuing disclosure, the City will not be responsible for mailing notices of redemption to anyone other than DTC or its 
nominee. 
 

THE RESOLUTION 
 
The Resolution was adopted by the Common Council pursuant to the procedures prescribed by State Statutes.  Reference is made to the 
Resolution for a complete recital of its terms. 
 
The Resolution authorizes the issuance of and the sale of the Bonds to the Underwriter.  The Resolution establishes the form and terms of 
the Bonds, including the dating, maturity schedule, interest payment dates and redemption provisions, as shown in this Official Statement, 
and approves the interest rates to be borne by the Bonds.  Pursuant to the Resolution, the City pledges its full faith, credit and resources 
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and there will be levied on all of the taxable property in the City a direct, annual irrepealable tax in an amount and at times sufficient to pay 
the principal of and interest on the Bonds.  The Resolution establishes, separate and distinct from all other funds of the City, a debt service 
fund with respect to payment of principal and interest on the Bonds. 
 

BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM 
 
The following information has been furnished by The Depository Trust Company for use in this Official Statement.  Neither the Issuer nor the 
Underwriter takes any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of such information or as to the absence of material adverse changes 
in such information subsequent to the date of this Official Statement. 
 

1. The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, NY, will act as securities depository for the Bonds.  The Bonds will be 
issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be 
requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  One fully-registered Bond certificate will be issued for each maturity of the Bonds, each 
in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC.   
 

2. DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, 
a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” 
within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity 
issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s participants (“Direct 
Participants”) deposit with DTC.  DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities 
transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ 
accounts.  This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates.  Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. 
securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations.  DTC is a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”).  DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing 
Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies.  DTCC is owned by the users of its 
regulated subsidiaries.  Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, 
banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either 
directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”).  DTC has a Standard & Poor’s rating of AA+.  The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are 
on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. 
 

3. Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a credit for the 
Bonds on DTC’s records.  The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on 
the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records.  Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase.  Beneficial 
Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their 
holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction.  Transfers of ownership 
interests in the Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial 
Owners.  Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in Bonds, except in the event that use of the 
book-entry system for the Bonds is discontinued. 
 

4. To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name of DTC’s 
partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  The deposit of Bonds 
with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership.  
DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to 
whose accounts such Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners.  The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain 
responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 
 

5. Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect Participants, 
and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any 
statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to take certain steps to 
augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and 
proposed amendments to the Bond documents.  For example, Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding 
the Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners.  In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish 
to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and request that copies of the notices be provided directly to them. 
 

6. Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC.  If less than all of the Bonds within an issue are being redeemed, DTC’s practice is 
to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be redeemed. 
 

7. Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Bonds unless authorized by a 
Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures.  Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the City as soon 
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as possible after the record date.  The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose 
accounts Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy). 
 

8. Redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments on the Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee 
as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt 
of funds and corresponding detail information from the City or Agent on payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on 
DTC’s records.  Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the 
case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such 
Participant and not of DTC, Agent, or the City, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. 
Payment of redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an 
authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the City or Agent, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the 
responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect 
Participants. 
 

9. A Beneficial Owner shall give notice to elect to have its Bonds purchased or tendered, through its Participant, to Agent, and 
shall effect delivery of such Bonds by causing the Direct Participant to transfer the Participant’s interest in the Bonds, on DTC’s records, to 
Agent. The requirement for physical delivery of Bonds in connection with an optional tender or a mandatory purchase will be deemed satisfied 
when the ownership rights in the Bonds are transferred by Direct Participants on DTC’s records and followed by a book-entry credit of 
tendered Bonds to Agent’s DTC account. 

 
10. DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Bonds at any time by giving reasonable notice to 

the City or Registrar.  Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depository is not obtained, Bond certificates are required to 
be printed and delivered. 
 

11. The City may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a successor securities 
depository).  In that event, Security certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC. 
 

12. The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained from sources that the City 
believes to be reliable, but Issuer takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof. 
 
Registrar and Fiscal Agent 
 
Associated Trust Company, National Association, Green Bay, Wisconsin will act as the registrar and fiscal agent for the Bonds. 
 
 

CUSIP Information 
 

CUSIP® is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association. CUSIP Global Services (CGS) is managed on behalf of the 
American Bankers Association by S&P Capital IQ. Copyright(c) 2018 CUSIP Global Services. All rights reserved. CUSIP® data herein is 
provided by CUSIP Global Services. This data is not intended to create a database and does not serve in any way as a substitute for services 
provided by CGS. CUSIP® numbers are provided for convenience of reference only. None of the City, the Underwriter or their agents or 
counsel assume responsibility for the accuracy of such numbers. 
 
 

THE CITY 
 
Introduction 
 
The City encompasses an area of 28 square miles in Milwaukee County (the "County") in southeastern Wisconsin.  The City is adjacent to 
the City of Milwaukee and 85 miles north of Chicago. 
 
The City’s preliminary 2018 population estimate is 35,739.  The City has 300 full-time and approximately 91 part-time employees. 
 
Transportation 
The City is located on Interstate Highway 94, U.S. Highway 41, and State Highways, 32, 38 and 100.  The City is also served by passenger 
and freight railroads and General Mitchell International Airport in the City of Milwaukee. 
 

Common Council 
 
The legislative body of the City is the Common Council, which consists of six alderpersons elected by district for overlapping two-year terms.   
The Mayor is elected separately for a three-year term, which current term will expire in April 2021.   
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Administrative Organization 
 
The policies of the City are set by the six-member Council and the Mayor.  The Mayor only votes in the case of a tie or when he wishes to 
exercise his veto power. 
 
The City Administrator has the responsibility of administering the day-to-day operations of the City and executing the policy decisions of the 
Council. 
 
The City Administrator is also responsible for the financial operations of the City and has responsibility for the formulation and enforcement 
of the budget for all departments. 
 
Services 
 
The City provides a full range of municipal services including police and fire protection, parks, public works operations, building inspection 
and zoning control, water and sewer utilities, and general administrative services. 
 
Public Safety 
The City’s police department has 60 police officers, 24 full-time and 9 part-time employees.  The fire department has 53 firefighters of which 
38 are paramedics.  All firefighters are required to be EMTs.  In addition, the department has one full-time employee and one part-time 
employee.  
 
The City’s municipal court has two full-time employees and one part-time employee.  The judge is a part-time elected position. 
 
Employee Relations and Collective Bargaining 
 
The following three bargaining units represent the respective number of City employees: 
   Number of  
 Union/Association Contract Expires  Members 
 Oak Creek Professional Police Officers’ Association 12/31/20 45 
 International Association of Firefighters, 
  Local 1848 AFL-CIO 12/31/20 43 
 Labor Association of Wisconsin (LAW) 12/31/18  44 
 
The City characterizes relations between the City and the bargaining units as good. 
 
All eligible City personnel are covered by the Municipal Employment Relations Act (MERA) of the Wisconsin Statutes.  Pursuant to that law, 
employees have limited rights to organize and collectively bargain with the municipal employers.  MERA was amended by 2011 Wisconsin 
Act 10 (the "Act") and by 2011 Wisconsin Act 32, which altered the collective bargaining rights of public employees in Wisconsin.   
 
As a result of the 2011 amendments to MERA, the City is prohibited from bargaining collectively with municipal employees, other than public 
safety or transit employees, with respect to any factor or condition of employment except total base wages.  Even then, the City is limited to 
increasing total base wages beyond any increase in the consumer price index since 180 days before the expiration of the previous collective 
bargaining agreement (unless City were to seek approval for a higher increase through a referendum).  Ultimately, the City can unilaterally 
implement the wages for a collective bargaining unit.   
 
Under the changes to MERA, impasse resolution procedures were removed from the law for municipal employees of the type employed by 
the City, including binding interest arbitration.  Strikes by any municipal employee or labor organization are expressly prohibited. As a practical 
matter, it is anticipated that strikes will be rare. Furthermore, if strikes do occur, they may be enjoined by the courts.  Additionally, because 
the only legal subject of bargaining is the base wage rates, all bargaining over items such as just cause, benefits, and terms of conditions of 
employment are prohibited and cannot be included in a collective bargaining agreement.  Impasse resolution for public safety employees 
and transit employees is subject to final and binding arbitration procedures, which do not include a right to strike.  Interest arbitration is 
available for transit employees if certain conditions are met. 
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Demographic Information 
 

Population 
 
The population trends for the City, County and State are shown in the table below.  The City’s 2010 Census population is 34,451. 
 
 Estimated Estimated Estimated Estimated Estimated 
 2018  2017 2016 2015 2014 

City of Oak Creek 35,739 35,560 35,206 34,791 34,707 
Milwaukee County 950,381 945,416 948,930 949,795 949,741 
State of Wisconsin 5,816,231 5,783,278 5,775,120 5,753,324 5,732,981 

____________________ 
Source:  Wisconsin Department of Administration, Demographic Services Center 

 
Median Age 

 
The median ages for the City, County and State as of the 2010 U.S. Census are as follows: 
  
  Years 
 City of Oak Creek  37.4 
 Milwaukee County 33.6 
 State of Wisconsin 38.5 
____________________ 
Source:  U.S. Census Bureau, 2010 Census 
 

Income 
 
Wisconsin Adjusted Gross Income per return data for the City, County and State are presented in the following table: 
 
 Year City of Oak Creek Milwaukee County State of Wisconsin 
 2016 $ 58,196 $ 49,692 $ 55,267 
 2015  57,034  48,533  54,227 
 2014  54,880  45,980  52,050 
 2013  54,870  45,620  50,670 
 2012  53,580  44,460  49,900 
_________________________ 
Source:  Wisconsin Department of Revenue, Division of Research and Policy 
 
 
Economic Information 
 

Building Permit Activity 
 
Building activity in the City is indicated by the number and value of new construction building permits issued, as set forth in the following 
table: 
 
 Total New Construction Total Residential 1 

 Building Permits Building Permits 

 Year Number Value Number Value 
 2018 2 34 $ 63,700,680 13 $ 3,519,200 
 2017 62  134,014,052 31  8,645,252 
 2016 65  148,178,567 31  8,636,875 
 2015 57  240,162,746 3 28  7,691,665 
 2014 39  72,048,221 3 21  5,141,453 
 2013 27  5,809,735 23  5,649,234 
 
1 Total Building Permits for Single Family and Two-Family Residences. 
2 Through September 17, 2018. 
3 Includes building permits for the Drexel Town Square development, the Oak View Business Park and apartment complexes.  
___________________________ 
Source:  City of Oak Creek 
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Employment 
 
The Workforce and Labor Market Information System has estimated the percentage of unemployment to be as follows: 
  
 August 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 
 2018 Average Average Average Average Average 
City of Oak Creek 3.2% 3.0% 3.6% 4.1% 4.8% 6.3% 
Milwaukee County 4.1 4.0 5.0 5.7 6.9 8.4 
State of Wisconsin 3.1 3.3 4.0 4.5 5.4 6.7 
____________________ 
Source:  Wisconsin Department of Workforce Development 
 
 

Average Annual Employment 
 
The table below presents average annual employment by selected categories within the County for the last five available years.   
 

 2018* 2017 2016 2015 2014 
TOTAL 483,780 484,363 484,505 481,625 467,273 

Construction 10,061 10,747 10,785 10,464 9,920 
Education & Health Services 142,212 139,421 138,894 135,930 132,254 
Financial Activities 29,119 29,074 29,626 30,730 31,384 
Information 8,044 8,226 8,639 8,913 ** 
Leisure & Hospitality 50,399 51,144 50,191 49,233 47,569 
Manufacturing 50,618 51,594 52,153 52,404 52,042 
Natural Resources & Mining 57 84 87 92 75 
Other Services 15,894 16,550 16,343 16,715 17,187 
Professional & Business Services 79,508 78,469 78,238 77,816 77,736 
Public Administration 19,360 20,175 20,611 20,090 20,484 
Trade, Transportation,  Utilities 78,508 78,879 78,938 79,234 78,622 
Unclassified - - - 4 ** 

 

*  Through March 31, 2018. 
** Suppressed data. 
_________________________ 
Source:  Wisconsin Department of Workforce Development 
 

 
Major Employers 

 
The following table lists major employers in the City by number of employees (full and part-time): 
 

  Approximate 
Employer Product/Business Employment 
Milwaukee Area Technical College Education 1,336 1 
UPS Parcel delivery and distribution center 1,210 2 
Oak Creek-Franklin School District Education 707 
WE Energies Electrical power generation 505 2 
PPG Industries, Inc. Coating and resin products 475  
Reinhart FoodService, LLC Wholesale food distributor 417 

Nordco, Inc. Roadway work equipment 400 
Joseph Campione Inc. Food products 400 
The City  Municipal government 391 
Grunau Co., Inc. Fire protection and mechanical systems services 350 
 
1 Includes all area campuses. Breakdown by individual campuses is not available. 
2 As of May 2016. 
________________ 
Source: Manufacturer's News, Inc., official statements retrieved from EMMA and independent employer inquiries, May 2018.  
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Tax Levies and Collections 
 
Wisconsin cities, villages and towns are charged with the responsibility of assessing taxable property and collecting taxes, and making 
distribution to counties, school districts and other public bodies.  Property of manufacturing establishments and utilities is assessed by the 
State Department of Revenue.  All assessments are made as of January 1. 
 
Real estate and personal property taxes are levied in December by the Common Council in conjunction with the adoption of the annual 
budget for the ensuing fiscal year beginning January 1.  Levies are based on assessed property values certified on January 1 of the prior 
year and become a lien on the property at the beginning of the fiscal year.  Real estate taxes are payable in full by January 31, or in three 
installments on January 31, March 31, and May 31.  Personal property taxes must be paid in full by January 31.  The City Treasurer is 
responsible for collection of taxes for all taxing purposes on properties within the City through May.  On January 20 and February 20 and on 
the 20th of each month following a month in which an installment payment is due, settlements are made with all taxing entities.  On or before 
August 20, the County pays the City in full for all outstanding real estate taxes due, and assumes responsibility for remaining balances.  The 
City retains responsibility for collection of personal property taxes. 
 
City tax levies (within the Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District) for the current year and the past four calendar years are as follows: 
 
 Year of  Annual City Levy Rate 
 Levy/Collection City Tax Levies per $1,000 of Assessed Value 

 2017/18 $ 20,261,131 $ 6.41 
 2016/17  19,878,080  6.60 
 2015/16  19,566,773  6.64 
 2014/15  19,329,408  6.76 
 2013/14  19,201,557  6.41 
 
The City experiences no real estate tax delinquencies since the County is required by State Statute to settle in full with underlying taxing 
districts no later than August 20 of each year. 
________________ 
Source:  City 
 

Mill Rates 
 

The following are the mill rates per $1,000 of assessed value for the City for the current year and the last four collection years. 
 

  2018   2017   2016   2015  2014 
City $ 6.41   $ 6.60  $ 6.64  $ 6.76  $ 6.41 
State (1)  0.00   0.17  0.17  0.17  0.16 
County  6.30   6.28  6.22  6.21  5.90 
Milwaukee Metro. Sewerage District  1.73   1.75  1.72  1.73  1.63 
Milwaukee Area Tech. College Dist.  1.26   1.26  1.24  1.28  2.03 
Oak Creek-Franklin School District  8.70   8.93  9.67  9.17  8.87 
 (Less:  State & County Credits)  (2.83)  (2.74)  (2.74)  (2.54)  (2.41) 
Net Tax Rate $ 21.57   $ 22.25  $ 22.92  $ 22.78  $ 22.59 

      
Ratio of Assessed to Equalized Value  99.44%  99.90%  101.24%  99.10%  104.95%

 
(1) State property taxes were eliminated in the State's 2017-19 budget act. 
________________ 
Source:  City 
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Largest Taxpayers for Fiscal Year 2017 
 
The table below shows the City's ten largest taxpayers for 2017.  2018 information is not yet available. 

Name Type of Property 

2017 
Equalized 
Valuation 

Net Taxes 
to be Paid 

in 2018 

Percent of 
City's 
Total 

Equalized 
Value 

Springbrook Circle Apartments (1) Apartments $  53,240,430  $1,142,085  1.60% 
Occidental Development LP Apartments 48,284,050  1,035,756  1.46 
Arbors at Centennial Park LLC Apartments 35,444,030  760,321  1.07 
Legacy/Timber Ridge, LLC Apartments 25,097,430  538,373  0.76 
Aldi Inc. Grocery warehouse; distribution center 23,164,510  497,132  0.70 
Meijer Stores Retail/Grocery store 22,887,290  490,964  0.69 
NDC LLC Tri-City Bank 20,649,790  442,962  0.62 
Woodman's Food Market, Inc (1) Grocery store 20,336,810  436,251  0.61 
Barrett Visionary Development LLC Apartments 18,467,600  396,155  0.56 
Country Oaks II Ltd Partnership, A WI LP Apartments     17,405,090       373,366  0.52 
 TOTAL $284,977,030  $6,113,365  8.59% 

(1) Assessment under appeal by taxpayer. 
_______________________ 
Source:  City 
 
 
Equalized Valuation 
 
The City has experienced a 18.31% change in equalized value (TID In) over the past five years.  The trend of equalized values is outlined in 
the table below. 
 Equalized Value  Equalized Value 
        TID In        % Change        TID Out      % Change 

2018 $ 3,492,653,000 5.25 $ 3,284,231,300 3.43 
2017  3,318,333,100 6.74  3,175,445,200 5.32 
2016  3,108,897,900 3.49  3,014,976,300 3.68 
2015  3,003,919,300 1.76  2,908,050,200 1.04 
2014  2,952,097,300 1.03  2,878,046,700 0.67 

___________________ 
Source:  State of Wisconsin, Department of Revenue 
 
 
The equalized value (TID In) by class of property for 2018 is as follows: 
 

Real Estate:  
Residential $ 2,095,274,100 
Commercial 1,138,744,100 
Manufacturing 165,223,700 
Agricultural 360,800 
Undeveloped 422,500 
Ag Forest 81,000 
Other           8,312,200 

Total Real Estate $ 3,408,418,400 
Total Personal Property         84,234,600 

Total $ 3,492,653,000 
___________________ 
Source:  State of Wisconsin, Department of Revenue 
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The percentage mix of equalized value (TID In) by class of property for the past five years was as follows: 
 

   2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 
 Real Estate 

  Residential 60.00% 61.27% 61.17% 61.35% 61.40% 
  Commercial 32.60 29.83 29.68 30.12 30.20 
  Manufacturing 4.73 4.81 5.17 4.66 4.66 
  Agriculture  0.01  0.01  0.01  0.01  0.01 
  Undeveloped  0.01  0.01  0.01  0.02  0.01 
  Ag Forest  -  -  -  -  0.01 
  Other  0.24  0.23  0.24  0.23  0.25 
 Personal Property  2.41  3.83  3.72  3.62  3.45 
   100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 
 

___________________ 

Source:  State of Wisconsin, Department of Revenue 
 
Tax Incremental Districts 
 
The City has Tax Incremental Districts ("TIDs") created under Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105. TID valuations totaling $208,421,700 
have been excluded from the City's tax base for 2018. 

 TID Creation   2018  
TID # Date  Base Value Current Value Increment 
006  2001  $    1,377,200 $   16,752,900 $   15,375,700 
007  2007  165,053,100 182,849,300 17,796,200 
008  2009  23,056,600 65,834,800 42,778,200 
010  2010  19,223,700 35,363,900 16,140,200 
011  2012  12,861,900 (1) 110,475,700 97,613,800 
012  2016  10,700 18,662,400 18,651,700 
013  2017  4,703,500 4,769,400 65,900 

      Total $208,421,700 
 
 (1) The base value was recertified to correct a system error that erroneously changed the base value in 2016. 
___________________ 
 
Source:  State of Wisconsin, Department of Revenue 
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CITY DEBT STRUCTURE 
 
Total Outstanding General Obligation Debt Summary (As of November 27, 2018) 

Type of Obligation  
Date of 
Issue. 

Original 
Amount 

Final 
Maturity 
Dates 

Current Amount 
Outstanding 

G.O. Refunding Bonds 4/1/2010 $  7,000,000 4/01/2030 $  4,925,000 
G.O. Refunding Bonds 4/2/2013 5,825,000 4/01/2032 4,725,000 
Taxable G.O. Promissory Notes 4/2/2013 3,000,000 4/01/2023 1,575,000 
G.O. Promissory Notes 12/30/2013 10,000,000 12/01/2023 8,250,000 
G.O. Refunding Bonds, Series 2014B 12/16/2014 2,725,000 5/01/2032 2,225,000 
G.O. Refunding Bonds, Series 2015A 1/20/2015 19,650,000 6/01/2034 17,550,000 
Taxable G.O. Promissory Notes, Series 2016A 7/6/2016 5,750,000 12/01/2018 5,750,000 1 
G.O. Promissory Notes, Series 2016B 8/30/2016 5,100,000 10/01/2019 5,100,000 
G.O. Refunding Bonds, Series 2016C 10/18/2016 17,125,000 10/01/2032 16,800,000 
Taxable G.O. Refunding Bonds, Series 2016D 10/18/2016 5,925,000 10/01/2032 5,675,000 
Taxable G.O. Promissory Notes, Series 2017A 7/6/2017 4,900,000 4/01/2020 4,900,000 
Taxable G.O. Refunding Bonds, Series 2017B 8/1/2017 2,900,000 3/01/2037 2,900,000 
Taxable G.O. Refunding Bonds, Series 2018A 4/3/2018 8,900,000 4/01/2032 8,900,000  
G.O. Refunding Bonds, Series 2018B 8/30/2018 5,175,000 4/01/2027 5,175,000 
Taxable G.O. Refunding Bonds, Series 2018C 8/30/2018 5,140,000 4/01/2027   5,140,000 
Taxable G.O. Refunding Bonds, Series 2018D 11/27/18 5,100,000 10/01/2032   5,100,000 2 

  Outstanding General Obligation Debt  $104,690,000 
  Less: Remaining 2018 Principal Payments (   450,000) 
  Less: Refunding of 2016A Notes   (5,750,000) 

 
 Net Outstanding General Obligation Debt  $ 98,490,000 

1 Will be paid with proceeds of the Bonds and City funds on hand. 
2  New Issue. 
 
General Obligation Debt Service Schedules (as of November 27, 2018) 
 

  $7,000,000 G.O.  
 Ref Bonds - 4/01/10 1 

 $5,825,000 G.O.  $3,000,000 Taxable G.O. 
  Ref Bonds - 4/02/13 1  Prom. Notes - 4/02/13  
  Principal    Principal    Principal   
  04/01   Interest   04/01   Interest   04/01   Interest  

2018       
2019 $   325,000 $   196,656 $   250,000 $   168,250 $   300,000 $   34,563 
2020 325,000 183,656 275,000 159,125 300,000 28,375 
2021 350,000 170,156 275,000 149,500 325,000 21,328 
2022 350,000 156,157 300,000 138,000 325,000 13,203 
2023 375,000 141,656 300,000 126,000 325,000 4,469 
2024 400,000 126,156 325,000 113,500 - - 
2025 400,000 110,156 325,000 100,500 - - 
2026 425,000 93,657 350,000 87,000 - - 
2027 450,000 75,594 350,000(2) 74,094 - - 
2028 475,000 55,641 375,000(2) 61,859 - - 
2029 500,000 34,312 375,000(2) 49,203 - - 
2030 550,000 11,688 400,000(2) 35,875 - - 
2031 - - 400,000(2) 21,875 - - 
2032                 -                  -     425,000(2)         7,438                  -                - 

 $4,925,000 $1,355,485 $4,725,000 $1,292,219 $1,575,000 $101,938 
 Less Remaining       
 2018 Payments                  0                 0                0                 0                 0               0 
 $4,925,000 $1,355,485 $4,725,000 $1,292,219 $1,575,000 $101,938 

 
1 Supported with State utility aid due to location of Wisconsin Energy power plant in Oak Creek. 
2 Mandatory redemption amounts. 
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General Obligation Debt Service Schedules continued 
 

  $10,000,000  G.O. $2,725,000  G.O. Ref  $19,650,000 G.O. Ref  
  Prom. Notes - 12/30/13 1 Bonds, Ser 2014B-12/16/14 2  Bonds, Ser 2015A -1/20/15 1 
 Principal   Principal     Principal   
 12/01 Interest  05/01  Interest  06/01   Interest  

2018 $   450,000 $   143,250    $   309,531 
2019 450,000 277,500 $   125,000 $  70,969 $   750,000 611,563 
2020 475,000 259,500 125,000 65,968 750,000 596,562 
2021 475,000 240,500 150,000 60,469 800,000 581,063 
2022 500,000 221,500 150,000 55,219 825,000 556,562 
2023   5,900,000      206,500 150,000 50,719 850,000 523,063 
2024   150,000 46,219 950,000 487,062 
2025   150,000(3) 41,718 975,000 448,563 
2026   150,000(3) 37,219 1,025,000 408,562 
2027   175,000(3) 32,234 1,050,000 372,313 
2028   175,000(3) 26,766 1,075,000 329,687 
2029   175,000(3) 21,187 1,125,000 280,313 
2030   175,000(3) 15,500 1,125,000 235,312 
2031   175,000(3) 9,703 1,550,000 181,812 
2032        200,000(3)       3,375 1,550,000 126,594 
2033     1,575,000(3) 76,781 
2034                                                                              1,575,000(3)        25,594 

 $8,250,000 $1,348,750 $2,225,000 $537,265 $17,550,000 $6,150,937 
 Less Remaining       
 2018 Payments       450,000      143,250                 0              0                   0      309,531 

 $7,800,000 $1,205,500 $2,225,000 $537,265 $17,550,000 $5,841,406 
 

1 Supported with State utility aid due to location of Wisconsin Energy power plant in Oak Creek. 
2 Supported with tax increment revenues from Tax Incremental District No. 7. 
3 Mandatory redemption amounts. 

 

  $5,100,000 G.O. Prom.  $17,125,000 G.O. Ref   $5,925,000 Taxable G.O. Ref  
  Notes, Ser 2016B - 8/30/16 1  Bonds, Ser 2016C - 10/18/16 2  Bonds, Ser 2016D - 10/18/16 2 
  Principal    Principal     Principal    
  10/01   Interest   10/01   Interest   10/01   Interest  

 2018        
 2019  $5,100,000 $ 102,000 $    625,000 $    495,750 $   175,000 $    162,988 
 2020    725,000 483,250 200,000 159,487 
 2021    750,000 461,500 250,000 155,488 
 2022    825,000 439,000 275,000 147,987 
 2023    975,000 414,250 325,000 139,738 
 2024    1,075,000 385,000 375,000 129,987 
 2025    1,125,000 352,750 400,000 118,738 
 2026    1,175,000 319,000 450,000 106,737 
 2027    1,225,000 283,750 475,000 93,238 
 2028    1,500,000 247,000 500,000 81,125 
 2029    1,600,000 202,000 525,000 67,625 
 2030    1,700,000 138,000 550,000 52,662 
 2031    1,700,000 (3) 70,000 575,000 36,437 
 2032                   -               -     1,800,000 (3)        36,000      600,000       18,900 

 $5,100,000 $102,000 $16,800,000 $4,327,250 $5,675,000 $1,471,137 
 Less Remaining       
 2018 Payments                   -                 0                   0                  0                 0                 0 
 $5,100,000 $102,000 $16,800,000 $4,327,250 $5,675,000 $1,471,137 

1  Refinancing of this issue is expected to be supported with tax increment revenues from TID No. 12. 
2  Supported with tax increment revenues from Tax Incremental District No. 11. 
3  Mandatory redemption amounts. 
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General Obligation Debt Service Schedules continued 
 

  $4,900,000 Tax G. O. Prom $2,900,000 Tax G.O. Refunding $8,900,000 Tax G.O. Refunding 
Bonds, Ser 2018A - 4/03/18 1  Notes, Ser 2017A - 7/06/17 Bonds, Ser 2017B - 8/01/17 1 

  Principal    Principal    Principal   
  04/01   Interest   03/01   Interest   04/01   Interest  

2018       
2019  $  147,000  $   109,708 $   100,000 $   514,719 
2020 $4,900,000      73,500  109,707 300,000 335,760 
2021    109,708 400,000 321,760 
2022   $  165,000 106,407 500,000 303,760 
2023   170,000 99,708 550,000 282,760 
2024   175,000 92,807 600,000 259,760 
2025   175,000 85,807 650,000 234,760 
2026   180,000 78,707 700,000 207,760 
2027   185,000 71,408 750,000 178,760 
2028   190,000 (2) 64,382 800,000 147,760 
2029   195,000 (2) 57,645 850,000 116,588 
2030   200,000 (2) 50,732 850,000 85,817 
2031   205,000 (2) 43,645 900,000 53,255 
2032   215,000 (2) 36,296 950,000 18,145 
2033   155,000 (2) 29,549   
2034   160,000 (2) 23,485   
2035   165,000 (2) 17,229   
2036   170,000 (2) 10,780   
2037 _________ ________      195,000 (2)          3,754 _________ _________ 

 $4,900,000 $220,500 $2,900,000 $1,201,464 $8,900,000 $3,061,364 
 Less Remaining       
 2018 Payments                  0               0                 0                 0                 0                 0 

 $4,900,000 $220,500 $2,900,000 $1,201,464 $8,900,000 $3,061,364 
1 Supported with tax increment revenues from Tax Incremental District No. 11. 
2 Mandatory redemption amounts. 
 

 $5,175,000 G.O. Refunding $5,140,000 Tax G.O. Refunding 
Bonds, Series 2018C - 8/30/18 1 

$5,100,000 Tax G.O. Refunding 
Bonds, Series 2018D - 11/27/18 2  Bonds, Series 2018B - 8/30/18 1 

  Principal    Principal    Principal   
  04/01   Interest   04/01   Interest   10/01   Interest  

2018       
2019  $   175,135  $    250,000  $    207,879  $     175,156 
2020 $   500,000  156,250 200,000  184,350  207,421 
2021 500,000  146,250 500,000  173,225 $    220,000 207,421 
2022 650,000  133,125 500,000  156,350 250,000 198,622 
2023 550,000  118,125 620,000  135,200 280,000 188,621 
2024 575,000  99,750 650,000  109,800 310,000 177,421 
2025 775,000  76,625 700,000  82,800 345,000 165,021 
2026 800,000  49,000 825,000  52,300 385,000 150,359 
2027      825,000        16,500      895,000         17,900 425,000 134,959 
2028     465,000 117,959 
2029     520,000 98,196 
2030     575,000 77,656 
2031     630,000 (3) 54,656 
2032 _________ ________ _________ ________      695,000 (3)        28,669 

       
 $5,175,000 $  970,760 $5,140,000 $1,119,804 $5,100,000 $1,982,137 
 Less Remaining       
 2018 Payments                  0                0                 0                 0                 0                 0 

 $5,175,000 $  970,760 $5,140,000 $1,119,804 $5,100,000 $1,982,137 
 
1 Supported with tax increment revenues from Tax Incremental District No. 8. 
2 New Issue.  Expected to be supported with tax increment revenues from Tax Incremental District No. 11. 
3 Mandatory redemption amounts. 
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 Total General Obligation Debt 
 

   Total Less: Net 
 Total Total Debt Offsetting Debt 
 Principal 1 Interest 1 Service 1 Revenues 2 Service 

 2018  $       450,000 $       452,781 $       902,781 $       902,781 - 
 2019  8,450,000 3,449,836 11,899,836 11,390,117 $    509,719 
 2020  9,075,000 3,002,911 12,077,911 11,542,115 535,796 
 2021  4,995,000 2,798,368 7,793,368 7,019,619 773,749 
 2022  5,615,000 2,625,892 8,240,892 7,454,067 786,825 
 2023  11,370,000 2,430,809 13,800,809 13,002,719 798,090 
 2024  5,585,000 2,027,462 7,612,462 7,125,041 487,421 
 2025  6,020,000 1,817,438 7,837,438 7,327,417 510,021 
 2026  6,465,000 1,590,301 8,055,301 7,519,942 535,359 
 2027  6,805,000 1,350,750 8,155,750 7,595,791 559,959 
 2028  5,555,000 1,132,179 6,687,179 6,104,220 582,959 
 2029  5,865,000 927,069 6,792,069 6,173,873 618,196 
 2030  6,125,000 703,242 6,828,242 6,175,586 652,656 
 2031  6,135,000 471,383 6,606,383 5,921,727 684,656 
 2032  6,435,000 275,417 6,710,417 5,986,748 723,669 
 2033  1,730,000 106,330 1,836,330 1,836,330 - 
 2034  1,735,000 49,079 1,784,079 1,784,079 - 
2035 165,000 17,229 182,229 182,229 - 
2036 170,000 10,780 180,780 180,780 - 
2037          195,000            3,754          198,754          198,754                   - 

 $  98,940,000 $25,243,010 $124,183,010 $115,423,935 $ 8,759,075 
Less Remaining      
2018 Payments         450,000        452,781          902,781           902,781                  0 
 $  98,490,000 $24,790,229 $123,280,229 $114,521,154 $ 8,759,075 

 
1 Includes the Bonds and excludes the 2016A Notes being refunded.  
 
2 Offsetting revenues include Tax Incremental District revenues and State utility aid.  The actual amount of these offsetting revenues is not guaranteed.  

Under State law, the City is required to levy an amount sufficient to meet the debt service on its outstanding general obligation debt, but such levy may 
be abated by the use of such offsetting revenues, if and to the extent available. 

 
 
Total Outstanding Revenue Debt Summary (As of November 27, 2018) 
 
Waterworks System Revenue Debt 1 

Type of Obligation  Date of Issue 
Original 

Amount Issued 
Final 

Maturity Dates 
Current Amount 

Outstanding 
Waterworks System Revenue Bonds, Series 2010 01/13/10 $   879,848 05/01/29 $    505,857 
Waterworks System Refunding Revenue Bonds 03/15/11 6,500,000 12/01/31 5,700,000 
Waterworks System Revenue Bonds, Series 2011 11/23/11 5,889,583 05/01/31 4,112,454 
Waterworks System Revenue Bonds, Series 2013 05/08/13 2,598,203 05/01/33 2,035,715 
Waterworks System Revenue Bonds, Series 2014 05/28/14 5,471,070 05/01/34 4,311,943 
Waterworks System Refunding Revenue Bonds,  
    Series 2015 11/17/15 3,850,000 12/01/20    1,400,000      
 Outstanding Waterworks System Revenue Debt $18,065,969 

 
1 The Waterworks System Revenue Bonds, Series 2010, dated January 13, 2010, the Waterworks System Revenue Bonds, Series 2011, dated November 

23, 2011, the Waterworks System Revenue Bonds, Series 2013, dated May 8, 2013, and the Waterworks System Revenue Bonds, Series 2014, dated 
May 28, 2014 (collectively, the “SDWLs”) are issued under the Safe Drinking Water Loan Program administered by the State of Wisconsin.  The SDWLs 
are junior and subordinate to the Waterworks System Refunding Revenue Bonds, dated March 15, 2011 and Waterworks System Refunding Revenue 
Bonds, Series 2015, dated November 17, 2015 with respect to the pledge of the revenues of the Waterworks System.  
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Revenue Bond Debt Service Schedules 
 

 $879,848 $6,500,000 $5,889,583 
  Waterworks Sys Rev Bonds   Waterworks Sys Ref  Waterworks Sys Rev Bonds 
  Ser 2010 (SDWL) - 1/13/10   Rev Bonds - 03/15/11   Ser 2011 (SDWL) - 11/23/11  
  Principal    Principal    Principal   
  05/01   Interest   12/01   Interest   05/01   Interest  

 2018    $   250,000 $   133,853   
 2019  $    40,175 $    12,960 250,000 258,957 $   276,703 $   87,430 
 2020  41,247 11,874 275,000 248,956 282,790 81,276 
 2021  42,347 10,759 350,000 237,956 289,012 74,986 
 2022  43,477 9,614 350,000 223,956 295,370 68,558 
 2023  44,637 8,439 375,000 208,907 301,868 61,988 
 2024  45,828 7,232 400,000 192,500 308,509 55,274 
 2025  47,051 5,992 400,000 172,500 315,296 48,412 
 2026  48,306 4,720 425,000 152,500 322,233 41,399 
 2027  49,595 3,415 450,000 131,250 329,322 34,232 
 2028  50,918 2,074 475,000 108,750 336,567 26,907 
 2029  52,276 698 500,000 85,000 343,972 19,421 
 2030    575,000 60,000 351,539 11,771 
 2031  _________ _________       625,000        31,250       359,273         3,952 

 $   505,857 $   77,777 $ 5,700,000 $ 2,246,335 $ 4,112,454 $  615,606 
 
 

 $2,598,203 $5,471,070 $3,850,000 
  Waterworks Sys Rev Bonds   Waterworks Sys Rev Bonds   Waterworks Sys Ref Rev  
  Ser 2013 (SDWL) - 5/08/13   Ser 2014 (SDWL) - 5/28/14   Bonds, Ser 2015 - 11/17/15  
  Principal    Principal    Principal   
  05/01   Interest   05/01   Interest   12/01   Interest  

 2018      $550,000 $14,000 
 2019  $   118,355 $ 38,049 $   232,687 $ 80,765 575,000 17,000 
 2020  120,634 35,748 237,166 76,243 275,000 5,500 
 2021  122,956 33,403 241,731 71,634   
 2022  125,323 31,014 246,385 66,935   
 2023  127,735 28,578 251,128 62,147   
 2024  130,194 26,096 255,962 57,266   
 2025  132,700 23,566 260,889 52,291   
 2026  135,255 20,986 265,911 47,221   
 2027  137,859 18,357 271,030 42,053   
 2028  140,512 15,679 276,247 36,785   
 2029  143,217 12,948 281,565 31,416   
 2030  145,974 10,164 286,985 25,944   
 2031  148,785 7,326 292,509 20,367   
 2032  151,648 4,435 298,140 14,682   
 2033  154,568 1,487 303,879 8,887   
 2034  _________ ________      309,729       2,981 _________ ________ 

 $2,035,715 $307,836 $4,311,943 $697,617 $1,400,000 $ 36,500 
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Total Waterworks System Debt Service and Coverage 

     Totals  Coverage Without 1 
  Total   Total   Total   Less   SDWL Based 
  Principal   Interest   Debt Service   SDWL  on $6,744,209 

 2018  $    800,000 $    147,853 $    947,853 $   947,853 6.16  
 2019  1,492,920 495,161 1,988,081 1,100,957 6.13  
 2020  1,231,837 459,597 1,691,434 804,456 8.38  
 2021  1,046,046 428,738 1,474,784 587,956 11.47  
 2022  1,060,555 400,077 1,460,632 573,956 11.75  
 2023  1,100,368 370,059 1,470,427 583,907 11.55  
 2024  1,140,493 338,368 1,478,861 592,500 11.38  
 2025  1,155,936 302,761 1,458,697 572,500 11.78  
 2026  1,196,705 266,826 1,463,531 577,500 11.68  
 2027  1,237,806 229,307 1,467,113 581,250 11.60  
 2028  1,279,244 190,195 1,469,439 583,750 11.55  
 2029  1,321,030 149,483 1,470,513 585,000 11.53  
 2030  1,359,498 107,879 1,467,377 635,000 10.62  
 2031  1,425,567 62,895 1,488,462 656,250 10.28  
 2032  449,788 19,117 468,905 - - 
 2033  458,447 10,374 468,821 - - 
 2034         309,729          2,981        312,710                  - - 

 $18,065,969 $3,981,671 $22,047,640 $9,382,835  
 

 1 Coverage based on audited 2017 net revenues of $6,744,209 on total debt service less SDWLs.  The coverage shown for 2018 reflects a 
total debt service amount of $1,095,706, before deduction of any 2018 payments. 

 
 
Debt Ratios 
 
Outstanding general obligation, direct debt as a percentage of equalized value and on a per capita basis as of November 27, 2018, and for 
the previous five years as of December 31 as follows: 
 

Ratios of General Obligation Debt to 
Equalized Valuation and Population 

 
 Outstanding     
 General Obligation Equalized Percent of  Per 

Year Debt Valuation Equalized Value Population (1) Capita 
2018 $  98,490,000 (2) $3,492,653,000 2.82% 35,739 $2,755.81 
2017 101,850,000 3,318,333,100 3.07 35,560 2,864.17 
2016 97,330,000 3,108,897,900 3.13 35,206 2,764.59 
2015 90,105,000 3,003,919,300 3.00 34,791 2,589.89 
2014 89,423,656 2,952,097,300 3.03 34,707 2,576.53 
2013 68,676,679 2,921,983,900 2.35 34,695 1,979.44 

 
_______________________________________ 
1 Estimated by the Wisconsin Department of Administration.  
2 Unaudited, includes the Bonds; less refunding of 2016A Notes and 2018 Payments.   
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Indirect Debt 
 
The indirect general obligation debt of the City as of October 1, 2018 is listed below. 
 
  Outstanding Debt Percent Amount 
  as of October 1, 2018 of Debt of Debt 
Governmental Unit (Less: 2018 Payments) Within City Within City 
Oak Creek-Franklin School District $ 100,685,000 81.84% $ 82,400,604 
Milwaukee County 1  542,772,211 5.40  29,309,699 
Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District   806,420,156 5.51   44,433,751 
Milwaukee Area Technical College 2  99,045,000 4.33  4,288,649 
     $ 160,432,703 
1 Milwaukee County expects to issue general obligation bonds totaling $58,275,000 on October 11, 2018 and approximately $26,895,000 on November 15, 

2018, and such amounts are not included in the table above. 
2 The Milwaukee Area Technical College District is anticipating the issuance of $39 million within the next twelve months.  The amount is subject to change.  
 
Source: Information obtained from publicly available documents on EMMA (defined herein). 
 

Total Indirect GO Debt $ 160,432,703  
Indirect GO Debt Per Capita $ 4,489.01  

Indirect GO Debt as a % of Equalized Value  4.59% 

   
Total Direct GO Debt $ 98,490,000  

Total Direct GO Debt Per Capita $ 2,755.81  
Total Direct GO Debt as a % of Equalized Value  2.82% 

   
Total Direct and Indirect GO Debt $ 258,922,703  

Total Direct and Indirect GO Debt Per Capita $ 7,244.82  
Total Direct and Indirect GO Debt as a % of Equalized Value  7.41% 

 
Short-Term Debt 
 
The City has no outstanding short-term debt. 
 
Legal Debt Limit 
 
The City has the power to incur indebtedness for City purposes specified by statute (Article 11 Section 3 of the Wisconsin Constitution and 
Chapter 67, Wisconsin Statutes) in an aggregate amount, not exceeding five percent of the equalized value of taxable property in the City, 
as last determined by the State of Wisconsin Department of Revenue.  In general, such indebtedness may be in the form of bonds and 
promissory notes for various public purposes. 
 
The City's unused borrowing capacity is as follows: 
 

Equalized Value of Taxable Property in the City for 2018    $ 3,492,653,000 

      
G.O. Debt Outstanding as of November 27, 2018:      

      
     Total Outstanding General Obligation Debt (1) $ 104,690,000    
     Less: Refunded 2016A Notes $ 5,750,000    
      
Net General Obligation Debt Outstanding    $ 98,940,000 
      
Legal Debt Capacity (5% of Equalized Value)    $ 174,632,650 

      
Unused Margin of Indebtedness    $ 75,692,650 

      
Percent of Unused Margin of Indebtedness     43.34% 
      

1 Includes the Bonds.  
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No Default on City Indebtedness 
 
The City has no record of default on any prior debt repayment obligations. 
 
Future Financings 
 
The City presently does not anticipate issuing any general obligation debt within the next 12 months. 

 
 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
Annual Budgets 
 
Annual budgets are prepared by department heads and forwarded to the Mayor, Common Council and Finance Committee, who develop a 
preliminary budget for submission to the Common Council.  In late November of each year the Common Council, after conducting public 
hearings on the budget proposals at which time any resident or taxpayer of the City has an opportunity to be heard, adopts a final budget for 
the succeeding year and levies taxes for proposed budget purposes.  The amounts of taxes so levied, the amounts of the various 
appropriations and the purposes for such appropriations stated in the final budget (after any alterations made pursuant to the public hearing) 
may not be changed unless authorized by a vote of two-thirds of the entire membership of the Common Council.  Notice of any changes 
made in the foregoing manner must be published within 10 days thereafter.  Failure to give such notice precludes any changes in the budget. 
 
Summaries of the adopted 2017 and 2018 General Fund Budgets follow: 
 
 

General Fund Budgets 
  
 

 

2017 
Adopted 
Budget  

2018 
Adopted 
Budget  

Percent 
to 2018 
Total 

REVENUES      
   Taxes $  12,941,185 $  13,116,162 53.9% 
   Other Taxes 2,281,347 2,258,941 9.3 
   Intergovernmental Revenues 5,597,784 5,922,458 24.4 
   Licenses and Permits 729,805 787,875 3.2 
   Other Intergovernmental 131,500 134,347 0.6 
   Charges for Services 621,575 637,100 2.6 
   Public Health and Safety 22,600 26,115 0.1 
   Commercial Revenues 910,900 836,900 3.5 
   Fines, Forfeitures & Penalties 425,000 425,000 1.8 
   Expenditure Offset                   -       140,210     0.6 

TOTAL REVENUES $23,661,696 $24,285,108 100.0% 
  

  

EXPENDITURES  
  

General Government $  6,611,797 $  6,319,332 26.0% 
Public Safety 11,255,273 11,778,296 48.5 
Health 633,503 476,725 2.0 
Public Works 3,885,380 4,523,071 18.6 
Leisure Services     1,157,889     1,187,684     4.9 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $23,543,842  $24,285,108  100.0% 
 
 ___________________ 
 Source:  City 
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Summary of Operations 

 
Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 

General Fund 
For the Years Ended December 31 

 

    2017   2016  2015  
REVENUES:         

 Taxes  $ 13,632,350  $ 13,427,303  $ 13,130,408  

 Intergovernmental   5,714,573   5,415,480   5,225,738  

 Regulation and compliance   2,054,626   1,859,557   1,860,679  

 Public Charges for Services   334,464   304,371   291,398  

 Investment Income   183,922   122,770   177,895  

 Miscellaneous   188,264   205,324   293,782  

 Interfund charges for services   329,401   244,025   241,085  

 Total Revenues  22,437,600  21,578,830   21,220,985  

            
EXPENDITURES:           

 Current           

 General Government  6,431,888   6,517,355   5,995,906  

 Public Safety  10,386,204   10,191,351   10,046,212  

 Health and Social Services  501,377   470,962   500,080  

 Public Works  3,493,477   3,449,221   3,598,761  

 Leisure Activities  1,878,051   1,840,592   1,862,986  

 Total Expenditures  22,690,997  22,469,481   22,003,945  

            
Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures   (253,397)  (890,651)  (782,960)  

       
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)           

 Sale of property   27,686   10,882   13,767  

 Transfers in   1,663,609   1,707,741   1,827,248  

 Transfers out   (923,956)   (725,829)   (945,411)  

 Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)  767,339  992,794   895,604  

            
Net Change in Fund Balances   513,942   102,143  112,644  

          
FUND BALANCE – Beginning of Year   7,698,188   7,596,045  7,483,401  

          
FUND BALANCE – END OF YEAR  $ 8,212,130  $ 7,698,188  $ 7,596,045  

            
Fund Balances           

 Nonspendable  $ 1,753,084  $ 429,425  $ 1,525,608  

 Assigned   1,663,609   1,707,741   1,719,547  

 Unassigned (deficit)   4,795,437   5,561,022   4,350,890  

   Total Fund Balances  $ 8,212,130  $ 7,698,188  $ 7,596,045  
 
__________________________ 
Source:  The City's audited financial statements 
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Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 
All Governmental Fund Types 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

    2017  2016  2015 
REVENUES:       
 Taxes  $ 23,297,921  $ 23,060,291  $ 22,084,190 
 Intergovernmental   11,187,019   9,626,994   10,756,771 
 Regulation and compliance   2,054,626   1,859,557   1,860,679 
 Public Charges for Services   3,344,523   3,602,617   3,261,318 
 Investment Income   363,374   280,373   302,748 
 Special assessments/developer contributions   319,822   283,206   211,006 
 Miscellaneous   6,115,557   4,506,185   2,836,050 
 Interfund charges for services   329,401   244,025   241,085 
 Total Revenues  47,012,243   43,463,248   41,553,847 
           
EXPENDITURES:          
 Current          
 General Government  6,793,263   6,609,345   6,008,397 
 Public Safety  16,486,457   16,304,370   15,598,457 
 Health and Social Services  2,054,695   1,885,145   591,180 
 Public Works  5,527,401   5,611,430   7,277,800 
 Leisure Activities  2,030,673   2,376,939   2,140,252 
 Conservation and Development  5,116,165   7,806,453   6,670,518 
 Capital Outlay  15,855,628   9,735,393   41,311,106 
 Debt Service      
 Principal retirement  6,030,000   26,675,000   38,385,000 
 Interest and fiscal charges  2,794,210   2,471,272   2,600,604 
 Total Expenditures  62,688,492   79,475,347   120,583,314 
     
Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures  (15,676,249)  (36,012,099)  (79,029,467)
     
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)          
 Long-term debt issued   7,650,000   10,850,000   19,400,000 
 Refunding debt issued   2,900,000   23,050,000   19,650,000 
 Premium on debt   2,208   500,000   888,000 
 Sale of property   63,009   285,278   13,767 
 Transfers in   19,047,665   9,720,632   10,731,472 
 Transfers out   (17,384,056)   (8,012,891)   (9,011,925)
 Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)  12,278,826   36,393,019   41,671,314 
           
Net Change in Fund Balances   (3,397,423)   380,920   (37,358,153)
         
FUND BALANCE – Beginning of Year   26,610,986  26,230,066  63,588,219 
        
FUND BALANCE – END OF YEAR  $ 23,213,563  $ 26,610,986  $ 26,230,066 

           
Fund Balances          
 Nonspendable  $ 1,753,084  $ 429,425  $ 1,525,608 
 Restricted  14,193,406  18,726,449  16,194,131 
 Committed  3,729,199  3,527,651  3,080,486 
 Assigned   1,663,609   1,707,741   2,625,538 
 Unassigned (deficit)   1,874,265   2,219,720   2,804,303 
   Total Fund Balances  $ 23,213,563  $ 26,610,986  $ 26,230,066 

 
Source:  The City's audited financial statements 
  



 

22 

 
 
Financial Information 

 
A copy of the City's audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, including the accompanying independent 
auditor’s report, is included as Appendix A to this Official Statement.  Potential purchasers should read such financial statements in their 
entirety for more complete information concerning the City's financial position.  Such financial statements have been audited by Baker Tilly 
Virchow Krause, LLP, Milwaukee, Wisconsin (the "Auditor"), to the extent and for the periods indicated thereon.  The City has not requested 
the Auditor to perform any additional examination, assessment or evaluation with respect to such financial statements since the date thereof, 
nor has the City requested that the Auditor consent to the use of such financial statements in this Official Statement. Although the inclusion 
of the financial statements in this Official Statement is not intended to demonstrate the fiscal condition of the City since the date of the 
financial statements, in connection with the issuance of the Bonds, the City represents that there has been no material adverse change in 
the financial position or results of operations of the City, nor has the City incurred any material liabilities, which would make such financial 
statements misleading. 
 
Pension Plan 
 
All eligible employees in the City are covered under the Wisconsin Retirement System (“WRS”) established under Chapter 40 of the 
Wisconsin Statutes.  The WRS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan.  WRS benefits and other plan provisions 
are established by Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes ("Chapter 40").   The Department of Employee Trust Funds ("ETF") administers 
the WRS.  Required contributions to the WRS are determined by the ETF Board pursuant to an annual actuarial valuation in accordance 
with Chapter 40 and the ETF's funding policies.  The ETF Board has stated that its funding policy is to (i) ensure funds are adequate to 
pay benefits; (ii) maintain stable and predictable contribution rates for employers and employees; and (iii) maintain inter-generational equity 
to ensure the cost of the benefits is paid for by the generation that receives the benefits. 
 
City employees are generally required to contribute half of the actuarially determined contributions, and the City generally may not pay the 
employees' required contribution.  During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 ("Fiscal Year 2015"), December 31, 2016 ("Fiscal Year 
2016"), and the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 ("Fiscal Year 2017"), the City's portion of contributions to WRS (not including any 
employee contributions) totaled $1,522,714, $1,484,844 and $1,511,210, respectively.  
 
The City implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68 ("GASB 68") for Fiscal Year 2015.    
 
GASB 68 requires calculation of a net pension liability for the pension plan.  The net pension liability is calculated as the difference between 
the pension plan's total pension liability and the pension plan's fiduciary net position.  The pension plan's total pension liability is the present 
value of the amounts needed to pay pension benefits earned by each participant in the pension plan based on the service provided as of 
the date of the actuarial valuation.  In other words, it is a measure of the present value of benefits owed as of a particular date based on 
what has been earned only up to that date, without taking into account any benefits earned after that date.  The pension plan's fiduciary 
net position is the market value of plan assets formally set aside in a trust and restricted to paying pension plan benefits.  If the pension 
plan's total pension liability exceeds the pension plan's fiduciary net position, then a net pension liability results.  If the pension plan's 
fiduciary net position exceeds the pension plan's total pension liability, then a net pension asset results. 
 
As of December 31, 2016, the total pension liability of the WRS was calculated as $93.4 billion and the fiduciary net position was calculated 
as $92.6 billion, resulting in a net pension liability of $0.8 billion. 
 
Under GASB 68, each participating employer in a cost-sharing pension plan must report the employer's proportionate share of the net 
pension liability or net pension asset of the pension plan.  Accordingly, for Fiscal Year 2017, the City reported a liability of $1,284,369 for 
its proportionate share of the net pension liability of the WRS.  The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2016 based on 
the City's share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the contributions of all participating employers. The City's proportion was 
0.15582489% of the aggregate WRS net pension liability as of December 31, 2016. 
 
The calculation of the total pension liability and fiduciary net position are subject to a number of actuarial assumptions, which may change in 
future actuarial valuations.  Such changes may have a significant impact on the calculation of the net pension liability of the WRS, which 
may also cause the ETF Board to change the contribution requirements for employers and employees.  For more detailed information 
regarding the WRS and such actuarial assumptions, see Note IV-A of the City's Financial Statements for the Year Ended December 31, 
2017. 
 
 
  



 

23 

Other Post-Employment Benefits 
 
The City provides "other post-employment benefits" ("OPEB") (i.e., post-employment benefits, other than pension benefits, owed to its 
employees and former employees) through a single-employer defined benefit plan to employees who have terminated their employment with 
the City and have satisfied specified eligibility standards.  Membership in the plan consisted of 172 retirees receiving benefits and 251 active 
plan members as of January 1, 2016, the date of the latest actuarial valuation. 
 
OPEB calculations are required to be updated every two years and prepared in accordance with Statement No. 45 of the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board regarding retiree health and life insurance benefits, and related standards.  An actuarial study was last 
completed for the City by Milliman, Inc. in March 2017 with an actuarial valuation date of January 1, 2016 (the "Actuarial Report").   
 
The City is required to expense the estimated yearly cost of providing post-retirement benefits and such annual accrual expense is referred 
to as the "annual required contribution." As shown in the City's audited financial statements for Fiscal Year 2017, the annual required 
contribution for Fiscal Year 2017 was $3,246,019. For Fiscal Year 2017, the contributions to the plan totaled $2,022,000, which was 62.3% 
of the annual required contribution. The City's current funding practice is to make annual contributions to the plan in the amounts at least 
equal to the amount of benefits to be paid on a "pay-as-you-go" basis. 
 
As shown in the Actuarial Report, as of January 1, 2016, the actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $44,983,388 and the actuarial value 
of assets was $0, resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liability of $44,983,388 and a funded ratio of actuarial value of assets to actuarial 
accrued liability of 0%.   
 
See Note IV-D of the City's Audited Financial Statements for the Year Ended December 31, 2017 included in Appendix A for more detailed 
information. 
 

 
LEGAL MATTERS 

 
Pending Litigation 
 
The City certifies that there is no pending litigation or threatened litigation, which would restrain or enjoin the issuance, sale, execution or 
delivery of the Bonds or in any way contest or affect the validity of the Bonds or of any proceedings of the City taken with respect to the 
issuance and sale of the Bonds. 
 
Levy Limits 
 
Section 66.0602 of the Wisconsin Statutes, imposes a limit on property tax levies by cities, villages, towns and counties.  No city, village, 
town or county is permitted to increase its tax levy by a percentage that exceeds its valuation factor (which is defined as a percentage equal 
to the greater of the percentage change in the political subdivision's January 1 equalized value due to new construction less improvements 
removed or zero percent).  The base amount in any year to which the levy limit applies is the actual levy for the immediately preceding year.  
This levy limitation is an overall limit, applying to levies for operations as well as for other purposes. 

 
A political subdivision that did not levy its full allowable levy in the prior year can carry forward the difference between the allowable levy and 
the actual levy, up to a maximum of 1.5% of the prior year's actual levy.  The use of the carry forward levy adjustment needs to be approved 
by a majority vote of the political subdivision's governing body (except in the case of towns) if the amount of carry forward levy adjustment is 
less than or equal to 0.5% and by a super majority vote of the political subdivision's governing body (three-quarters vote if the governing 
body is comprised of five or more members, two-thirds vote if the governing body is comprised of fewer than five members) (except in the 
case of towns) if the amount of the carry forward levy adjustment is greater than 0.5% up to the maximum increase of 1.5%.  For towns, the 
use of the carry forward levy adjustment needs to be approved by a majority vote of the annual town meeting or special town meeting after 
the town board has adopted a resolution in favor of the adjustment by a majority vote if the amount of carry forward levy adjustment is less 
than or equal to 0.5% or by two-thirds vote or more if the amount of carry forward levy adjustment is greater than 0.5% up to the maximum 
of 1.5%.   
 
Beginning with levies imposed in 2015, if a political subdivision does not make an adjustment in its levy as described in the above paragraph 
in the current year, the political subdivision may increase its levy by the aggregate amount of the differences between the political 
subdivision's valuation factor in the previous year and the actual percent increase in a political subdivision's levy attributable to the political 
subdivision's valuation factor in the previous year, for the five years before the current year, less any amount of such aggregate amount 
already claimed as an adjustment in any of the previous five years. The calculation of the aggregate amount available for such adjustment 
may not include any year before 2014, and the maximum adjustment allowed may not exceed 5%. The use of the adjustment described in 
this paragraph requires approval by a two-thirds vote of the political subdivision's governing body, and the adjustment may only be used if 
the political subdivision's level of outstanding general obligation debt in the current year is less than or equal to the political subdivision's 
level of outstanding general obligation debt in the previous year. 
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Special provisions are made with respect to property taxes levied to pay general obligation debt service.  Those are described below.  In 
addition, the statute provides for certain other exclusions from and adjustments to the tax levy limit.  Among the items excluded from the limit 
are amounts levied for any revenue shortfall for debt service on a revenue bond issued under Section 66.0621.  Among the adjustments 
permitted is an adjustment applicable when a tax increment district terminates, which allows an amount equal to the prior year's allowable 
levy multiplied by 50% of the political subdivision's percentage growth due to the district's termination. 

 
With respect to general obligation debt service, the following provisions are made:   
 

(a)  If a political subdivision's levy for the payment of general obligation debt service, including debt service on debt issued or 
reissued to fund or refund outstanding obligations of the political subdivision and interest on outstanding obligations of the political 
subdivision, on debt originally issued before July 1, 2005, is less in the current year than in the previous year, the political subdivision is 
required to reduce its levy limit in the current year by the amount of the difference between the previous year's levy and the current year's 
levy.  

  
(b)  For obligations authorized before July 1, 2005, if the amount of debt service in the preceding year is less than the amount of 

debt service needed in the current year, the levy limit is increased by the difference between the two amounts.  This adjustment is based on 
scheduled debt service rather than the amount actually levied for debt service (after taking into account offsetting revenues such as sales 
tax revenues, special assessments, utility revenues, tax increment revenues or surplus funds).  Therefore, the levy limit could negatively 
impact political subdivisions that experience a reduction in offsetting revenues.   

 
(c)  The levy limits do not apply to property taxes levied to pay debt service on general obligation debt authorized on or after July 1, 

2005. 
 
The Bonds were authorized after July 1, 2005 and therefore the levy limits do not apply to taxes levied to pay debt service on the Bonds. 
 
Legal Matters 
 
Certain legal matters incident to the authorization and issuance of the Bonds are subject to the approval of Quarles & Brady LLP, Milwaukee, 
Wisconsin, Bond Counsel, whose approving legal opinion will be available at the time of the delivery of the Bonds.  The proposed form of 
such opinion is attached hereto as Appendix B "Proposed Form of Legal Opinion for the Bonds." 
 
Quarles & Brady LLP has also been retained by the City to serve as Disclosure Counsel to the City with respect to the Bonds.  Although, as 
Disclosure Counsel to the City, Quarles & Brady LLP has assisted the City with certain disclosure matters, Quarles & Brady LLP has not 
undertaken to independently verify the accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of this Official Statement or other offering material relating to 
the Bonds and assumes no responsibility whatsoever nor shall have any liability to any other party for the statements or information contained 
or incorporated by reference in this Official Statement.  Further, Quarles & Brady LLP makes no representation as to the suitability of the 
Bonds for any investor. 
 
Taxability of Interest 
 
Interest on the Bonds is included in gross income for present federal income tax purposes. 
  
Interest on the Bonds is not exempt from present Wisconsin income or franchise taxes. 
 
Bond Premium 
 
To the extent that the initial offering price of the Bonds ("Premium Bonds") is more than the principal amount payable at maturity, the 
Premium Bonds will be considered to have "bond premium" equal to the difference between the issue price and the stated redemption 
price at maturity. 
 
Any Premium Bond purchased in the initial offering at the issue price will have "amortizable bond premium" within the meaning of Section 
171 of the Code.  Owners of Premium Bonds, the interest on which is subject to tax, may make an election to amortize the bond premium 
and to offset the taxable interest income with the amortizable bond premium for the year.  Any amortizable bond premium that reduces the 
amount of interest income also reduces the owner's adjusted tax basis in the Bond by a corresponding amount.  The adjusted tax basis in 
a Premium Bond will be used to determine taxable gain or loss upon a disposition (for example, upon a sale, exchange, redemption, or 
payment at maturity) of such Premium Bond.  If the election is made, it is effective for all Bonds acquired during that year and all future 
years unless the taxpayer receives permission from the IRS to revoke the election.  Owners of Premium Bonds should consult with their 
tax advisors regarding the calculation and treatment of bond premium for federal income tax purposes, as well as the manner of making 
the election. 
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Owners of the Premium Bonds who do not purchase such Premium Bonds in the initial offering at the issue price should consult with their 
tax advisors regarding the tax consequences of owning the Premium Bonds.  
 
Owners of Premium Bonds should consult with their tax advisors regarding the state and local tax consequences of owning such Premium 
Bonds. 
 
 

MUNICIPAL BANKRUPTCY 
 
Municipalities are prohibited from filing for bankruptcy under Chapter 11 (reorganization) or Chapter 7 (liquidation) of the U.S. Bankruptcy 
Code (11 U.S.C. §§ 101-1532) (the "Bankruptcy Code").  Instead, the Bankruptcy Code permits municipalities to file a petition under Chapter 
9 of the Bankruptcy Code, but only if certain requirements are met.  These requirements include that the municipality must be “specifically 
authorized” under State law to file for relief under Chapter 9.  For these purposes, "State law" may include, without limitation, statutes of 
general applicability enacted by the State legislature, special legislation applicable to a particular municipality, and/or executive orders issued 
by an appropriate officer of the State's executive branch. 
 
As of the date hereof, Wisconsin law contains no express authority for municipalities to file for bankruptcy relief under Chapter 9 of the 
Bankruptcy Code. 
 
Nevertheless, there can be no assurance (a) that State law will not change in the future, while the Bonds are outstanding, in a way that would 
allow the City to file for bankruptcy relief under Chapter 9 of the Bankruptcy Code; or (b) even absent such a change in State law, that an 
executive order or other executive action could not effectively authorize the City to file for relief under Chapter 9.  If, in the future, the City 
were to file a bankruptcy case under Chapter 9, the relevant bankruptcy court would need to consider whether the City could properly do so, 
which would involve questions regarding State law authority as well as other questions such as whether the City is a municipality for 
bankruptcy purposes.  If the relevant bankruptcy court concluded that the City could properly file a bankruptcy case, and that determination 
was not reversed, vacated, or otherwise substantially altered on appeal, then the rights of holders of the Bonds could be modified in 
bankruptcy proceedings.  Such modifications could be adverse to holders of the Bonds, and there could ultimately be no assurance that 
holders of the Bonds would be paid in full or in part on the Bonds.   Further, under such circumstances, there could be no assurance that the 
Bonds would not be treated as general, unsecured debt by a bankruptcy court, meaning that claims of holders of the Bonds could be viewed 
as having no priority (a) over claims of other creditors of the City; (b) to any particular assets of the City, or (c) to revenues otherwise 
designated for payment to holders of the Bonds. 
 
Moreover, if the City were determined not to be a “municipality” for the purposes of the Bankruptcy Code, no representations can be made 
regarding whether it would still be eligible for voluntary or involuntary relief under Chapters of the Bankruptcy Code other than Chapter 9 or 
under similar federal or state law or equitable proceeding regarding insolvency or providing for protection from creditors.  In any such case, 
there can be no assurance that the consequences described above for the holders of the Bonds would not occur. 

 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 
Rating 
 
The Bonds have been rated "Aa2" by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”).   
 
Concurrently, Moody’s maintains its "Aa2" rating on the City’s previously issued long-term general obligation debt. 
 
The rating reflects only the view of Moody's, and an explanation of the significance of such rating may be obtained therefrom. Generally, a 
rating agency bases its rating on the information and materials furnished to it and on investigations, studies and assumptions of its own. 
There is no assurance that the rating will remain in effect for any given period of time or that it will not be revised, either upward or downward, 
or withdrawn entirely, by Moody's if, in their judgment, circumstances so warrant. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of such rating 
may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Bonds. 
 
Such rating is not to be construed as a recommendation of the rating agency to buy, sell or hold the Bonds, and the rating assigned by the 
rating agency should be evaluated independently.  Except as may be required by the Undertaking described under the heading “Continuing 
Disclosure” neither the City nor the Underwriter undertake responsibility to bring to the attention of the owners of the Bonds any proposed 
change in or withdrawal of such rating or to oppose any such revision or withdrawal. 
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Continuing Disclosure 
 
Undertaking to Provide Continuing Disclosure. In order to assist an Underwriter which will reoffer the Bonds in complying with SEC Rule 
15c2-12 promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission, pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Rule"), the City 
shall covenant pursuant to the Resolution adopted by the Common Council to enter into an undertaking (the "Undertaking") for the benefit 
of holders including beneficial holders of the Bonds to provide certain financial information and operating data relating to the City annually to 
the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the "MSRB"), and to provide notices of the occurrence of certain events enumerated in the Rule 
electronically or in the manner otherwise prescribed by the MSRB to the MSRB.  The details and terms of the Undertaking, as well as the 
information to be contained in the annual report or the notices of material events, are set forth in the Continuing Disclosure Certificate to be 
executed and delivered by the City at the time the Bonds are delivered.  Such Certificate will be in substantially the form attached hereto as 
Appendix C.  A failure by the City to comply with the Undertaking will not constitute an event of default on the Bonds (although holders will 
have the right to obtain specific performance of the obligations under the Undertaking).  Nevertheless, such a failure must be reported in 
accordance with the Rule and must be considered by any broker, dealer or municipal securities dealer before recommending the purchase 
or sale of the Bonds in the secondary market.  Consequently, such a failure may adversely affect the transferability and liquidity of the Bonds 
and their market price. 
 
In the previous five years the City has not failed to comply in all material respects with any previous undertakings under the Rule.   
 
The City will file its continuing disclosure information using the Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) system.  Investors will be able 
to access continuing disclosure information filed with the MSRB at www.emma.msrb.org. 
 
Underwriting 
 
Pursuant to the bond purchase agreement with the City, the Underwriter has agreed to purchase all of the Bonds, if any of the Bonds are 
purchased, upon the satisfaction of certain conditions set forth in the bond purchase agreement.  The bond purchase agreement provides 
for the Bonds to be purchased at a price of $5,103,059.10 plus accrued interest, if any, to the date of delivery.  The Underwriter intends to 
reoffer the Bonds to the public at the initial public offering prices or yields as shown on the front cover of this Official Statement to produce a 
reoffering price of $5,166,809.10.  The Underwriter’s compensation in connection with this issue is the difference between the reoffering 
price of the Bonds and the purchase price mentioned above from which the Underwriter will pay certain issuance expenses.  The Bonds may 
be offered to certain dealers at prices lower than such public offering prices or yields and such public offering prices or yields may be changed 
from time to time by the Underwriter. The Underwriter reserves the right to join with dealers and other underwriters in offering the Bonds to 
the public. 

 
 

CERTIFICATE CONCERNING OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
 
Concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds, the Mayor and City Clerk will deliver to the purchaser of the Bonds, a certificate stating that, to 
the best of their knowledge, this Official Statement did not as of its date and as of the sale date and does not, as of the date of delivery of 
the Bonds, contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be included therein for the purpose for 
which this Official Statement is to be used or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they 
were made not misleading. 
 

CITY OF OAK CREEK 
 
 

By   /s/          Catherine A. Roeske 
                      City Clerk 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the City Council
City of Oak Creek
Oak Creek, Wisconsin

Report on the Flnancial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Oak Creek, Wisconsin,
as of and for the year ended December 31,2017 , and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the City of Oak Creek's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents,

M a nagem e nf 's Respons i b i I ity fo r th e F i n a n c I a I Stafernenfs

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

Audltors' Respon sl bi I ity

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Sfandards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. ln making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control over financial reporting relevant to the City of Oak
Creek's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
City of Oak Creek's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.

fi;*rr+iii+
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To the City Council
City of Oak Creek

Opinions

ln our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business{ype activities, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Oak Creek, Wisconsin, as of December 31, 2017 and the
respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,

Other Matters

Req u i red Su pp le me nta ry I nform ation

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the required
supplementary information as listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for
placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with
management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financialstatements, and other knowledge we obtained
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on
the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion
or provide any assurance.

Su p pl eme ntary I nfo rmatio n

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City of Oak Creek's basic financial statements, The supplementary information as listed in the
table of contents is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America. ln our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated in all material respects,
in relation to the basic financialstatements as a whole.

Page ii



To the City Council
City of Oak Creek

Other Reporting Required by Government Audlting Sfandards

ln accordance with Goyernment Auditing Sfandards, we will issue a report on our consideration of the City of
Oak Creek's internal control over financiai reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe
the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing,
and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance, That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Goyorn ment Auditing Standards in considering the City of
Oak Creek's internal control over financial reporting and complianco.

6"knf'Ag4i/ar,7l"*"4,LtF

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
July 27,2018
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANATYSIS
(Unaudited)

As of and For the Year Ended December 31, ZOIT

As management of the City of Oak Creek [the City), we offer readers of the City of Oak Creek's
financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City of Oak
Creek for the fiscal year ended December 3L,2A77. This discussion and analysis is designed to assist
the reader in focusing on significant financial issues, provide an overview of the City's financial
activity, identiff changes in the City's financial position, identiff material deviations from the
approved budget, and identify individual fund issues or concerns.

Since the Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is designed to focus on the current year's
activities, resulting changes and currently known facts, please read it in conjunction with the City's
financial statements following this section

FINANCIAL HIGHTIGHTS

When revenues exceed expenses, the result is an increase in net position. When expenses exceed
revenues, the result is a decrease in net position, You can think of this relationship between revenues
and expenses as the City's operating results and the net position, as measured in the Statement of Net
Position, as one way to measure the City's financial health, or financial position. 0ver time, increases
and decreases in the Cily's net position, as measured in the Statement of Activities, are one indicator
of whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating. However, the City's goal is to provide
services that improve the quality of life for our residents, not to generate profits as companies do,
For this reason, you will need to consider many other non-financial factors, such as the condition of
our roads and infrastructure, in assessing the overall health of our City.

Combined governmental and business-type activities net position increased by 0,60/o in2077 ,to
$176.8 million. Of this amount, $157.9 million represents the City's net investment in capital assets,
while $8.9 million was held for restricted purposes, and a balance of $10,0 million was unrestricted.

At the end of 20L7 ,the City's governmental activities reported total net position of $60.4 million,
including a deficit balance in unrestricted net position of $15.5 million and the City's business-type
activities reported total net position of $116,4 million,

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City of Oak Creek's basic
financiai statements. The City of Oak Creek's basic financial statements are comprised of four
components:

t Management's discussion ond analysis
t Basicfinancialstatements

Government-wide Financial Statements
Fund Financial Statements
Notes to the Financial Statements

r Requiredsupplementaryinformation
r Combining statements for non-major governmental funds

IV



oA K'.{": Fii fr ti r,t
--- wts{-ot'islfi -..,.-.

The basic financial statements include two kinds of statements presenting different views of the City

Government-widefinancial statements provide both long-term and short-term information
about the City's overall financial status.

Fund financiol statements focus on individual parts of city government and report the City's
operations in more detail than the government-wide statements. The financial statements also
include notes explaining some of the information in the financial statements and provide more
detailed data. The statements are followed by a section of required supplementary information
further explaining and supporting the information in the financial statements. ln addition to these
required elements, this financial report includes a section with combining statements providing
details about the City's non-major governmental funds. The non-major funds are added together and
presented in single columns in the basic financial statements.

Govprn ment-wide Statements

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of
the City of Oak Creek's finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business and are presented in
two statements, the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, which can be found on
pages 1 - 2 ofthis report.

Both government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions
that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges
(business-type activities). The governmental activities of the City of Oak Creek include general
governmeng public safety, health and human services, public works, Ieisure activities (recreation and
library), and conservation and development. The business-type activities of the City of Oak Creek
include the water and sewer utility. Fiduciary activities, such as tax collection, are not included in the
government-wide statements since these assets are not available to fund City programs.

The first of these government-wide statements is the Statement of Net Position. This is the citywide
statement of position presenting information including all of the City's assets, deferred outflows of
resources, Iiabilities, and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net position.
Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the
financial position of the City as a whole is improving or deteriorating. Evaluation of the overall
health of the City should extend to other non-financial factors such as the diversification of the tax
base or the condition of City infrastructure, in addition to the financial information provided in this
report.

The second government-wide statement is the Statement of Activities, which reports how the City's
net position changed during the most recent fiscal year. All of the current year's revenues and
expenses are included regardless of when cash is received or paid. An important purpose of the
design of the Statement of Activities is to show the financial reliance of the City's distinct activities or
functions on revenues,

Fund Financial Statements

The fund financial statements provide detailed information about the City's significant/unds. Afund
is a grouping ofrelated accounts that is used to maintain control over resources thathave been

segregated for specific activities or objectives.
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The City has three kinds of funds:

Governmentalfunds - are reported in the fund financial statements and encompass
essentially the same functions reported as goVernmental activities in the government-wide
financial statements. The focus, however, is very different with fund statements providing a
distinctive view of the City's governmental funds. These statements report short-term fiscal
accountability focusing on the use ofspendable resources and balances ofspendable
resources available atthe end ofthe year. They are useful in evaluatingannual financial
requirements of governmental programs and the commitment of spendable resources for the
near-term. Since the government-wide focus includes the long-term view, comparisons
between these two perspectives may provide insight into the long-term impact of short-term
financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund
statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to
assist in understanding the differences between these t'wo perspectives.
Proprletarv fttnds - are reported in the fund financial statements and generally report
services for which the City charges customers a fee. The City has two proprietary funds -
water and sewer utilities, Proprietary fund statements offer short and long-term financial
information about activities the City operates like a business. A second type of proprietary
fund, the internal service fund, reports activities providing services to other City programs.
Fiduciary tunds - are reported in the fiduciary fund statements, but excluded from the
government-wide reporting because these assets cannot be used to finance operations. The
City is the trustee, or fiduciary, for collection of all property taxes within the City for all taxing
jurisdictions, including the Oak Creek-Franklin f oint School District, Milwaukee County, State
of Wisconsin, Milwaukee Area Technical College, and Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage
District,

a

a

a

FINANCIAT ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE

Over time, as year-to-year financial information is accumulated on a consistent basis, changes in net
position may be observed and used to discuss the changing financial position of the City as a whole,

Net position, The City's combined net position increased by $960,467 from fiscal year 2016 to 20L7,
a change of 0.6V0; this increase was comprised of a government-activities decrease of $1,5 million,
and a business-type activities increase of $2,5 million, The City's governmental activities and
business-type activities have approximately 340/o and 660/0, respectively, of the combined net
position.

Total net position of the City's governmental activities decreased to $60.4 million, a decrease of 2.50/o

from2076 net position. The City's net investment in capital assets represents LL2.50/o of the total.
Restricted net position of $7,9 million represents L3.to/o of the total. Unrestricted net position deficit
of $15,5 million represents (-25.70/o) of the total,

Total net position of the City's business-type activities increased by 2,30/o to $116.4 million, including
unrestricted net position of $23.4 million, representing 20.20/o of the total. All government and

business type activities are selFsupporting entities; net position of one entity is not permanently used

by other entities.
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Table 1

City of Oak Creek, Wisconsin
2Ol7 and 2016 Net Position {in millions of dollars)

Change in combined net position.

The City had combined total revenues of $63.6 million in 2017 and combined total expenses of $62.6
million. After transfers, governmental activities had a decrease in net position of $1.6 million, while
business-type activities had an increase in net position of $2.6 million. Table 2 and the following
narrative consider the operations of governmental and business-type activities separately,

Governmental

Activities

Business-type

Activities Totals

2017 2016 2077 2076 2077 2016

Current and other assets s5.8 56.1 27.7 23.0 83,s 79.1

Ca pita I assets 163.5 155.3 110.8 LTT,7 274,3 267.0

Total assets 219.3 zLL.4 138.5 t34,7 3s7.8 346.1

Deferred charse on refunding 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1

Deferred amount related to pensions 9.1 13.0 0.9 1.3 10.0 14.3

Total deferred outflows of resources 9.1 13.0 1.0 t.4 10.1 14.4

Long-term debt outsta nding 134.1 130.2 21,6 20.7 155.7 150,9

other liabilities 5.8 4.4 1.r 1.1 5.9 5.5

Total liablllties 139.9 L34.6 22,7 21.8 L62,6 1s6.4

Unearned revenue 24.4 22.9 0.0 0.0 24,4 22,9

Deferred amount related to pensions 3.7 4.9 0.4 0.5 4.7 0.0

Total deferred inflows of resources 28.7 22.9 0.4 0.0 28,5 22,9

Net position:

Net investment in capital assets 68.0 65,s 92,0 93.9 157.9 1s9.4

Restricted 7,9 t8.2 1,0 1.0 8.9 t9.2

Unrestricted -15.5 -21.7 23,4 18.9 10,0 -2,8

Total net position - end of year 60,4 62.0 116.4 113.8 175.8 17s.8

Net position - beginning of year 62.0 73.7 113.8 77r.4 17s,8 18s.1

Change in net position .1.6 -tL.t 2.5 2.4 1.0 -9.3

Percent change in net position -2.6T0 -L5.9% 2.3% 2,2% 0.6% -5,0%
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Table 2
City of Oak Creek, Wisconsin

2At7 and 2016 Changes in Net Position (in millions of dollars)

Governmental

Activities

Business-type

Activities Totals

24fl 2016
^Afi

2016 20L7 2016

Revenues:

Program Revenues

Charges for service

0perating grants & contributions

Capitalcontributions

General Revenues

Taxes

I ntergovernmental

Other

5.4

3,0

5,1

4,9

2.51

1.8

14.8 14.8 20.2

3.0

5.8

t9,7

2,5

2,70.7 0. Y

23.3

6.7

4.4

23.1

6.7

5.1 4.2 4.2

23.3

6.7

4.6

23.1

6,7

5.3

Total Revenues 47.9 M.L 15.7 15.9 53.6 60.0

Expenses:

General government

Public safety

Health and social services

Public works

Leisure activities

Conservation & development

lnterest and fiscal charges

Water

Sewer

8.7

r8.8

2,L

10.2

2.2

6.2

2.9

9,5

L7.9

1.9

8,7

18.8

2.1

10.2

2.2

6.2

2.9

7.2

4.3

9.s

t7.9

1,9

13.3

3.2

9.1

2,6

8.0

3.8

13,3

3,2

9,1

2.6

7,2

4.3

8,0 
:

3.8;

Total Expenses 51.1 57.5 11,5 11.8 62.6 69.3

Excess/(Def iciency) before tra nsfers:

Transfers

-3.2

1,6

-13.4

7.7

4.2

1,6

4.7

-r.7
1.0 -9.3

Cha in Net Position -1.6 -LL,7 2.6 2,4 1,0 -9.3

B Net Position 62,0 73.7 113.8 TIT,4 175,8 185.1

ENDINo NET POSITION 60.4 62,0 116.4 113.8 176.8 175.8

Governmental Activlties

TheCityofOakCreekreceivedatotal of $47.9 millioningovernmentalactivitiesrevenuesin20TT,
up $3.8 million when compared to 20L6 revenues, As Table 2 indicates, the largest revenue source is

the properry tax, which accounts for $23.3 million, or 48.7o/o of all governmental revenues. Property
tax revenue in2017 was virtually flat when compared to 2076levels. Any increase in tax revenue

was due to increased values and revenues within the city's tax incremental districts. As of this
writing, the Legislature of the State of Wisconsin has imposed a permanent levy freeze, with the
exception of new growth,
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The next largest category of revenues is intergovernmental revenue with $6,7 million (14.1o/o),

followed by public charges for service of $5.4 million (L1.20/o), and capital contributions of $5.1
million (70,60/o). Investment income and miscellaneous revenue for $4.4 million (9,1%) and
operating grants and contributions account for $3,0 million (6.3o/o).

Total governmental activities expenses were $51..1 nrillion in20t7, which exceeded revenues by $3.2
million, At $18.8 million, Public Safety, including Police, EMS, lnspection and Fire services, accounts
forthelargestshareof Cityexpenses at36.80/o. ThisisfollowedbyPublicWorkswith$10.2million
or 19.9o/0, and GeneralGovernmentwith $8,7 million, representing16.9o/0, Conservation and
Development group, at $6.2 million, is next with L2,Lo/0, Leisure activities at$2,2 million 4.40/0, and
Health/social services with $2,1 million (4,10/o) complete the activities. Payment of interest and fiscal
charges in the amount of $2.9 million, accounts for 5.80/o of total governmental activities expenses,

Buslness-Wp e Actlvlties

The City of Oak Creek received $15.7 million in business-type activities revenue during 2017 from its
water and sewer utilities. Charges for services are by far the largest revenue sources for these
operations, representing $14.8 million of non-capital contribution revenues. Capital grants and
contributions received were $712,378 in 20L7 , with interest and miscellaneous income accounting
for the balance of revenues of $226,7 40.

Net position of the City of Oak Creek's water and sewer utilities increased by $2.6 million in 20L7 ,

which represents a 2.20/o increase over the prior year's net position.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY'S FUNDS

Governmental Funds

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported, as governmental
activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide
financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows
of spendable resources, as well as balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal
year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government's near-term financing
requirements. In particular, the level of unassigned fund balances may serve as a useful measure of a
government's net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. The basic
governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 3 - 6 of this report.

Because the focus of the governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By

doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government's near-term
financing decisions. The Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and the Governmental Fund Statement of
Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this
comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities,
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The City maintains twenty seven individual governmental funds, Information is presented separately
in the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and in the Governmental Fund Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances for the General Fund, EMS Fund, Debt Service Fund,
Debt Amortization Fund, Capital Improvement Fund, TIF B and TIF L1, all of which are considered to
be major funds. Data from the other twenty governmental funds are combined into a single,
aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these non-major governmental funds is
provided in the form of combining stotements at the end of this report.

At the end of 2017,the combined fund balances for the City's governmental funds was $23.2 million.
Of this total, $1,7 million is nonspendable, $14.2 million is restricted, $3,7 million is committed and

$1,7 is assigned. The balance of unassigned governmental fund balances is $1,88 million. These
funds are allocated across the following areas:

Unasslgned Fund Ba lances (deft cit):
General Fund
TIF No. 8 Capital Project Fund
Capital lmprorement Fund
TIF No. 4 Debt Senrice Fund
Dewloper Agreement Fund

TIF No. 13 Capital Project Fund
Total

$ 4.795
$(1.242)
$ (1.631)

$ (o.ool )

$ (0.015)

$(0.030)
$ 1.876

General Fund: The general fund is the primary operating fund of the City.
o Total fund balance as of December 31, 2017 was $8.2 million, of which $1.7 million was

assigned. Included in the assigned amount are tax equivalent dollars to be paid by the utility
in 201.8, and $1.7 million is nonspendable which includes minor amounts for delinquent
personal property taxes, non-current receivables and inventories,

o Unassigned fund balance decreased from 2016 to $4.8 million. The unassigned fund balance
is now approximately lT.g0/o of the general fund 2016 actual revenues and 2016 state shared
revehues; this is within the City's policy target range of I5-25o/o for the purposes of cash flow,
stabilization, and emergency reserves.

Emergency Medicat Services Fund: This special revenue fund is used to account for resources
legally restricted to supporting the operations for the paramedic rescue program.

r Total fund balance as of December 3L, 2017 increased to $349,530.
r Total revenues for 2017 were $4.9 million, which included $3.6 million from taxes, $1.1

million from public charges for services, and $154,941 of intergovernmental revenue,
. Total expenditures for the year were $4.9 million.

Capital Improvement Fund: The general capital improvement fund is used to account for major
capital improvement projects relating to City-owned capital assets and capital equipment.

r Total fund balance at the end of the year was a deficit $1.6 million, a decrease of $62,455 from
2016,

o Revenue sources provided $2.1 million consisting of $1 million in grants and sale of
equipment and $1.1 million from a land sale.

o Expenditures in this fund totaled $10.7 million in 2017. The largest expenses included
significant repairs to multiple City bridges, Ryan Road extension, Lake Vista Parh terrace and
access to the lake, a new fire engine, a new street sweeper, and the bi-annual road
replacement program.
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GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHTIGHTS

The general fund budget is adopted at the department level of expenditure.

The City ended the year with a favorable variance in general fund revenues and favorable variance in
expenditures. Revenues were above budget projections by approximately $515,451, while
expenditures were under budget by $852,846. The expenditure outcome relates mainly to
retirements and vacant positions, which occurred throughout the year in the Police, Health and
Engineering departments.

On the revenue side, conservative budgeting kept all categories quite close to budget, Year over year
revenues were mostly stagnant, but the City continued to see increased construction activity
resulting in $242,000 in excess of the budgeted permit revenue, The City also saw higher insurance
incentives as it continues to mitigate risk and reduce our claims resulting in a partial return of
premium. The short-term revenue outlook is stable with the exception of planned growth in the next
few years. The state approved legislation will continue to limit taxation to growth alone and short-
term interest rates will remain near all-time lows.

CAPITAT ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Cgpital Assets

As of December 31, 20"L7,the City reported a net combined investment in capital assets of $157.9
million, Of this amount, $68.0 million, or 43,7o/0, is attributable to governmental activities, with the
assets related to the City's land, buildings, equipment and street network. Total accumulated
depreciation for both governmental and business type activities was calculated at $102,9 million.

ln 20L7 , capital assets of governmental activities increased by $8.2 million. Capital assets of business
type activities decreased by $1.0 million.

Table 3
City of Oak Creek, Wisconsin

2Ol7 and 2016 Capltal Asset
Net of Accumulated Depreciation (in millions of dollars)

xi

Governmental

Activities

Business-type

Activities Totals

2077 2016 2017 2016 20t7 2016

Land and improvements

Construction in progress

Buildings

Machinary and equipment

lnfrastructure

25.8

9.7

36.3

8,2

83.5

26.0

0,3

37.3

8,2

83,5,

0,2

t.4

0.2

f,i
26,0

11,1

36,3

117,3

83.5

26,2

1,4

37.3

118,6

83.5

109.1 110,4

163,5 1s5.3 110.7 tll,7Total 274,2 267.0
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Lono-term Debt

At year-end, the governmental activities had $101.8 million in general obligation bonds and
promissory notes, an increase of $4,52 million from last year. This was due to developer incentives
in TIF 11. At the end of 2017, the business-type activities had a total of $18.7 million in outstanding
revenue bonds and general obligation debt. The Cityls general obligation bonds are rated AaZby
Moody's Investors Service, which has also rated the City's short term notes with a MIGl rating.
Revenue bonds of the water & sewer utilities are rated Aa2.

State law limits the City to issuing general obligation bonds totaling no more than 57o of the City's
equalized value. Based on the 2017 equalized value, this limit is $165.9 million, The City currently
has a combined total of $101.8 million of general obligation notes and bonds outstanding,
representing6t.4o/o of its legal debt capacity.

Table.4
City of Oak Creek, Wisconsin

20!7 and 2016 Outstanding Debt (in millions of dollars)

Governmental
Activities

Business-type
Activities

2Qt7 2076
Totals

General obligation debt
Revenue debt

Totals 101.8 97.3

2017

t 01.8
:

20t6

97.3

---:

2077

L01.8
lez

r20.s

20t6

97,3
u.&

11 5.1

L&J

18.7

17.g

1,1-8

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR'S BUDGETS AND RATES

The City of Oak Creek is located in southeastern Milwaukee County, and is one of only two
municipalities in Milwaukee County with numerous tracts of vacant land. This location and land
availability has contributed to the City's rapid growth and strong economic position. The local
economy has picked up over the last few years with growth expected to continue in 2018 at Drexel
Town Square and Oak View Business Park as well as other locations throughout the City. The
maiority of this growth is currently within TIF districts.

The City's population and building permit information is provided below:

Estimated Estimated Estimated Estimated Census

2077 2016 2015 201.4 2070
CiW of Oak Creek 35,560 35,206 34,791. 34,707 34,495
Milwaukee Countv 945,416 948,930 949,795 949,741 948,369
State of Wisconsin 5,783,278 5.775.720 5.753,324 5,732,981 5,694.236

Total New Construction Buildine Permits Total Residential Buildine Permits
Year Number Value Number Value
20\7 62 $134,014,052 31 $8,645,252

xil
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The Oak Creek City Council adopted the 2018 budget in November of 2017, which authorized general
fund expenditures of $24,2 rnillion, a3.t50/o increase from20L7. The tax levy for the City of Oak
Creek is $20.261 million, an increase of $383,000 from20t7 due to new construction. The mill rate
for City services decreased by $.19 in 2077 , due to the increase in property values, The total tax levy
has remained essentially at the same level since 2009, with any increase limited to the amount
generated by new growth to the tax base and closure of TIF districts.

CONTACTING THE CITY'S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors and
creditors with a general overview of the City's finances and to demonstrate the City's accountability
for the money it receives. If you have questions about this report or need additional information,
please contact the City of Oak Creeh 8040 S. 6tit Street, Oak Creeh Wisconsin, 53154.

xilt
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
As of December 31,2Q17

Governmental

Activities

Business-
type

Activities Totals

ASSETS
Unrestricted cash and investments
Taxes receivable
Delinquent personal property taxes receivable
Accounts receivable, net
Special assessments receivable
Loans receivable
Other assets
lnternal balances
lnventories
Restricted Assets

Cash and investments
CapitalAssets

Land and land rights
Construction in progress

Other capital assets, net of depreciation / amortization

Total Assots

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deforred charge on refunding

Deferred amount related to pensions

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources

LIABILITIE9
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deposits
Unearned revenue
Noncurrent Liabilities

Due within one year

Due in more than one year

Total Liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unearned revenue

Deferred amount related to pensions

Total Defened lnflows of Resources

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for debt service
Restricted for TID activity
Restricted for impact fees
Restricted for other purposes

Unrestricted (deficit)

TOTAL NET POSITION

2,658,840 942,263 3,601,103

$ 24,201,592
25,053,044

12,569
2,316,627

505,255
6,503

953,791
64,661

24,963,323
9,696,714

128,854,717

$ 24,715,258-

2,933,744

:
5,000

(e53,7e1)
80,735

255,895
1,386,938

109,100,543

$ 48,916,850
25,053,044

12,569
5,250,371

505,255
0,503
5,000

145,396

25,219,218
11,083,652

237,955,260

219,287,696 138,466,585 357,754,221

37,780
946,272

37,780
9,'123,112 10 069 384

9,123,112 984 052 10,107,164

5,433,364
307,821

240

28,287,145
105,828,370

139,856,940

24,455,883
3,656,258

1,142,448

23,288

1,467,699
20,095,648

6,575,812
307,821
23,528

29,754,844
125,924,018

22,729,083 162,586,023

24,455,883
4,039,230382,972

28,112,141 382,572 28,495,1'13

68,004,547
'1,446,185

1,821,391
2,592,260
2,084,107

(15,506,823)

91,977 ,717
917,621

23,443,244

'157,901,549

2,363,806
1,821,391
2,592,260
2,O84,107

10,017,136

$ 60,441,667 $ 11

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

$ 176,780,249
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2Q17

Pr@ram Revenues

Operating

Grants and
ContributionsFuncffons/Proorams

Govemmenta I Activities
General govemment
Public safety
Health and social services
Public works
Leisure activities
Conservation and development
lnterest and fiscal charges

Total Governmental Activities

Busi ness-type Activities
Water utility

Sewer udltty

Total Buslness-type Activities

$

Exoenses

51.ffi7.207

7,270,093
4.303.622

Charges for
Services

Governmental
Activities

(37.589.709)

(37,589,709)

19,192,741
1,274,750
1,794,174
1,036,256
6,744,612

473,992
3,862,361
1.663-609

(1,il7,214)

61,988.881

Business-type
Activities

a6 497\

22,,002
4,73B

{1.663.609}

2,5A7,681

113.830.901

Totals

15,192,741
1,274,750
1,794,174
1,036,256
6,744,612

695,994
3,867.099

960,467

175,819,782

8,655,933 $
18,787,O74
2,119,602

10,160,834
2,232.46
6,172,961
2.938.337

1,622.830 $
2,422,943

26,367
1,171,8U

155,600

1,500 $
355,789

82,U2
2.U2.239

$ (7,031,603) $
(15,980,879)

{2,010,893)
(4,249,863J
(2,062,666i
(3,315,4681
(2.938.33n

$ {7,031,603}
(1s,s80,879)
(2,010,893j
(4,249,8631
(2,062,666)
(3,315,468)
(2.938.337)

Capital

Grants and
Contrlbutions

27,463

2,196,898
14,200

2,857,493

4U,448
277.974

Net (Expense) Revenue and
Chanoes in Net Position

Totals

General Revenues
Taxes

Property taxes, levied for general purposes
Property taxes, levied for debt service
Property taxes, levied for tax incremental districts
Other taxes

lntergovemmental revenues not restricted to specific programs
lnvestnent income
Miscellaneous

Transfers

Total General Revenue and Transfers

Change in Net Position

NET POSITION - Beginning of Year

NET POSITION - ENO OF YEAR

5 399.574 2SU.A70 5,096,054

10,826,732
3.979.155

11.573,715 14.805,887 712,374

$ 62,640,522 $ 20,20s,461 $ 2.981.87A $ 5,808,432

(37 saq 70q\

3,991,M7 3,991,047
G6_497)

3.944.550 3.92t4-55t)

3.944,550 {33.645.159)

36.042,495 (1.436.8691 34.605.626

$ 60.441.667 $ 116.338.582 $ 176.7A0.249

See accompanying notes to frnancial statements-

Page 2



CITYOF OAX CREEK

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
A! of Dsmbrr 31,2017

Sp.cial Ravcuo
Funq D.bt 8€rule Fund8 C€pltel Proisctr Fund

TrF No. I TrF N0. '11

Emrltncy D.bt C.pltEl Crdtll Crplt l Nonmajo.
General Medbd S.rulc.r Dabt S.il16 AmoJtlzrlion lmpmv.md Protscb Proicctr Govarnm.ntd
Fgnd F$d Fund ____lglg_ . Fund Fund Furd Fundr Totds

$ 6,043,082 i
ASSETS

R€strlctad cesh rnd lnv.rtillant8
Rsc€iwbhr

Tax.a
Dollnqucnt pftond proporty tss
Ac€ostr, mt
Speclsl at8e6smenll
Loana

Duo lrcm olhgr lund6

lnv€nloriss

TOTAL ASSETS

L!AB|L|T|ES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF

RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS}

Liabliti€8
Amunts p8yablo

Acctucd llsbillii.r
DcpoBlt{
Duo to oltr9rlunds
un3lmod t€venuas

Tgtal Lisbliltie!

13,553220
'12,569

469,i05

3,362,469
0.,q01

13,1 t0,182

13.1 10.102

346,588 t

3,788,857

180,648 106,410

427,M

695

1,682,352

1,223,807

1,650,055

287,620
605,255

e,603
314,S00

329,025 t 1,S00,r4€ I

850,mo

$ 4,269,7m I e,310,753 I 21,783,218

' 2,658,940 2,t68,8,r0

26,063,0a4
r2,66S

2,2AgJ7o
$06,266

6,503
s,877,359

04,801

023,500,062. t 4,314,991 $ 1,1t3,025 I 1,600.146 S '100,415 g 7.050,809 N17,734,526 $56,029,019

t 421,688 $ 24.477 S

1,100,428 145.042
1 

,i7,073

445,381

$1,155,258$ -l 72p,731 I 449,740$2,783,880
170,139 87,82 1,503,171

- 190,748 307,821
412,821 1,249,149 " 726,027 2,827,3U

210 240
2.1n,7w 1Be,61e J,EL&. _lJ13"l!9. _-L2pJg1 --ll.54p9g _l!1?d!S

Dofomd lnflow8 ot Ro3ouot
UngrmBd Evenu6! 9,788,067

7,085
850,000

050.000

627,054 1,582,3s2 4,490,950 24,4$6,883

_-10"9519. 53?,052 u7,pL
1,006,882 6,027.010 26,303.560Total Dot r.d lntloffi ol REoum 627.054

Fund Bslsnce! (ooficlt)
Nonspondable
R.stdclsd
Committed
A3signsd
UnasdOned (Ootldt)

Total Fund Brlanet

323,025 1,506,14€ 4,444,282
349,530

4,795,437 
--------j 

----: 

(t,031,809) 112a2,58 (44,809) .L074,205
6,212,'t30 349,938 923.02s 11606,146 (1.091,809) 6,212554\ 4.441,242 JUgaru 23,213,503

'1,753,084

1,@3,009

7,9t9,973
3,37S,€O9

1,753,084
14,1S3,400
3,720,100
1.609,60t

TOTAL LhBILITIES, DEFERREO

INFLOWS OF RESO{',RCEs,

ANoFUNDBALANCES(DEF|C|r8) s23,500,082 s 4,314,0e1 !_!13193!. Lll5094. !_J9g1l!. !__i39,gg !-J8!9S9. s17,734,52q 9--!gp39,g8

Ss r@npanying noka to timnclsl statsnants.
Pegs S



CITY OF OAK CREEK

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
For the Year Ended December 31,2017

Fund balance - total governmental funds

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental funds are not financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds.

Land
Construction in progress
Other capital assets, net of depreciation

Some reoeivables that are not currently available are reported as unavailable
revenue in the fund financial statements but are recognized as revenue
when earned in the government-wide statements.

Special assessments
Accounts
Loans

lnternal service funds are used by management to charge costs of insurance coverage
to individual funds. The assets and liabilities of the internal service fund are
included in government activities in the statement of net position.

The net pension liability does not relate to current financial resources and is not reported
in the governmental funds.

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions do not relate to current financial
resources and are not reported in the governmental funds.

Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions do not relate to current financial
resources and are not reported in the governmentalfunds,

Some liabilities, including long-term debt, are not due and payable in the current period and,
therefore, not reported in the fundE,

Bonds and notes payable
Unamortized debt premium
Other postemployement benefits
Vested compensated absences
Accrued interest

NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIV]TIES

$ 23,213,563

24,963,323
9,696,714

128,854,717

376,422
464,752

6,503

2J71,520

(1,'164,294)

9,123,112

(3,656,258)

(101,850,000)
(1 ,333,199)

(28,375,067)
(1,392,955)

(657,186)

$ 60,441,667

See accompanying notes to financial statements. Page 4



CIYY OF OAK CREEX

ETATEMENT OF REVENUEs. EXPENOITURES
ANO CHANOES IN FUND BALANCFE

OOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Yrr End6d Do€mbcr 3l , 201 7

R]EVENUES
Tuss
lntorgovommnnlal
Ragulltion and compllrnct
Public chsrgos tor earyl€E
spsclrl e!s€$menta/drvclopcf @ntdbuiiont
lnvestmsnl in6mo
Mbollanaour
lnllrtund chaegs aor roryl€3

Totsl Rovanulr

EXP€NTXTUREB
Cumnl

Osnoml 0ov6mmont
Public aafcty
Hoallh and lociel !€ry1@8
Publiq rcdrr
Lolsur€ .dlvltlet
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds

Amounts reported for governmental activitles in the statement of activities
are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the
statement of net position the cost of these assets is capitalized and thoy are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives with depreciation expense reported
in the statement of activities.

Capital outlay is reported as an expenditure in the fund financial statements
but is capitalized in the government-wide financial statements

Some items capitalized were not reported as capital outlay
Some amounts reported as capital outlay were not capitalized
Depreciation is reported in tho government-wide statements
Net book value of disposed assets
Some items previously shown as construction in progress were expensed

Receivables not currently available are reported as unearned revenue in the fund financial
statements but are recognized as revenue when earned in the government-wide
financial statements.

Special assessments
Accounts

Debt issued provides current financial resources to governmental funds,
but issuing these obligations increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net
position. Repayment of principal is an expendiiure in the governmental funds, but the
repaymont reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net position.

Principal repaid
Debt proceods

Governmental funds report debt premiums, discounts and issuance costs as other financing
sources (uses) or expenditures. However, in the statement of net position, these are
deferred and reported as other assets or deductions from long-term dobt, These are allocated
over the period the debt is outstanding in the statement of activities and are reported as

interest expense.
Premium on issued debt
Amortization of debt premium 0n debt issued

Part of net revenue of activities in the internal service fund is reported with governmental

activities

Some expenses in the statement of activities do not require the use of
current financial resources and, lherefore, are not reported as expenditures
in the governmental funds.

Other postemployment benefits
Vest compensated absences
Accrued inter€st on debt

Net pension liability

Deferred outflows related to pensions

Deferred inflows related to pensions

CHANGE IN NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

$ (3,397,423)

15,855,628
243,529

(2,8e8,00e)
(5,038,214)

(35,867)
95,691

(1 85,1 56)
50,979

6,030,000
(10,550,000)

(2,208)
'105,640

461,722

(608,453)
(25,067)

(144,127)

1 ,1 56,996
(3,891,732)

1,228,857

$ (1,547,214)
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

As of December 31 , 201 7

Water
Utility

Sewer
Utility Totals

Business-tvoe . Enterorise Funds
Governmental

Activities -
lntsrnal

Service Fund

$ 2,418,372

38,325
159,352

ASSETS
Current Assots

Cash and investments
Customer accounts receivable
Other accounts receivable
Due from other funds
lnventories
Restricted assets

Revenue bond redemption account
Total Cunent Assets

Noncurrent Assets
Restricted Assets

Revenue bond reserve account

Capital Assets
Land and land rights
Construction in progress

Utility plant in service
Accumulated depreciation

Total CapitalAssets

Other Assets
Property held for future use
Due from other funds - special assessments

Due from other funds - advance

Total Other Assets

Total Assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred charge on refunding

Deferred outflows related to pension

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows

of Resourceg

19,560,056 I,992,163

$ 16,941,953
2,040,912

26,732
378,415

80,735

$ 7,773,305
864,965

1,135
352,758

$ 24,715,258
2,905,877

27,867
731,173

80,735

91,30991,309

19 2,616,049

850 954 954

242,750
1,375,093

114,652,374
(38,4Q5,731)

77,864,486

1 3,145
1 1,845

44,602,507
(11,748,607)

255,895
1,386,938

159,254,881
(50,154,338)

32,878,890 110,743,376

5,000
188,989 45,381

2,216,484

5,000
234,370

2,216,084

193,989 2,261 ,465 2,455,454

98,469,485 44,132.518 142.602 ,003 2,616,049

37,780
757,013

37,780
189,259

794,793 189,259 984,052

99,264,278 44.321,777 '143,586,055 2,616,049
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Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds
Governmental

Activities -

lnternal
Service Fund

Water
Utility

Sewer
Utility Totals

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrued payroll

Accrued interest payable

Due to other funds
Due to other funds - Advance
Unearned revenue
Compensated absences
Revenue bonds payable

Liabiliti€s Payable From Restricted Assets
Accrued interest
Current portion of revenue bonds

Total Current Llabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities
Net other postemployment benefits obligatlon
Due to other funds - Advance
Net pension liability
Pollution remediation obligation
Revenue bonds, net of unamortized premiums

Totel Noncurrent Liabilities

Total Liabilities

DEFERRED ]NFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows related to pension

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED
INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted

Debt sorvice

Unrestricted

24,642
800,000

3,e07,199 690,428

$ 301,730
79,328
39,966

1,809,72't
117,067
23,288
43,709

667,699

$ 646,339 $
6,734

948,069
86,062
39,966

1,847,076
117,067
23,288
43,709

667,699

24,642

..800,000
4,597,578

$ 399,720

399,720

,35537

887,970
2,216,084

96,060
1,589,204

17,276,406

22'1,993

24,015

1,109,963
2,216,084

120,075
1,589,204

17,276,406

22.065,724 246,008 22,311,732

25,972,874 936,436 26,909,310 399,720

306,377 76,595 3Q2,e72

26,279,251 1,013,031 27,292,282 399,720

59,105,099 32,872,618 91 ,977 ,717

917,621
12,962,307 10,436,128

917,621
23,398,435 2,216,?Zg

$ 2,216,329$ 43,308,746 116,293,773TOTAL NET POSITION $ 72,985,027

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service fund activities related

to enterprise funds.

Net Position of Business-type Activities

44,809

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

q!gn$Eg3
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Year Ended December 31,2017

BusineSs-type Activities - Enterprise Funds
Governmental

Activities -
lnternal

Service Fund
Water
Utility

Sewer
Utility Totals

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services and sales
Other operating revenues

Total Operating Revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operation and maintenance
Depreciation
Taxes

Total Operating Expenses

Operating lncome (Loss)

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
lnvestment income
lncome from merchandising and jobbing

lnterest expense
Loss on capital asset retirements

Amortization of bond premiums

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

6,355,257

10,826,732 3,979,155 14,805,887 6,355,257

$ 10,302,602
524,1 30

$ 3,926,957
52,1 98

$ 14,229,559
576,328

$

4,109,730
2,497,435

3,716,310
541,553

45,759

7,826,040
3,038,992

164,703

5,893,773

1 18 944

6,726,113 4,303,6,22

(324,467\

11,029,735 5,893,773

4,100,619 776,152 461,4843,

146,151
4,553

(543,340)
(260,288)

(5,193)

75,851

(658,117) 75,851

222,002
4,553

(sas,s+o)
(260,288)

(5,193)

(582,266)

4,976

4,976

lncome (Loss) Bsfore Contributions
and Transfens 3,442,502

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
TRANSFERS OUT

694,696
(1,663,609)

Change in Net Posltion 2,473,589

70,511,438

$ 72,985,027

NET POSITION - Beginning of Year

NET POSITION. END OF YEAR

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service fund

activities related to enterprise funds.

Change in Net Position of Business-Type Activities

(248,616)

277,970

3,193,886 466,460

972,666
(1,663,609)

29,354

43,279,392

$ 43,308,746

2,502,943

4,738

466,460

1,749,869

$ 2,216,€9

See accompanying notes to financial statem€nts

$ 2,507,681
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Year Endtsd December 31,2017

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Received from cuslom€rs
Received from rents of water prop€rty

Received for nonop€rating activities
Received from miscellaneous sources
Paid to Milwaukee Meho Sew€rag€ District for s6wer us€r charges

Paid to suppliers for goods and services

Paid to smploy€eB for services

Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCINC ACTIVITIES
Paid to city for tax 6quivalent

Principal received from Water Utility - advanc6

Net Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
lnvestments purchasod

Proceedg from sale of investments
lnt€r€st received from Water Utllity - advance

lnv€stment income

Net Cash Flows From lnvesling Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIE9

Acquisition and conslruction of capital assets
Proceeds received for acquisition and construction of capital assets

SpEcial ass6s6ment proc€Bds
Proceeds from issuance of debt
Cost of r€moval
Conn€ction fees received
Principal payment to Sewer Utility - advance
Pebl retired
lnterest paid to Sewor Utility - advance

lnleresl paid

Net Cash Flows From Capitsl and R€lated Financing Activities

Net lncroaso (D€creaie) ln Cash and Cash Equlvalonts

CASH AND CASH EOUIVALENTS - Beginning of Year

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS. END OF YEAR

Busin-e.ss-type Activities - Enlerprise Funds .

Water Sewer
Utility Utility Total8

$ 10,423,967 $ 3,989,644 $ 14,413,611

288,929 . 288,929
1,056 1,056

155,981 5,454 161,435
- (2,457,4081 (2,457,408)

(2,4743e5!. (890,928) (3,365,313)
(1,609,807) (433,867) (2,04s,673)

6,785,741 212,895 6,998,636

Governmental
Aclivltles -

lnt€rnal
Servico Fund

$ 6,286,134

(5,892,975)

393,159

(1,707,7411 - (1,707,7411

_---___-_-__ - 41,q25 41,925
(1,7O7,741) 41,925 (1,665,818)

(3,873,133) (1,215,461) (5,088,594)

3,931,684 1,156,910 5,088,594
- 16,625 16,625

97,172 45,579 142,751

155,723 3,653 159,376
,4,929
4,970

(921,129)
31,S31
84,192

2,882,968
(298,0s5)

1,081
(41,e25)

(r,965,940)
(16,625)

(559129
(800,262)

(221,618) (1,142,7471
19,451 51,382
18,248 102,440

" 2,882,968

" (298,095)

2JA2 3,243
. (41,e25)

(1,985,940)
- (16,625)

(556,720)

(181,157) (982,0Je)

4,433,461 76,716 4,510,177

7,350.222 5,865,623 13,215,845

$ 1 1,783,683 $ 5,942,339 S 17 ,726,022

398,1 3s

2,020,2q

$*?c1gq7a
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Bg!iness-lype 4ctivlties - Enterprise Funds

Wat€r Sewer
Utility Utility Tolals

Governmental

Activitios -

lnt€rnal
Service Funds

(324,4671 $ 3,776,152 $ 461,484
4,553

RECONCTLTATTON OF OPERATTNG TNCOME (LOSS)
TO NET CASH FROM OPEMTING ACTIVITIES

Oporating income (loss)
Nonoperating revenues (€xpenses)

Adjustments to Reconcile Operating lncom6
to Nel Cash Provldsd From Operating Activiiios

Noncash it€ms included in income
Depreciation
D€preciation chargod to other accounts
Gain on sale of transportation equlpment

ChangoE in ass€tE and liabilities and deferred outtlows and lnllows
Customer accounts r€ceivable
Other accounts receivabl€
Due from other funds
lnv€ntories
Prepaid it€mg
Pen6ion
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accrued expensas
Pollution remediation obligation
Due to other funds
N6t othor post employment benefits obligation
Unearned revenue

NET CASH FLOWS FROM

OPEMTING ACTIVITIES

RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS TO THE
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION . PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Cash and lnvestments
Reslrictod cash and lnveslmonts - current
Restricted cash and invostments - noncurrsnt
Lesg: lnvestmentg not considered to be cash

and cash equival6nts

CASH AND CASH EOUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR

NONCASH INVESTING, CAPITAL AND FINANCING ACTIVITIEg

Interest income earned on noncash equivalonts

Market value adiustment on investmentg

Cost ol capital assets inctalled and/or financad by developers

Cosl ot capital assets ftnanced by assessm€nt ol benefils to propsrly owners

Gain on sale of capital assets

Loss on oapital asset r€tirements

lnt€rest capitalized on construction projectg

$ 4,100,619 $
4,553

2,497,439
/o,3/o
(5,500)

541,553
(44,834)

2,U7
(552)

87,570

833
33,1M
22,819

301

(1 16,668)
10,509

$ 19,874

$ (5,680)

s 261.028

$-, _ 1_4,78j"

$_ _, :
s

3,038,992
31,7A2
(5,500)

$ 911948

$ (26,1S1)

$ 931,163
q. __9pal"
$ 5,500

q 390'?qq"
$ 36,289

32,9'10
(2,161)

(20,35e)
(2,801)
1,943

132,746
45,806
4,402

(1,0E.1)
(1 13,475)

42,034
(7,910)

35,557
(2,713)
67,211
(2,801)
2,776

1 65,930
68,625

4,703
(1,081 )

(230,143)
52,543
(7,910)

90,229
(1 59,352)

79E

I 6,78s,741 $ 212r8e5 $ 6,998,636 $ 393,J59

g 2,418,372

(q,100,533) (1,830,966) (7,931,499)

$ 11,783.683 $ 5,942,339 $ 17,726,022 $ 2,418,372

$ 16,941,953 $
91,309

850,954

$ 71,774

$ (20,51 1)

$ 670,125

$- *?g,tej
$ 5,500

$_ ,, ?qq,?q8.
$ 35,28e

7,773,305 $ 24,715258
" 91,309
" 850,954

See accompanying notes to linanclel slatements,
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CIW OF OAK CREEK

STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
AGENCY FUND

As of December 3'1, 2017

ASSETS
gash and investments
Property taxes reoeivable

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIEg
Due to other taxing units

Agency

Fund

$ 36,857,408

J6,163,q23

$ 0.431

$ 53,010,431

See accompanying notes to financlal statements,
Page 12



CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2017

NOTE
L Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A. Reporting Entity
B, Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements
C, Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting,

and Financial Statement Presentation
D. Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred lnflows of Resources

and Net Position or Equity
1. Deposits and lnvestments
2. Receivables
3. lnventories
4. Restricted Assets
5. CapitalAssets
6. Deferred Outflows of Resources
7. CompensatedAbsences
8. Long-Term Obligations/ConduitDebt
9. PollutionRemediationObligations
10. Deferred lnflows of Resources
11. Equity Classifications
12. Pensions

Page
'14

14
14

ll Stewardshlp, Compliance, and Accountability
A. Budgetarylnformation
B, Excess Expenditures Over Appropriations
C. Deficit Balances
D, Limitation on the City's Tax Levy

17

19
19
21
23
23
23
24
25
25
26
26
27
28

29

32
32
36
37
38
41
44
48
49

53
53
58
59
63
65
65
66

29
30
31

31

lll. Detailed Notes on All Funds
A. Deposits and lnvestments
B. Receivables
C. Restricted Assets
D, CapitalAssets
E, lnterfund Receivables/Payables, Advances and Transfers
F. Long-TermObligations
G, Lease Disclosures
H. Net Position/Fund Balances

lV. Other lnformation
A. Employees' Retirement System
B. Risk Management
C. Commitments and Contingencies
D, Other Postemployment Benefits
E, Power Generating Facility Mitigation Revenue
F. Effect of New Accounting Standards on Current-Period Financial Statements
G. Subsequent Events
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and forthe Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE I - Summnnv or SrcnrncnNl Accoulrnr.rc PolrcrEs

The accounting policies of the City of Oak Creek, Wisconsin ("the City") conform to accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America as applicable to governmental units, The accepted
standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles is the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).

A. REPaRTING Eunrv

This roport includes all of the funds of the City of Oak Creek. The reporting entity for the city consists of
the primary government and its component units. Component units are legally separate organizations for
which the primary government is financially accountable or other organizations for which the nature and
significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that their exclusion would cause
the reporting entity's financial statements to be misleading The city has not identified any organizations
that meet this criteria.

B. Govenuue,ur-Wne etto Fuuo FnteucrAt SrArEMEirrs

G ov ern m ent-Wi d e F i n an c ial Statements

The statement of net position and statement of activities display information about the reporting
government as a whole. They include all funds of the reporting entity except for fiduciary funds. The
statements distinguish between governmental and business-type activities, Governmental activities
generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange revenues.
Business{ype activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties for goods or
services,

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or
segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a
specific function or segment. The city does not allocate indirect expenses to functions in the statement of
activities, Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use or directly
benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment, and 2) grants and
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function
or segment. Taxes and other items not included among program revenues are reported as general
revenues. lnternally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program
revenues,
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE I - SunnrrrnRv or SrcnrrrclNT AccouNT|NG PoLrcrEs (cont.)

B. Govenuueur-Woe exo FUND FtNANctAL STAiEMENTS (cont.)

F u n d F i n a ncial Sfatements

Financial statements of the city are organized into funds, each of which is considered to be a separate
accounting entity, Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts,
which constitute its assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, net
position/fund balance, revenues, and expenditures/expenses.

Funds are organized as major funds or non-major funds within the governmental and proprietary
statements. An emphasis is placed on major funds within the governmental and proprietary categories. A
fund is considered major if it is the primary operating fund of the city or meets the following criteria:

a. Total assets/deferred outflows of resources, liabilities/deferred inflows of resources, revenues, or
expenditures/expenses of that individual governmental or enterprise fund are at least 10 percent
of the corresponding total for all funds of that category or type, and

b, The same element of the individual governmental fund or enterprise fund that met the 10 percent
test is at least 5 percent of the corresponding total for all governmental and enterprise funds
combined,

c. ln addition, any other governmental or enterprise fund that the city believes is particularly
important to financial statement users may be reported as a major fund.

Separate financial statsments are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds, and fiduciary
funds, even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements, Major
individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in
the fund financial statements.

The oity reports the following maJor governmental funds:

General Fund - accounts for the city's primary operating activities. lt is used to account for and
report all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund,

Emergency Medical Services Fund - Special Revenue Fund - used to account for and report
grants and local revenues legally restricted or committed to supporting expenditures for the
paramedic rescue program.

Debt Service Fund - used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted,
committed, or assigned to expenditures for the payment of general long-term debt principal,
interest, and related costs for debt related public works projects.

Debt Amortization Fund - used to account for and report financial resources that are
restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditures for the payment of general long-term debt
principal, interest, and related costs.

Capital lmprovement Capital Projects Fund - used to account for and report financial resources
that are restricted, committed, or assigned tb expenditures for capital outlays, including the
acquisition or construction of capital facilities and other capital assets for the capital
improvement program,

TIF No. 8 Capital Projects Fund - used to account for and report financial resources that are
restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditures outlined in the TID project plan,
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAT STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE l- Suunalny oF SrcNrFrcANT AccouNTrxo Por-rcres (cont.)

B. Govenunpur-WDE AND Fuup Ftxnucl,eL STATEMENTS (cont.)

Fund Financlal Sfafements (cont,)

TIF No, 11 Capital Projects Fund - used to account for and report financial resources that are
restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditures outlined in the TID project plan.

The city reports the following major enterprise funds:

Water Utility - accounts for operations of the water system
Sewer Utility - accounts for operations of the sewer system

The city reports the following non-major governmental and enterprise funds:

Special Revenue Funds - used to account for and report the proceeds of specific revenue
sources that are legally restricted or committed to expenditures for specified purposes (other
than debt service or capital projects).

Solid Waste Fund
Donation and Activity Fund
WE Energies Fund
Low lncome Loan Fund
Park Escrow Fund
Special Assessment Fund
Economic Development Fund
Future lmprovement Fund
lmpact Fee Escrow Fund
Asset Forfeiture Fund
Storm Water Fund
Consolidated Dispatch Services Fund
Tourism Commission Fund

Debt Service Funds - used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted,
committed, or assigned to expenditures for the payment of general longterm debt principal,
interest, and related costs

TIF No. 4 Debt Service Fund
TIF No. 6 Debt Service Fund
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE I - SuuulRv oF STGNTFTGANT AccouNTrNG PoltctEs (cont.)

B. Govznuueur-Wne atto FUND FrNANctAt- Silrs,uewrs (cont.)

Fund Financlal Statements (cont.)

Capital Projects Funds - used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted,
committed, or assigned to expenditures for capital outlay, including the acquisition or
construction of capital facilities and other capital assets.

Developer Agreement Fund
TIF No. 7 Capital Projects Fund
TIF No. 10 Capital Projects Fund
TIF No. 12 Capital Projects Fund
TIF No. 13 Capital Projects Fund

ln addition, the city reports the following fund types:

lnternal service fund are used to account for and report the financing of goods or services provided by
one department or agency to other departments or agencies of the city, or to other governmental units, on
a cost-reimbursement basis.

Health lnsurance Fund

Agency fund are used to account for and report assets held by the city in a trustee capacity or as an

agent for individuals, private organizations, and/or other governmental units.

Tax Collection Fund

C, Measuneuaxr Foaus, B^srs oFAcCouNTtNG, evo F$tencnLSTATEMENT PaEsettrertou

Govern ment-Wide Fin anc lal Stafemenfs

The government-wide statement of net position and statement of activities are reported using the.
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of
accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability is
incurred or economic asset used. Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from
exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized when the exchange takes place. Property taxes
are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied, Taxes receivable for the following year
are recorded as receivables and deferred inflows. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as
soon as alleligibility requirements imposed by the provider are met, Specialassessments are recorded
as revenue when earned. Unbilled receivables are recorded as revenues when services are provided,

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial

statements. Exceptions to this general rule are charges betwoen the city's water and sewer utility and
various other functions of the government, Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and
program revenues reported for the various functions concerned.
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE I - SUUNTARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES cont.

C. MEASUREMENT Focus, BAsrs oFAccouNTtNc, AND F|NAN?TAL STATEMENT PRESENTAT|ow (cont.)

Fund Fl nancial Statements

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when they are both
measurable and available, Available means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter
to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the city considers revenues to be
available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures are
recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for unmatured interest on long-term debt,
claims, judgments, compensated absences, and pension expenditures, which are recorded as a fund
liability when expected to be paid with expendable available financial resources.

Property taxes are recorded in the year levied as receivables and deferred inflows. They are recognized
as revenues in the succeeding year when services financed by the levy are being provided.

lntergovernmental aids and grants are recognized as revenues in the period the city is entitled the
resources and the amounts are available. Amounts owed to the city which are not available are recorded
as receivables and unavailable revenues. Amounts received before eligibility requirements (excluding
time requirements) are met are recorded as liabilities. Amounts received in advance of meeting time
requirements are recorded as deferred inflows.

Special assessments are recorded as revenues when they become measurable and available as current
assets. Annual installments due in future years are reflected as receivables and unavailable revenues.

Revenues susceptible to accrual include property taxes, miscellaneous taxes, public charges for services
special assessments and interest. Other general revenues such as fines and forfeitures, inspection fees,

recreation fees, and miscellaneous revenues are recognized when received in cash or when measurable
and available under the criteria described above,

Proprietary are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of
accounting, as described previously in this note, Agency funds follow the accrual basis of accounting and

do not have a measurement focus.

The proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in
connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the
water and sewer utilities are charges to customers for sales and services. Special assessments are
recorded as receivables and contribution revenue when levied. Operating expenses for proprietary funds
include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All
revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE I - Sun/lulnv oF srGNrFrcANT AccouNTrne Pouctes (cont.)

C, MEASUREMENT Focus, BAs,s oFAccouvTtvc, AND FtNANcrAr- SrAremgruT PRESENTATIaw (cont.)

A I I F I n an ci al Sfafements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions ihat affect the reported amounts of assets,
deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resourees, and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenditures/expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

D. Assers, Derpnneo Ourrtows oFREsouRcEq LtABtLtnEs, Derenaep lNFLows oFREsouRcEs,
axo Ner Posrrrol, oR EaurY

?. Deposifs and lnvestments

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the city considers all highly liquid investments with an initial
maturity of three months or less when acquired to be cash equivalents.

lnvestment of city funds is restricted by state statutes, Available investments are limited to:

a. Time deposits in any credit union, bank, savings bank or trust company maturing in three
years or less.

b. Bonds or securities of any county, city, drainage district, technical college district, village,
town, or school district of the state. Also, bonds issued by a local exposition district, a local
professional baseball park district, a local professional football stadium district, a local cultural
arts district, the University of Wisconsin Hospitals and Clinics Authority or the Wisconsin
Aerospace Authority.

c. Bonds or securities issued or guaranteed by the federal government.

d. The local government investment pool,

e, Any security maturing in seven years or less and having the highest or second highest rating
category of a nationally recognized rating agency.

f. Securities of an open-end management investment company or investment kust, subject to
various conditions and investment options.

g. Repurchase agreements with public depositories, with certain conditions,

Page 19



CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE I - Sun,tnannv or Srcrurrrcnrur AccouHrrrue Polrcres (cont.)

D, AssErs, Dereaneo Ourrtows or Resounces, Ltaeatnes, DEFERRSD lNFLows oF REsouRcEs,
erup Ner PostrtoN oR Eoulrr(cont.)

f. Deposifs and lnvestments (cont.)

The city has adopted an investment policy. That policy contains the following guidelines for allowable
investments.

CustodialCredit Risk

ln order to safeguard investments and deposits, the city shall requlre, at a minimum, that each approved
public depository, submit to the city its annualfinancial statements or complete Form ADV Part 2A, Part
28 and the IARD/CRD/SEC number that pertains to the public depository.

The city shall require, when investing in repurchase agreements, that collateral be pledged by the
depository in an amount equal to or greater than the amount of the repurchase agreements the city has
with such depository.

a) The collateralshall be direct obligations of the United States, or of its agencies, if the payment of
principal and interest is guaranteed by the federal government, or obligations of the State of
Wisconsin, or collateral of commercial loans at one-hundred twenty-five percent, which are at all
times current with regard to interest and principal,

b) Evidence of such collateral shall be provided by the depository

Credit Risk

Any security including commercial paper which matures or which may be tendered for purchase at the
option of the holder within not more than seven years on the date which it is acquired, if that security has
a rating which is the highest or second highest rating category assigned by Standard & Poor's
Corporation, Moody's investor service or other similar nationally recognized rating agency, or if that
security is senior to, or on a parity with a security of the same issuer which has such a rating.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Consideration shall be given to the total amount of existing city funds which are already in such
depository and or the capacity of the depository to handle the size of the deposit or investment. A ceiling
may be established for individual financial institutions at each annual evaluation.

lnterest Rafe Risk

Yield shall be the final determining factor of the investment decision.

Bids shall be required of all investments that are in excess of $100,000 or have a maturiiy date of 30 days
or longer. A minimum of three bids from the city's public depository list shall be acquired for time deposits
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2017

NOTE I - SunmaRv oF SrcNrFrcAHr Accour.rrrrue Poucrss (cont.)

D, AssErs, Derenneo Ourrtows oFREsouRcEs, LtABtLtnEs, Derenneo lurrcws orResouRcEs,
AND NET Pos,r,o^, oR Eaurrv (cont.)

1, Deposits and lnvestments (cont.)

lnterest Rate Risk (cont.)

Purchase obligations of the US Treasury and deposits inio the Local Government lnvestment Pool and
the BMO lnvestment Account shall not be subject to the bid process.

Securities shall not be sold prior to maturity with the following exceptions:

a) A declining credit security could be sold early to minimize loss of principal.
b) A security swap would improve the quality, yield or target duration in the portfolio.
c) Liquidity needs of the portfolio require that the security be sold.

lnvestments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties. Fair values are based on methods and inputs as outlined in
Note lll.A. No investments are reported at amortized cost. Adjustments necessary to record investments
at fair value are recorded in the operating statement as increases or decreases in investment income.
lnvestment income on commingled investments of municipal accounting funds is allocated based on
average balances, The difference between the bank balance and carrying value is due to outstanding
checks and/or deposits in transit,

The Wisconsin Local Government lnvestment Pool (LGIP) is part of the State lnvestment Fund (SlF), and
is managed by the State of Wisconsin lnvestment Board. The SIF is not registered with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, but operates under the statutory authority of Wisconsin Chapter 25, The SIF
reports the fair value of its underlying assets annually, Participants in the LGIP have the right to withdraw
their funds in total on one day's notice. At December 31, 2017, the fair value of the city's share of the
LGIP's assets was substantially equal to the amount as reported in these statements.

See Note lll.A. for further information

2. Receivab/es

Property taxes are levied in December on the assessed value as of the prior January 1. ln addition to
property taxes for the city, taxes are collected for and remitted to the state and county governments as
well as the local school district, technical college district and the Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage
District. Taxes for all state and local governmental units billed in the current year for the succeeding year
are reflected as receivables and due to other taxing units on the accompanying statement of assets and
liabilities - agency fund.
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO FINANC]AL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2417

NOTE I - Suunaenv oF SrcNtFrcANT AccouNTlHc Poltctes nt,

D. Assrrs, Dereanep OurFLows oFREsouRcEs, LtAeunes, Derennro INFLows orResounceg
exo Nrr PostnoN oR Eourn (cont.)

2, Receivab/es (cont.)

Property tax calendar -2017 tax roll:

Lien date and levy date
Tax bills mailed
Payment in full, or
First installment due (50%)
Second installment due (25%)
Third installment due (25%)
Personal property taxes in full
Tax sale - 2017 delinquent
real estate taxes

December 201 7
December 2017
January 31,2018
January 31,2018
March 31, 2018
May 31,2018
January 31, 2018

October 2020

Accounts receivable have been shown net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts. Delinquent real
estate taxes as of July 31 are paid in full by the county, which assumes the collection thereof. No
provision for uncollectible accounts receivable has been made for the water and sewer utilities because
they have the right by law to place delinquent bills on the tax roll, and other delinquent bills are generally
not significant.

During the course of operations, transactions occur between individual funds that may result in amounts
owed between funds. Short-term interfund loans are reported as "due to and from other funds," Long{erm
interfund loans (noncurrent portion) are reported as "advances from and to other funds." lnterfund
receivables and payables between funds within governmental activities are eliminated in the statement of
net position. Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business{ype
activities are reported in the government-wide financialstatements as internal balances.

ln the governmental fund financial statements, advances to other funds are offset equally by a fund
balance nonspendable account which indicates that they do not constitute expendable available financial
resources and, therefore, are not available for appropriation.

The city has received grant funds for CDBG housing loan programs to qualified individuals, The city
records a loan receivable when the loan has been made and funds have been disbursed. The city is no

longer disbursing these funds. This activity is accounted for in the Low lncome Loan Fund,

It is the city's policy to record unearned revenue for the net amount of the receivable balance. As loans
are repaid, revenue is recognized, When new loans are made from the repayments, expenditures are
recorded. lnterest received from loan repayments is recognized as revenue when received in cash, Any
unspent loan repayments at year end are presented as restricted fund balance in the fund financial
statements.
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE I - SUMMARY Or SrCnrflclNT AccouNTrNe PolrcrEs (cont.)

D. Assers, Dzrenneo Outrtows oFREsouRcEs, LtABtLtnEs, DEFERRED luptows orResounces,
auo Ner PostrtoN on Eoutrv (cont, )

3. lnventorles

Governmental fund inventories, if material, are recorded at cost using the consumption method of
accounting. Year-end inventory was not significant. Proprietary fund inventories are generally used for
construction or for operation and maintenance work. They are not for resale. They are valued at cost
based on weighted average, and charged to construction and/or for operation and maintenance expense
when used.

4. Restricted Assefs

Mandatory segregations of assets are presented as restricted assets, Such segregations are required by
bond agreements and other external parties. Current liabilities payable from these restricted assets are so
classified, The excess of restricted assets over current liabilities payable from restricted assets will be
used first for retirement of related long-term debt. The remainder, if generated from earnings, is shown as
restricted net position.

5. CapitalAssefs

G ov e rn m e nt -Wi d e Stafements

Capital assets, which include property, plant, and equipment, are reported in the government-wide
financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial cost of more
than $5,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. All capital assets are valued at historical
cost, or estimated historical cost if actual amounts are unavailable. Donated capital assets are recorded
at their estimated acquisition value at the date of donation,

Additions to and replacements of capital assets of business-type activities are recorded at original cost,
which includes material, labor, overhead, and an allowance for the cost of funds used during construction
when significant, For tax-exempt debt, the amount of interest capitalized equals the interest expense
incurred during construction netted against any interest revenue from temporary investment of borrowed
fund proceeds. lnterest of $35,289 was capitalized during the current year. The cost of renewals and
betterments relating to retirement units is added to plant accounts. The cost of property replaced, retired
or otherwise disposed of, is deducted from plant accounts and, generally, together with removal costs
less salvage, is charged to accumulated depreciation,
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE I - SummlRv oF SrcNrFrcAxr AccouHrrruc Porrcres (cont.)

D. Assers, Derennpo Ourptows oFREsouRcEs, LtABtLtflEs, DEFERRED INFLows oFREsouRcEs,
AND NET POSIT|ON OR EAUrrv(COnt,)

5. Capital Assefs (cont.)

Govern m ent -Wide Sfafements (cont. )

Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets is recorded as an allocated expense in the statement of
activities, with accumulated depreciation reflected in the statement of net position. Depreciation is
provided over the assets' estimated useful lives using the straight-line method of depreciation. The range
of estimated useful lives by type of asset is as follows:

Buildings
Land lmprovements
Machinery and Equipment
Utility System
Infrastructure
lntangibles

30-50 Years
20-30 Years
3-15 Years
15-100 Years
20-50 Years
2-15 Years

Fund Financial Statements

ln the fund financial statements, capital assets used in governmental fund operations are accounted for
as capital outlay expenditures of the governmentalfund upon acquisition, Capital assets used in
proprietary fund operations are accounted for the same way as in the government-wide statements.

6. Deferred Outflows of Resources

A deferred outflow of resources represents a consumption of net position/fund balance that applies to a
future period and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until that future
time.

A deferred charge on refunding arises from the advance refunding of debt. The difference between the
cost of the securities placed in trust for future payments of the refunded debt and the net carrying value of
that debt is deferred and amortized as a component of interest expense over the shorter of the term of the
refunding issue or the original term of the refunded debt. The unamortized amount is reported as a
deferred outflow of resources in the proprietary fund financial statements,
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NOTES TO FINANCIAT STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2017

NOTE I - Sunaulny or SrorrrrclNT AccouNTtNG PoLrcrEs

D, AssErs, Dereaneo OurFLows oFREsouRcEs, LtABtLtrtEs, DEFERRED lttrtows oFREsouRcEs,
AND NET Pognov oR Eoulrr(cont.)

7, CompensatedAbsences

Under terms of employment, employees are granted paid time off in varying amounts. Only benefits
considered to be vested are disclosed in these statements,

All vested paid time off is accrued when incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial
statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in governmental funds only if they have matured, for
example, as a result of employee resignations and retirements and are payable with expendable available
resources.

Payments for paid time off will be made at rates in effect when the benefits are used. The liabilities at
December 31,2017 are determined on the basis of current salary rates and include salary related
payments,

8. Long-Term Obligattons/Qonduit Debt

All long-term obligations to be repaid from governmental and business-type resources are reported as
liabilities in the government-wide statements, The longterm obligations consist primarily of notes and
bonds payable and accrued compensated absences.

Long-term obligations for governmental funds are not reported as liabilities in the fund financial
statements. The face Value of debts (plus any premiums) are reported as other financing sources and
payments of principal and interest are reported as expenditures. The accounting in proprietary funds is
the same as it is in the government-wide statements.

For the government-wide statements and proprietary fund statements, bond premiums and discounts are
amodized over the life of the issue using the straight-line method. The balance at year end is shown as
an increase or decrease in the liability section of the statement of net position.
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NOTE l- Suuuenv oF SrcNrFrcANTAccouNTrNG PoLrcrEs (cont.)

D. Assgrs, Drrenneo Ourptows oFREsouRces, Lteeunes, DeFeRneo lxrtows oFREsouRcEs,
AND NEf Pog/nov oR Eourrv(cont,)

8. Long-Term Obligations/Conduit Debf (cont.)

The city has approved the issuance of industrial revenue bonds (lRB) for the benefit of private business
enterprises. IRB's are secured by mortgages or revenue agreements on the associated projects, and do
not constitute indebtedness of the city. Accordingly, the bonds are not reported as liabilities in the
accompanying financial statements. The total amount of IRB's outstanding at the end of the year is made
up of the following issues:

Original
Principal
Amount

Principal
Amount

Outstanding
Name Date Maturity at1 2-31-17

Suzy's Gheesecakes
Marquettel3 LLC and Towerl3 LLC

02t21t14
12t29t17

$ 2,200,000
6,300,000

02t1t44
12t1t37

1,978,861
6,300,000

q

$ 8,278,861

9. Pollutlon Remedlation Obllgatlons

As of December 31, 2017, the city was obligated to address the future pollution cleanup activities at its
water treatment plant site due to federal and state laws and regulations, The city's obligation originated in
2016 to address the pollution remediation because the government unit has been determined to be the
responsible party which compels the city to participate in remediation, Examples of expected future
remediation activity costs include legal services, site investigation and required post-remediation
monitoring costs, The amount reported as a pollution remediation obligation represents the current value
of the expected cash flows to be paid for these activities. Any expected recoveries would be treated
separately as a receivable when such reimbursements become measurable. As of December 31,2017,
the obligation was $1,589,204 with no related receivable, The city will recognize these liabilities and
related expenses as an operating expense in the water utility financial statements only when such costs
become measurable. Because of this, the liability is subject to change as the city becomes aware of new
information which may affect its estimate, Actual cost may be higher due to inflation, changes in

technology or changes in regulations.

'10, Defeted lnflows of Resources

A deferred inflow of resources represents an acquisition of net position/fund balance that applies to a
future period and therefore will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that future
time.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE I - Surrrunny oF SrcNrFrcAHr Accounrrle Poucres (cont.)

D, AssErs, DerenneoOurrtows oFREsouRcEs, LteaLr/Es,DeFeRneDlNFLows oFREsouRcEs,
aruo NsrPostrtoN oR Eoulrr(cont.)

1 1. Equity Classificafions

G ov e r n m e n t-W I d e Sfatem ents

Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components:

a, Net investment in capital assets - Consists of capital assets including restricted capital
assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances (excluding
unspent debt proceeds) of any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other borrowings that are
attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets,

b. Restricted net position - Consists of net position with constraints placed on their use either by
1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other
governments or, 2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

c. Unrestricted net position - All other net position that do not meet the definition of "restricted"
or "net investment in capital assets."

The net position section includes an adjustment for capital assets owned by the business-type activities
column but financed by debt of the governmental activities column. The amount is a reduction of "net
investment in capital assets," and an increase in "unrestricted" net position, shown only in the total
column. A reconciliation of this adjustment is as follows:

Governmental
Activities

Business-type
Activities Adjustment Total

$ 68,004,547 $ 91,977,717 $ (2,080,715) $ 157,901,549

(15,506,823) 23,443,244 2,080,715 10,017,136

Net lnvestment in capitalassets
Unrestricted (deficit)

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the city's policy to use
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed,

Fund Statements

Governmental fund balances are displayed as follows:

a. Nonspendable - lncludes fund balance amounts that cannot be spent either because they
are not in spendable form or because legal or contractual requirements require them to be
maintained intact,

b. Restricted - Consists of fund balances with constraints placed on their use either by 1)
external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other
governments or 2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As ofand forthe Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE I - Suruulnv or Srcrurrrclnr AccoumrrNo Poucres (cont.)

D, Asserg Derennpo Ourrtows opRssouRcEs, LtABtLtrtEs, DEFERRED lNFLows oFREsouRcEs,
AND NET Pos,rroil on Eoulrv(cont.)

1 1. Equity Classifications (cont.)

Fund Statemenfs (cont,)

c. Committed - lncludes fund balance amounts that are constrained for specific purposes that
are internally imposed by the government through formal action of the highest level of
decision making authority. Fund balance amounts are committed through a formalaction
(resolution) of the city, This formal action must occur prior to the end of the reporting period,
but the amount of the commitment, which will be subject to the constraints, may be
determined in the subsequent period, Any changes to the constraints imposed require the
same formal action of the Council that originally created the commitment.

d. Assigned - lnoludes spendable fund balance amounts that are intended to be used for
specific purposes that do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed.
The City Council has, by resolution, adopted a financial policy authorizing the City
Administrator or Finance Director to assign amounts for a specific purpose. Assignments may
take place after the end of the reporting period.

e. Unassigned - lncludes residual positive fund balance within the general fund which has not
been classified within the other above mentioned categories, Unassigned fund balance may
also include negative balances for any governmental fund if expenditures exceed amounts
restricted, committed or assigned for those purposes,

Proprietary fund equity is classified the same as in the government-wide statements.

The city considers restricted amounts to be spent first when both restricted and unrestricted fund
balance is available unless there are legal documents / contracts that prohibit doing this, such as in
grant agreements requiring dollar for dollar spending. Additionally, the city would first use committed,
then assigned and lastly unassigned amounts of unrestricted fund balance when expenditures are
made.

The city has a formal minimum fund balance policy. That policy is to maintain a working capital fund of
'15% to 25o/o ol total general fund annual revenues plus the amount of state shared revenue during the
previous year. ln the previous year, general fund annual revenues were $21,578,830 and the state
shared revenue was $5,266,417, for a total ol $26,845,247. At year end, amounts available for working
capital and included in unassigned general fund balance totaled $4,795,437, or 17.86%.

12. Pension

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability (asset), deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position

of the Wisconsin Retirement System (WRS) and additions to/deductions from WRS'fiduciary net position

have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by WRS. For this purpose, benefit
payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in
accordance with the benefit terms, investments are reported at fair value.
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2017

NOTE ll- SrEwlnosnre, CoMpLrANcE, eno AecounrABrLrw

A. BUDGEnARYINFoRMAfloN

A budget has been adopted for the following funds in accordance with Wisconsin Statute 65.90,

General Fund
Special Revenue Funds

Emergency Medical Services Fund
Solid Waste Funds
Donation and Activity Fund
WE Energies Fund
Low lncome Loan Fund
Park Escrow Fund
Special Assessment Fund
Economic lmprovement Fund
lmpact Fee Escrow Fund
Asset Forfeiture Fund
Storm Water Fund
Tourism Commission Fund

Debt Service Funds
Debt Service Fund
Debt Amortization Fund
TIF No, 4 Debt Service Fund
TIF No. 6 Debt Service Fund

Capital Projects Fund
Capital lmprovement Fund
TIF No. 7 Capital Projects Fund
TIF No. I Capital Projects Fund
TIF No, 10 Capital Projects Fund
TIF No. 11 Capital Projects Fund
TIF No, 12 Capital Projects Fund

A budget has not been formally adopted for the TIF No, '13 Capital Projects Fund as of December 31,
2017.
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE ll - Srewnnosxre, GoMpLlANcE, lno Accour.rrABrLlry (cont.)

B. ExcEss ExpeuotrunEs OVER AppRopRtATtoN

Budgeted
Expenditures

Actual
Expenditures

Excess
Expenditures

Over BudgetFund

Special Revenue Funds
Emergency Medical Services Fund
$olid Waste Fund
We Energies Fund

Storm Sewer Fund

lmpact Fee Escrow Fund
Donation and Activity Fund
Consolidated Dispatch $ervices Fund

Debt Service Funds

TIF No. 6 Debt Service Fund

Capital Projects Funds

Capital lmprovement Fund

Developer lmprovement Fund

TIF No, 7 Capital Project Fund

TIF No, 11 Capital Project Fund
TIF No. 12 Capital Project Fund

$ 4
1

1

826,296
346,892
105,793
656,595

1,458,355

25,150

4,943,047

362,621
9,411,175
2,160,933

$ 4,859,595 $
1,356,630
1,193,442

672,609

6,016
329,856

1,479,556

27,540

10,72A,181

59,506
377,073

'10,530,064

2,584,945

33,299
9,738

87,649
16,014

6,0'16
329,856
21,201

2,390

5,777,134
59,506
14,452

1,118,889
424,012

The city controls expenditures at the function level, Some individual functions experienced expenditures
which exceeded appropriations. The detail of those items can be found in the city's year-end budget to
actual report,
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE ll - Srewnnosxrp ComplnHc lNo AccouNTABILtw

C, DeacrBatAwcEs

Generally accepted accounting principles require disclosure of individual funds that have deficit balances
at year end.

As of December 31, 2017, the following individual funds held a deficit balance:

Fund Amount Reason

Debt Service Fund

TIF No. 4 Debt Service Fund $ 373 Excess of expenditures over revenues
Capital Project Fund

Capital lmprovement Fund 1,631,809 Excess of expenditures over revenues
TIF No. I Capital Projects Fund 1,242,554 Excess of expenditures over revenues
Developer Agreements Fund 15,968 Excess of expenditures over revenues
TIF No, 13 Capital Projects Fund 30,468 Excess of expenditures over revenues

The Capital lmprovement Fund deficit is anticipated to be funded with future borrowings, TIF dishict
deficits are anticipated to be funded with future incremental taxes levied over the life of the districts, which
is 27 years for the districts created before October 1, 1995, and 23 years for districts created through
September 30, 2004. Beginning October 1,2004, the life of new districts varies by type of district (20-27
years) and may be extended in some cases. The Developer Agreements Fund deficit is anticipated to be
funded with future developer receipts.

D, Ltnranous ox rneCrv'sTAx LEw

Wisconsin law limits the city's future tax levies. Generally the city is limited to its prior tax levy dollar
amount (excluding TIF Districts), increased by the greater of the percentage change in the city's
equalized value due to new construction or zero percent. Changes in debt service from one year to the
next are generally exempt from this limit with certain exceptions, The city is required to reduce its
allowable levy by the estimated amount of fee revenue it collects for certain services, if those services
were funded in 2013 by the property tax levy. Levies can be increased above the allowable limits if the
amount is approved by referendum.

Page 31



CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE lll - DErrrleo Nores oru Au- FUNDS

A. DEposrsIruD INuESTMENTS

The city maintains a cash and investment poolthat is available for use by all funds. Each fund type's
portion of this pool is displayed on the statement of net position and balance sheet as cash and
investments.

The city's cash and investments at year end were comprised of the following:

Carrying
Value

Bank
Balance

Associated
Risks

Demand deposits
Certificates of deposit - negotiable

Certificates of deposit - non-negotiable
U.S. treasuries

U.S. agencies

Asset backed securities

Corporate bonds

Local Government lnvestment Pool
Petty eash

Total Cash and lnvestments

Reconciliation to financial statements
Per statement of net position
Unrestricted cash and investments
Restricted cash and investments

Per statement of assets and liabilities -
Agency Fund

$ 18,857,062 $
2,892,170

125,060
8,824,157

997,108

6,559,960

5,005,1 18

46,108,596
o 130

$ 89,375,361 $ 88,434,777

$ 48,916,850
3,601,103

36,857,408

17,922,608 Custodial credit
2,892,170 Credit, interest rate,

concentration of credit, highly
sensitive to interest rate
changes

125,060 Custodial credit
8,824,157 Custodial credit, interest rate,

Highly sensitive to interest
rate changes

997, 1 08 Credit, custodial credit,
interest rate, highly
sensitive to interest rate
changes, concentration
of credit

6,559,960 Credit, custodial credit,
interest rate, concentration
of credit

5,005, 1 1 8 Credit, custodial credit,
interest rate, concentration
of credit

46,108,596 Credit
. N/A

Total Cash and lnvestments $ 89,375,361
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAI STATEMENTS
As ofand forthe Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE lll - DETATLED NorEs oN ALL FuNos (cont.)

A. DEposrrs AND lvvEsruervrs (cont.)

Deposits in each local and area bank are insured by the FDIC in the amount of 9250,000 for time and
savings accounts (including NOW accounts) and $250,000 for demand deposit accounts (interest-bearing
and noninterest-bearing), ln addition, if deposits are held in an institution outside of the state in which the
government is located, insured amounts are further limited to a total of $250,000 for the combined
amount of all deposit accounts,

Bank accounts are also insured by the State Deposit Guarantee Fund in the amount of $400,000.
However, due to the nature of this fund, recovary of material principal losses may not be significant to
individual municipalities. This coverage has been considered in computing custodial credit risk

The city has an agreement with Tri City National Bank, Oak Creek, where city deposits are collateralized
by government securities owned by Tri City Capital Corp., a wholly owned investment subsidiary of Tri
City National Bank. The investment portfolio is maintained with BMO Harris Bank, Milwaukee.

CustodialCredit Risk

Deposits

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a financial institution failure, the city's deposits may not
be returned to the city,

The city does not have any deposits exposed to custodial credit risk.

lnvestments

For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the
city will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the
possession of an outside party.

The city does not have any investments exposed to custodial credit risk.

Credlt RisR

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligation, As of
December 31,2017 the city's investments were rated as follows:

Standard Fitch

lnvestment TVpe & Poor's Ratinqs Moody's

Federal Home Loan Bank
Federal National Mortgage Association
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp.
Asset backed securities
Corporate bonds

AA
AA
AA

A+-AA
A-AA

AAA
AAA
AAA

AA--AA
A-AA

AAA
MA
AAA
AA2

BM * AAA
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE lll- Deretuo Nores oru All Funos

A. Deposrrs AND lvvEsruE\rrs (cont.)

Credit Risk (cont.)

The city also held investments in the following external poolwhich is not rated:

Local Government lnvestment Pool
Certificates of deposit - negotiable

Concentratlon of Credif Risk

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government's investment in
a single issuer,

At December 31, 2017 , the investment portfolio did not contain any single issuer in excess of 5% of total
investments,

lnterest Rate Rislr

lnterest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment.

As of December 31, 2017, the city's investments were as follows:

Maturity (ln years)

lnvestment Type Fair Value
Less than

1 year 1- 10 > 10 years

U.S. treasuries
U.S. agencies
Asset backed securities
Certificates of deposit -

negotiable
Corporate bonds

8,924,157 $
997,1 08

6,559,960

2,892,170
5,005,118

4,193,997 $

214,649

2,842,244
1 ,41 7,093

4,630,160 $
997,1 08

1,794,713

49,926
3,588,025

$

4,550,638

Totals $ 24,278 ,513 $ 8,667,943 $ 11,059,932 $ 4,550,638

The city categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally
accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair
value of the asset" Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets: Level 2 inputs
are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. The valuation
method for recurring fair value measurements of investments is the quoted market prices approach.
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As ofand forthe Year Ended Decernber 31,2017

NOTE lll - DETATLEo Nores ox At-u Fuxos (cont.)

A, Deposrrs AND lNvEsrME rrs (cont.)

lnterest Rate Risk (cont.)

The City's investments are categorized are as follows:
December 31,2017

lnvestment Tvoe Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

U.S, treasuries
U,S. agencies
Asset backed securities
Certificate of deposit - negotiable
Corporate bonds

Total

$ $ 8,824,157
997,108

6,559,960
2,892,170
5,005,1 18

$ 24,278,513

$ $ 8,824,157
997,1 08

6,559,960
2,892,170
5,005,118

$ $ $ 24,278,513

lnvestments Hlghly Sensiflve to lnterest Rate Changes Risk

At December 31,2017, the City held $2,892,170, $8,824,157, and $997,108 in negotiable certificates of
deposits, U.S. treasuries, and U.S, agencies, respectively. With allfixed income securities, as interest
rates rise, the values will fall. The longer the time to maturity, the more sensitive the values will be to a
change in interest rates. The longest time to maturity on any holdings is 3 years, maturing October 3'1,

2021.
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE lll - DErlLeD NorEs on Au- FuNos cont.

B, RFCE,YAALES

Receivables as of year end for the governmental-type individual major funds and nonmajor funds in the
aggregate are as follows: 

Totar Amounts Not Expected

Net To be Collected
Receivables Within one year

General Fund
Emergency Medical Services Fund

Debt Service Fund

Capital lmprovement Fund

TIF No. I Capital Projects Fund

TIF No, 11 Capital Prpjects Fund

Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Total

$ 14,034,980 $
3,969,405

850,000
106,415

628,549
2,806,159

5,450,033 35'1,662

12,569

$ 27,845,541 $ 364,231

Revenues of the city are reported net of uncollectible amounts. Accounts receivable in the Emergency
Medical Services Fund have been adjusted by $202,611 for an allowance for uncollectible accounts. No
other allowance is necessary at year-end.

Governmental funds report unavailable or unearned revenue in connection with receivables for revenues

that are not considered to be available to liquidate liabilities of the current period. Property taxes levied for
the subsequent year are not earned and cannot be used to liquidate liabilities of the current period,

Governmental funds also defer revenue recognition in connection with resources that have been
received, but not yet earned, At the end of the current fiscal year, the various components of unavailable
revenue and unearned revenue reported in the governmental funds were as follows:

Unearned Unavailable

Property taxes and special charges
receivable for subsequent year

Accounts receivable not collected
Special assessments not yet due
Loans receivable not collected

Total Unearned/Unavailable Revenue
for Governmental Funds

Unearned revenue included in liabilities
Unearned revenue included in deferred

inflows

Total Unearned Revenue for
Governmental Funds

$ 24,456,123 $ 847,677

$ 24,455,883 $
,oo- 464,752

376,422
6,503

$ 240

24,455,883

$ 24,456j23
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE lll - DerarueD NorEs oN ALL Furos (cont.)

C. ResrnlcrsoAssers

The following represent the balances of the restricted assets:

Long Term Debt Accounts

Redemption Used to segregate resources accumulated for debt service payments over
the next twelve months.

Reserve Used to report resources set aside to make up potentialfuture deficiencies in
the redemption account.

lmpact Fee Account

The city has received impact fees which must be spent in accordance with the local ordinance and state
statutes, Any unspent funds must be refunded to the current property owner,

Assef Fortaiture Account

The city has received asset forfeitures which must be used for specific purposes.

Following is a list of restricted assets at December 31,2017:

Business-
tYPe

Activities Total

$ $ 91,309
850,954

Governmental
Activities

Redemption account
Reserve account
lmpact fee account
Asset forfeiture account

Total

2,592,260
66,580

$ 91,309
850,954

2,592,260
66,580

$ 2,658,840 S-91a263 $ 3,601,103

Page 37



CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE lll - DETATLEo Nores oN ALL FuHos (cont,)

D, CnplrerAssers

Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31,2017 was as follows:

Beginning
Balance Additions

Governmental Activities
Capital assets not being depreciated

Land
Construction in progress

Total CapitalAssets Not Being
Depreciated

9,696,714

Deletions
Ending
Balance

$ 24,963,323 $
360,593

$ - $ 24,963,323
360,593 9,696,714

25,323,916 9,696,714 360,593 34,6.60,037

Capital assets being depreciated
Land improvements
Buildings
lntangible Asset - Easements
Machinery and equipment
Bridges
Roads
Sidewalks
Street lighting
Storm sewers

Total Capital Assels Being
Depreciated

Less: Accumulated depreciation for
Land improvements
Buildings
lntangible Asset - Easements
Machinery and equipment
Bridges
Roads
Sidewalks
Street lighting
Storm sewers

Total Accumulated Depreciation

Net Capital Assets Being
Depreciated

Total Governmental Activities
Assets, Net of Accumulated
Depreciation

2,079,302
44,252,833

5,400
20,718,356

286,370
74,596,728
4,531,996
7,018,715

25,489,908

'l ,988,013
44,532,671

5,400
21,305,229

296,370
76,050,656
4,570,192
7,125,995

25,734,701

91,289
279,838

1,579,423 992,550

1,711,198
38,186

107,280
244,793

257,270

178,979,608 3,960,718 1,341,109 181,599,2'17

(1,052,958)
(6,983,616)

(5,400)
(12,527,987)

(31,504)
(1 1,363,192)

(2,304,571)
(3,490,'133)

(11,252,167)

('t34,460)
(1,195,142)

(1,706,2A7)
(2,864)

(1,174,778)
(71,482)

(270,996)
(482,255)

84,304
(88,068)

(1,103,114)
(8,266,826)

(5,400)
(13,078,763)

(34,368)
(12,384,435)

(2,376,053)
(3,761,1 19)

(11,734,422\

1,155,471

1 53,535

(49,011,528) (5,038,214) 1,305,242 (52,744,500)

't29,968,080 (1,077 ,496) 35,867 128,854,717

$-1$'quff3$ 155,291,996 $ 8,61 9.218 $ 396,460

Page 38
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE lll - DErerueD NorEs oN ALL FUNDs (cont.)

D. CnnrntAssErs(cont.)

Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows:

Govsrnmental Activlties

General government
Public safety
Health and social services
Public works
Leisure activities

Total Governmental Activities Depreciation Expense

Beginning

Water

Capital assets not being depreciated
Land and land rights
Construction in progress

Total Capital Assets
Not Being Depreciated

1,412,283

1,412,283 1,117,636 1,617,943

$ 978,286
1,164,399

1 ,100
2,606,998

287,442

$ 5,038,214

Additions De s
Ending
Balance

$ 255,324
1,067,872

$ $ 12,574 $
1 ,105,062

242,750
1,375,093

Capital assets being depreciated
Source of supply
Pumping
Treatment
Transm ission and d istribution
General

Total Capital Assets
Being Depreciated

Total CapitalAssets

Less: Accumulated depreciation for
Source of supply
Pumping
Treatment
Transmission and d istribution
General

Total Accumulated Depreciation

113,827,263 1,258,860 433,749

1 15,150,459 2,671,143 1,551,385

7,206,417
8,993,692

24,947,029
67,802,597
4,877,528

1,229,973
28,987

121,077
42,249 4. 864,166

149,842
120,581

7,056,575
9,973,111

24,947,029
68,911,493

114,652,374

116,270,217

(2,300,983)
(4,396,575)

(10,294,637)
(16,357,467)

(226,224)
(247,815)
(811,087)

(1,102,379)

149,842
120,591

121,077

(2,377,365)
(4,523,809)

(11,105,724)
(17,338,769)

(3,060,064)42 249(2,966,184) (136,129)
(3_6,315,846) (2,523,634) 433 749 (38,405,731)

509 $'t,117,636 $ 77,864,486Net Water Plant $ 78,834,613 $ 147
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2017

NOTE lll - DETATLEo Nores oN ALL FUNDs (cont.)

D. CnnratAssers(cont.)

Sewer

Capital assets not being depreciated
Land and land rights
Construction in progress

Total CapitalAssets
Not Being Depreciated

Capital assets being depreciated
Collection system
Collection system pumping
General

Total CapitalAssets
Being Depreciated

Total Capital Assets

Less: Accumulated depreciation for
Collection system
Collection system pumping
General

Total Accu mulated Depreciation

Net Sewer Plant

Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions

Ending
Balance

$ 13,145 $
13,050

13,145
11,845

$
J4;449

$
450,352

26,1 95 449,147 450,352 24,990

43,316,728
242,1V0
618,217

448,013 15,774 43,748,967
242,170
61 1,3702,339 9,1 86

44,177,115 450,352 24,960 44,642,507

44,243 310 899,499 475,312 44,627,497

(1 0,682, 1 58)
(237,788)
(356,902)

. (11,276,8+8)

$ 32,926,462

(452,344)
(2,011)

(42,364)

(11,118,728)
(239,799)
(390,089)

(11,748,607)

15,774

9,1 86
(496,719) 24,960

$ 402,780 $ 450,352 $ 32,878,890

Business{ype Capital Assets,
Net of Depreciation $ 111,761,075 $ 550,289 $ 1,567,988 $ 110,743,376

Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows:

Business-type Activities
Water
Sewer

$ 2,497,439
541 553

Total Business-type Activities
Depreciation Expense $ 3,038,992

Depreciation expense does not agree to the increase in accumulated depreciation due to joint metering,
salvage and the cost of removal.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2017

NOTE lll - DETATLED NorEs oN ALL FuHos (cont,)

E. lvrrnrunp Recaveates/PevAatEs, Innrsrens, exo Aovnuces

The following is a schedule of interfund receivables and payables and advances including any overdrafts
on pooled cash and investment accounts:

Amount Not
Due Within

Receivable Fund

Generalfund
Generalfund

Generalfund

Generalfund

Generalfund

Generalfund

Generalfund

Generalfund
Special revenue fund -

Economic development fund
Water utility

Water utility
Sewer utility
Sewer utility

Sewer utility

Water utility

Sewer utility
Sewer utility
lnternal service fund -

Health lnsurance
lnternal service fund -

Health lnsurance

Pavable Fund

Water utility
Sewer utility
Capital projects fund - TIF #B

capital projects fund
Special revenue fund -

Qonsolidated dispatch services
Capital projects fund - Capital

improvement fund
Capital projects fund - TIF #13

capital projects fund
Capital projects fund - Developer

agreement fund
Debt service fund - TIF #4

debt service fund
Capital projects fund - TIF #7

capital projects fund
Generalfund
Capital projects fund - Capital

improvement fund
Generalfund
Storm water fund
Capital projects fund - Capital

improvement fund
Special revenue fund - Special

assessment fund
Special revenue fund - Special

assessment fund
Water utility

Water utility

Sewer utility

Amount One Year

$ 1 ,681,121 $
5,484

1,243,149

34,828

366,857

29,454

1,194

372

314,900
265,978

22,237
178,698

2,101

23,733

279,1 89

75,1 39
119,467

127,482

31,870

4,802,253

(2,109,221)
(1,739,241)

1,243,149

34,828

366,857

29,454

1,194

372

314,900

188,989

45,391
117,067

Total- Fund Financial Statements

Less: Fund eliminations
Government-wide eli minations

Total lnternal Balances - Government-Wide
Statement of Net Position $ 953,791
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE lll - DETATLEo Nores on Alu Funos (cont,)

E. INTERFUND Recetveates/PeyABLEs, InAffsreRs, elto Aovauces (cont.)

The principal purpose of these interfunds includes the tax equivalent payment from the utilities to general
fund and special assessment collections by the special assessment fund for the utilities. Remaining
balances resulted from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and services are provided
or reimburgable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and (3)
payments between funds are made,

The following is a schedule of interfund transfers:

Fund Transferred To Fund Transferred From Amount Principal Puroose

Generalfund
Special revenue fund -

Donation and activity fund

Debt service fund

Debt service fund
Capital projects fund -

Capital improvements fund
Capital projects fund -

Capital improvements fund
Capital projects fund -

Capital improvements fund

Capital projects fund -
Capital improvements fund

Capital projects fund -
Capital improvements fund

Capital projects fund -
Capital improvements fund

Capital projects fund -
Capital improvements fund

Capital projects fund -
Capital improvements fund

Capital projects fund -
Capital improvements fund

Capital projects fund -
Capital improvements fund

Capital projects fund -
Capital improvements fund

Capital projects fund -
Capital improvements fund

Water utility

Generalfund
Debt service fund'

Debt amortization fund
Special revenue fund -

lmpact fee escrow fund

Generalfund
Special revenue fund -

lmpact fee escrow fund
Special rev€nue fund -

WE energies fund

Special revenue fund *
Special assessment fund

Debt service fund
Debt service fund -

Debt amortization fund
Special revenue fund -

Park escrow
Special revenue fund -

Storm water fund
Capital projects fund -

TIF #13 capital projects
fund

Special revenue fund -
Economic development
fund

Capital proJects fund -
TIF #10 capital projects

fund
Capital projects fund -

TIF #12 capital projects
fund

$ 1,663,609 Tax equivalent

109,165 Performance pay funding
Finance debt service

6,346,563 requirements
Finance debt service

358,906 requirements

789,669 Finance of capital projects

371,725

1,000,000

130,423

2,624,492

653,437

242,168

325,000

Finance of capital projects

Finance of capital projects

Finance of capital projects

Finance of capital projects

Finance of capital projects

Finance of capital projects

Finance of capital projects

1,816,308 Finance of capital projects

80,000 Finance of capital projects

44,195 Finance of capital projects

462,795 Finance of capital projects
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE lll - DerruleD NorEs oN ALL Funos (cont.)

8.. lurearuno Recetveates/PayAatEs, IRlrsrens, ano Aovaxces (cont,)

Fund Transferred To Fund Transferred From Amount Principal Purpose
Special revenue fund -

Special revenue fund - Economic developmenl
Tourism Commission fund fund

Capital projects fund - Capital projects fund -
TIF #13 capital projects fund TIF #6 debt service fund

Special revenue fund -
Consolidated dispatch

services fund General fund
Subtotal - Fund financial statements

$ 187,780 Budgeting purposes

1,8'16,308 Donor / Donee

25,122 Budgeting purposes

Less: Fund eliminations

19,047,665

(17,384,056)

Total - Government-Wide Statement of Activities $ 1,663,609

Generally, transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that collects them to the fund that the
budget requires to expend them, (2) move receipts restricted to debt service from the funds collecting the
receipts to the debt service fund, and (3) use unrestricted revenues collected in the general fund to
finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations,

- Advances

The Sewer Utility advanced $2,500,000 to the Water Utility, dated Decembel|5, 2013, for various
construction projects. This advance will be repaid through annual installment payments of principal and
interest through December 15,2028. The annual interest rate was set by the Commission at ,34% and is
variable thereafter based on the LGIP rate. Effective December 31 , 2017, the Commission approved
1.460/0 as the interest rate on this advance.

The Utility's interfund loan repayment schedule to maturity is as follows:

Years Principal lnterest

2018
201 I
2020
2021
2022
2023-2027
2028

$ 117,067 $
117,465
117,865
193,265
218,923

1,306,424
262 142

34,064
32,355
30,640
28,919
26,097
79,767

3,827

Totals $ 2,333,151 235,669

The current portion of principal due is included in due to other funds, on the Statement of Net Position -
Proprietary Funds.
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NOTE lll - DETATLED NorEs oN ALL Fur.ros (cont.)

F, Loua-TennOeuaanous

Long-term obligations activity for the year ended December 31,2017 was as follows:

Beginning

Balance lncreases Decreases

Ending

Balarics

Amounts

Due Within

One Year

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

Bonds and Notes Payable:

Gen6ral obligation debtr

Notes and bonds

Add: Unamortized debt premium

Sub-Total

Other Liabilities

Vegted compensated absences

Other postemployment bonef itg

Net pension liability

Total Other Liabilities

Tolal Governmental Activities

Long-Term Liabilities

BUSIN ESS.TYPE ACTIVITIES

Bonds and Notes Payable:

Revenue bonds

Add: Unamortized debt Premium

Sub-Total

Other Liabilities

Olher postemployment benefits

Net pension liability

Pollution remediation obligation

Total Business-type Activities

Long-Term Liabilities

$ 97,330,000 $ 10,550,000

1,436,631 2,248
$ 6,030,000 $

105,640

101,850,000

1,333,199

$ 27,675,000

92,973

27,767,97398,766,631 10,552,208 6,135,640 103,183,199

519,172

1,290

91,455,792 3,270,598 3,794,074 30,932,316 519,'.t72

8 130,222,423 $ 13,822,806 $ 9,929,714 $ 134,115,515 $ 28,287,145

1,367,888 823,145

27,766,614 2,447,453

798,078

1,839,000

1,156,996

1,392,955

28,375,067

1.164.294

Beginning

Balance lncreases Decreasos

Ending

Balance

Amounts

Due Within

One Year

$ 1,454,289

13,410

1,467,699

$ 17,803,227 $ 2,882,968

47,926
't7,851 ,153 2,882,968 1,990,016 18,744,105

$ 1,965,940 $

24,076

18,720,255

23,850

1,0s7,420

242,200

235,543

10,000

183,000

122,125

1 '1,081

1,109,963

124,075

1,589,204

$ 20,741 ,058 $ 3,128,51 1 $ 2,306,222 $ 21,563,347 $ 1,467,699
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NOTE lll- DEraueD NorEs oN ALL FUNDs (cont.)

F, Loua-Tenu Oauennotts (cont.)

General Obllgatton Debt

All governmental general obligation notes and bonds payable are backed by the full faith and credit of the
city. Notes and bonds in the governmental funds will be retired by future property tax levies or tax
increments accumulated by the debt service fund. Business-type activities debt is payable by revenues
from user fees of those funds or, if the revenues are not sufficient, by future tax levles.

ln accordance with Wisconsin Statutes, total general obligation indebtedness of the city may not exceed
five percent of the equalized value of taxable property within the city's jurisdiction. The debt limit as of
December 31,2017 was $165,916,655. Total general obligation debt outstanding at year end was
$'101 ,850,000.

Original
Date of Final lnterest lndebted- Balance
lssue Maturitv Rates ness 12-31-17

Governmental Activities
General Obligation Debt

G.O, notes and bonds
2010 bonds
2013 refunding bonds
2013A notes
2013E notes
20148 refunding bonds
2015A refunding bonds
20158 notes
20'15C notes
2016A notes
20168 notes
2016C refunding bonds
2016D refunding bonds
201 7A notes
20178 refunding bonds

4to1t10
412t13
412t13

nt3an3
12t16t14
1t20/15
5t19t15
9t29t15
7t06t16
8/30/16
10t18t16
1 0i 1 8/16
7t6t17
8t1t17

4t01t30
4t01t32
4t01123
12t01122
5101t32
6t01t34
5t1t18
9t1t18

'12101t18
10/01t19
10t01t32
10t01t32
10t1t20
3t1t37

1,50-4.375o/o
2.00-3.75o/o
1.OA-2.75o/o
1.00-4.00o/o

2.00-3.375%
2.A0-4,jQo/o

2250%
2.125%
2.125o/o
2.000%

2.004.00o/o
2,00,3.150%

3.00%
3.85-4.00%

$ 7,000,000
5,825,000
3,000,000

10,000,000
2,725,000

19,650,000
8,900,000

10,500,000
5,750,000
5,1 00,000

17,125,004
5,925,000
4,900,000
2,900,000

$ 5,225,000
4,975,000
1,875,000
9,250,000
2,350,000

18,275,000
8,900,000

10,500,000
5,750,000
5,100,000

17,025,000
5,925,000
4,900,000

Total Governmental Activities - General Obligation Debt

z, 900,000

$101,850,000
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NOTE III - DETAILED NoTEs ON ALL Furqos (cont.)

F, Loxe-Tean Oeuaenons (cont.)

Qeneral Qbllgatlon Oebf (cont.)

Debt service requirements to maturity for general obligation notes and bonds are as follows:

Governmental Activitles
General Obligation Debt

Years Principal lnterest

2018

2019
2020

2021

2022
2023 -2027
2028-2032
2033 - 2037

Totals

$ 27,675,000 $
8,100,000

8,075,000
3,375,000
3,715,000

24,035,000

22,880,000

3,995,000

2,929,233

2,376,945

2,125,632

1,949,710
1,834,035

4,478,577
2,710,59'l

187,172

$101,8s0,009 $20,59'1,895:
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NOTE lll - DEretuo Norcs oN ALL FUNDs (cont.)

F. LaNB.TERM OBLtcATtoNs (cont.)

Revenue Debt

The city has pledged future water and sewer revenues, net of specified operating expenses, to repay
$18,720,255 in revenue bonds, Proceeds from the bonds provided financing for capital improvements.
The bonds are payable solely from revenues and are payable through May 1, 2034, The total principal
and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $23,08?,758. Principal and interest paid for the current
year and total customer net revenues were $2,522,660 and $6,748,480, respectively. Future principal and
interest payments are expected to require 20o/o of net revenues,

Revenue debt payable at December 31,2017 consists of the following:

Buslness-typ a Activities Reven ue Deht

Original
lndebted-

ness
lnterest
Rates

Balance
12-31-17

Water utility revenue bonds
Water utility revenue bonds
Water utility revenue bonds
Water utility revenue bonds
Water utility revenue bonds
Water utility revenue bonds

Total Business-type Activities Revenue Debt

Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:

Years

2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023 -2027
2028 -2432
2033 - 2034

Date of Final

_lssue Maturitv

1t13t10 5t1t29
3t15t11 1211t31
11123111 511t31

5t22t13 5t1t33
5t28t14 5t1t34
11t17t15 1t1t20

$ 791,863 $
6,500,000
5,889,583
2,594,795
'1,968,020

3,850,000

544,987
5,700,000
4,383,199
2,151 ,835
4,540,234
1,400,000

$ 18,720,255

2.6680/0
2.25-5.0Ao/o

2.20%
1,925%
1.9250/o

2.}Qo/o

Business-type Activities
Revenue Debt

Principal lnterest

$ 1,454,289 $
1,452,92A
1,231,836
'1,046,046

1,060,554
5,831,307
5,835,127

768,176

529,684
495,160
459,597
428,738
400,077

1,507,322
529,569

13,356

Totals $ 18,720,255 $ 4,362,503

Page 47



CITY OF OAK CREEK
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NOTE lll - DerAtLeD NorES oN ALL FUNDS (cont.)

F, LoNa-Tenm Oauaenotts (cont.)

Other Debt lnformation

Estimated payments for vested compensated absences, pension liabilities, and other postemployment
benefits are not included in the debt service requirement schedules. The vested compensated absences
and other postemployment benefits liabilities attributable to governmental activities will be liquidated
pdmarily by the generalfund.

Current Refundings

On August 1,2017 , the city issued $2,9 million of general obligation refunding bonds with an interest rate
of 4.00% to refund $2,75 million of outstandin g 2017 general obligation promissory notes with an interest
rate of 5.00% on the maturity date of the notes.

G. Lease Dlsct osunes

Lessor- Operatlng Leases - Governmental Activlties

The city has entered into an operating lease with AT&T Wireless to lease the premises of city property at
800 West Puetz Road. The term of the lease is 5 year.s commencing August 19, 2008. The lease shall be

automatically renewed for three additional four year terms unless AT&T Wireless notifies Oak Creek of its
intention not to renew. Future annual lease payments are as follows:

First term (years 1-5)
First renewal term (years 6-10)
Second renewalterm (years 11-15)
Third renewalterm (years 16-20)

$ 24,000
27,600
31,740
36,501

Lessor - O p e rati n g Leases - Busin ess -ty pe Actl v itl es

The water and sewer utility have entered into operating leases with Verizon Wireless (Mff), $print
Spectrum L.P. (SSLP), Cingular Wireless (CW) and Crown Castle (CC) for space on Utility reservoirs to
be used for cellular antennas. These leases terminate on November 30, 2020 (Mfi), March 24,2022
(SSLP), March 1,2020 (CW), February 26,2021 (CC), January 24,2018 (CC), January 24,2018 (QQl
and January 31,2028 (CW). Minimum future lease rentals are as follows:

2018 $ 269,694
2019 278,938
2020 234,428
2021 96,404
2022 67,374
2023-2027 345,536
2028 6,442
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NOTE lll - DErnrleD NorEs oN ALL Fur.ros

H. NET PosrrtoN/FaND Eluruces

Net position reportod on the government wide statement of net position at December 31,2017 includes
the following:

G overn m ental Activitles

Net lnvestment in CapitalAssets
Land
Other capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation
Less: Related longterm debt and premium outetanding (excluding non-capital debt)
Add: Unspent proceeds of capital-related debt included above

Total Net lnvestment in CapitalAssets

Restricted
Debt service
TID activity
lmpact fee escrow
Storm Water
Donation and activity
Asset forfeiture
Consolidated dispatch services
Low income loans

Total Restricted

U nrestricted (deficit)

Total Governmental Activities Net Position

Nonspendable Fund Balance
Major Funds

General Fund
lnventories
Delinquent personal property taxes
Non-current receivables from other funds

TotalGeneral Fund

Total Nonspendable Fund Balance

Governmental fund balances reported on the fund financial statements at December 31, 2017 include the
following:

$ 24,963,323
138,551,431

(101,102,484)
5, 592.277

68,004,547

1,446,185
1,821,391
2,592,260

130,449
1,846,486

67,061
32,286
7,925

7,943,943

(15,s06,829)

$ 60,441,667

$ 64,661
12,569

1,675,854

753 084

$ 1,753,084
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NOTE lll- DerlLpo NotEs oN ALL Fur.ros (cont.

H, r\lsrPosrnoN/FuNDBernruces(cont,)

G ove rn m e nta I Activ ltl as (cont. )

Restricted Fund Balance
Major Funds

Debt Amortization
TIF No. 11 Capital Projects
Debt Service Fund

Total Major Funds

Non-MaJor Funds
Special Revenue Funds

Donation and Activity
Low lncome Loan
lmpact Fee Escrow
Asset Forfeiture
Storm Water
Consolidated Dispatch Services

Debt Service Funds
TIF No. 6 Debt Service

Capital Projects Funds
TIF No. 7 Capital Projects
TIF No. 10 CapitalProjects
TIF No. 12 Capital Projects

Total Non-Major Funds

Total Restricted Fund Balance

Gommitted Fund Balance
Major Funds

Emergency Medical Services

Non-Major Funds
Special Revenue Funds

Solid Waste
WE Energies Fund
Special Assessment
Economic Development
Tourism Commission

Total Non-Major Funds

$ '1,506,146

4,444,262
323,025

6.27 3,433

1,846,486
7,825

2,592,260
67,061

130,449
32,286

274,200

284,319
631 ,1 66

2,053,921
7,919,973

$ 14,193,406

$ 349,530

101,218
102,916

1,998,825
922,917
253,793

3,379,669

199Total Committed Fund Balance $3.
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NOTE lll - DETATLEo Nores oN ALL FuHos (cont.)

H. Ner Posrtott/Fuuo Betauces (cont.)

Governmental Activities (cont.)

Assigned Fund Balance
Major Funds

General Fund
Tax equivalent for subsequent year

Total Assigned Fund Balance

Unassigned Fund Balance (Deficit)
Major Funds

General Fund
Capital lmprovement Fund (deficit)
TIF No. 8 Capital Projects (deficit)

Total Major Funds

Non-Major Funds
Debt Service Funds

TIF No. 4 Debt Service (deficit)
Capital Projects Funds

Developer Agreement (deficit)
TIF No. 13 Capital Projects (deficit)

Total Non-Major Funds

$ 1,663,609

$ 1,663,609

$ 4,795,437
(1,631,809)
(.242,554\
1,921,074

(373)

(15,968)
(30,468)
(46,809)

$ 1.874 ,265Total Unassigned Fund Balance (Deficit)
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NOTE lll- DETATLED NorEs oN ALL FuNos (cont.)

H, NEr PostnoN/Fuup Beurucss (cont.)

Eusiness-typ e Actlv iti es

Net lnvestment in CapitalAssets
Land and land rights
Construction in progress
Other capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation
Less: Payables and accruals for capital assets
Less: related long-term debt outstanding (excluding unspent capital

related debt proceeds, net of unamortized loss on debt refunding)
Total Net lnvestment in CapitalAssets

Restricted
Debt service

Total Restricted Fund Balance

Unrestricted

Total Businesstype Activities Net Position

$ 255,895
1,396,939

109,100,543
(59,334)

(18,706,325)
91,977 ,7'.17

917,621
917,621

23,443.244

$ 116,338,583,
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NOTE IV- Ornen INFoRMATION

A, EITpL?YEES, RETIREMENT Sysrsi'

General lnformatlon About the Penslon Plan

PIan descripfion. The WRS is a eost-sharing muttiple-employer defined benefit pension plan, WRS
benefits and other plan provisions are established by Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. Benefit
terms may only be modified by the legislature. The retirement system is administered by the Wisconsin
Department of Employee Trust Funds (ETF). The system provides coverage to all eligible State of
Wisconsin, local government and other public employees. All employees, initially employed by a
participating WRS employer on or after July 1, 2011, and expected to work at least 1,200 hours a year
and expected to be employed for at least one year from employee's date of hire are eligible to participate
in the WRS.

Vestlng, For employees beginning participation on or after January 1, 1990, and no longer actively
employed on or after April 24, 1998, creditable service in each of five years is required for eligibility for a
retirement annuity. Participants employed prior to 1990 and on or after April 24, 1998, and prior to July 1,

2011, are immediately vested. Participants who initially became WRS eligible on or after July 1, 201 I ,

must have five years of creditable service to be vested.

Benefits provided. Employees who retire at or after age 65 (54 for protective occupation employees, 62
for elected otficials and State executive participants) are entitled to receive an unreduced retirement
benefit. The factors influencing the benefit are: (1) final average earnings, (2) years of creditabte service,
and (3) a formula factor.

Final average earnings is the average of the participant's three highest years' earnings. Creditable service
is the creditable current and prior service expressed in years or decimal equivalents of partial years for
which a participant receives earnings and makes contributions as required. The formula factor is a
standard percentage based on employment category.

Employees may retire at age 55 (50 for protective occupation employees) and receive reduced benefits,
Employees terminating covered employment before becoming eligible for a retirement benefit may
withdraw their contributions and forfeit all rights to any subsequent benefits. The WRS also provides
death and disability benefits for employees.
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NOTE lV - OrHER INFoRMAnoN (cont.)

A, EutptoveEs' RErIREMEATT SysrElr (cont.)

Post-Retirement adjustments. The Employee Trust Funds Board may periodically adjust annuity
payments from the retirement system based on annual investment performance in accordance with s.
40.27, Wis, Stat, An increase (or decrease) in annuity payments may result when investment gains
(losses), together with other actuarial experience factors, create a surplus (shortfall) in the reserves, as
determined by the system's consulting actuary. Annuity increases are not based on cost of living or other
similar factors. For Core annuities, decreases may be applied only to previously granted increases, By
law, Core annuities cannot be reduced to an amount below the original, guaranteed amount (the "floor")
set at retirement. The Core and Variable annuity adjustments granted during recent years are as follows:

Year
Core Fund
Adjustment

Variable Fund
Adjuslment

10o/o

0
(42)
22
11
(71

9
25
2

(5)

Contributions. Required contributions are determined by an annual actuarialvaluation in accordance
with Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. The employee required contribution is one-half of the
actuarially determined contribution rate for General category employees and Executives and Elected
Officials. Starting January 1,2016, the Executives & Elected Officials category merged into the General
Employee category, Required contributions for protective employees are the same rate as general
employees. Employers are required to contribute the remainder of the actuarially determined contribution
rate. The employer may not pay the employee required contribution unless provided for by an existing
collective bargaining agreement.

During the reporting period, the WRS recognized $1,51 1,210 in contributions from the city.

Contribution rates as of Decernber 31,20'17 are:
Emoloyee Employer

2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
201 3
2014
2A15
2416

3.0%
6,6

(2.1)
(1 3)
(1.2)
(7.0)
(e.6)
4.7
2.9
0.5

General (Executives & Elected Otficials)
Protective with $ocial Security
Protective without Social Security

6.8%
6.8o/o

6.80/o

6.8%
1A.6%
14.9o/o
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NOTE lV - OTHER lNronurrrou (cont.)

A. Enptovees' REilREmErur Svsrem (cont. )

Pension Liability, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred lnflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

At December 31,2017, the city reported a liability of $1,284,369 for its proportionate share of the net
pension liability, The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2016, and the total pension
liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of
December 31, 2015 rolled forward to December 31, 2016. No materialchanges in assumptions or benefit
terms occurred between the actuarial valuation date and the measurement date. The city's proportion of
the net pension liability was based on the city's share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the
contributions of all participating employers, At December 31, 2016, the city's proportion was
0.15582489%, which was a decrease of 0.00193020% from its proportion measured as of December 31 ,

2015.

For the year ended December 31,2017, the city recognized pension expense of $3,335,553.

At December 31,2017 , the city reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred
Outflow of
Resources

Deferred
lnflow of

Resources

Ditferences between expected and actual experience $ 489.729 $ 4.039.230
Chanqes in assumptions 1,342,857
Net ditferences between projected and actual earnings
on oension olan investments 6.393,182
Changes in proportion and ditferences between
employer contributions and proportionate share of
contributions 179.872
Employer contributions subsequent to the
measurement date 1.663.744

Total $ 10.069,384 $ 4,039,230

$1,663,744 r'eported as deferred outflows related to pension resulting from the WRS Employe/s
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension
liability (asset) in the year ended December 31, 2018, Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pension will be recognized in pension expense as
follows:

Year ended
December 31:

Deferred Outflow
of Resources

Deferred
lnflow of

Resources
2018 $ 3,052.656 $ 1,289,582

2019 3.052.655 1.289,582
2020 2.492.711 1.289.582
2021 (195.403) 170,484
2022 3,021
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NOTE lV- Orxen lNFoRMArloN (cont.)

A, EnptoveEs' REnnEMEirr SvsrEM (cont.)

Actuarial assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2016, actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarialassumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Actuarial Valuation Date: December 31, 2015

Measurement Date of Net Pension Liability December 31, 2016

ActuarialCost Method: Entry Age

Asset Valuation Method Fair Market Value

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return: 7.2%

Discount Rate: 7.ZYo

Salary lncreases:
lnflation
Seniority/Merit

3.ZYo
Q.2o/o - 5.8o/o

Mortalitv: Wisconsin 2012 Mortalitv Table
2.1o/o

"No post-retirement adjustment is guaranteed. Actual adjustments are based on recognized investment return, actuarial experience
and other factors. 2.1% is the assumed annual adjuslmont bas6d on the investment relurn assumption and the post-retirement

discount rate.

Actuarialassumptions are based upon an experience study conducted in 2015 using experience from
2OA2 * 2014. The total pension liability for December 31, 2016 is based upon a roll{orward of the liability
calculated from the December 31, 2015 actuarial valuation.

Long.term expected Return on PIan Assets. The longterm expected rate of return on pension plan

investments was determined using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected
future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are

developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected
rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation
percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real
rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

Core Fund Asset Class
Current Asset
Allocation %

Destination
Target Asset
Allocation %

Long-Term
Expected Rate of

Return %
Long-Term Real
Rate of Return

Global Equities 5A% 45% 8,3o/o 5,4%

Fixed lncome 24.5 37 4.2 1.4

lnflation Sensitive Assets 15.5 20 4.3 1.5

Real Estate I 7 6.5 3.6

Private Equity/Debt 7 7 9.4 6.5

Multi-Asset 4 4 6.6 3.7

TotalCore Fund 110 120 7,4 4,5
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NOTE lV - Orxen INFoRMAnoH (cont.)

Variable Fund Asset Class
Current Asset
Allocation %

Destination
Target Asset
Allocation %

Long-Term
Expected Rate of

Return o/o
Long-Term Real
Rate of Return

US Equities 7Oo/o TOYo 7,6% 4.7%
lnternational Equities 30 30 8,5 5.6
TotalVariable Fund 100 100 7,9 5.0

A, EnptoveFs' RETTRE[tErvr SvsrEM (cont, )

New England Pension Consultants Long Term US CPI (lnflation) Forecasl: 2.757o
Assets Allocations are managed within established ranges, target percentages may differ from aclual monthly
allocations

Single Discount rate. A single discount rate ol7.20o/o was used to measure the total pension liability.
This single discount rate was based on the expected rate of return on pension plan investments of 7.20o/o

and a long term bond rate of 3.78%. Because of the unique structure of WRS, the 7 .2Qo/o expected rate of
return implies that a dividend of approximalely 2.1o/o will always be paid. For purposes of the single
discount rate, it was assumed that the dividend would always be paid. The projection of cash flows used
to determine this single discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current
contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the ditference between
actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on these assumptions, the pension
plan's fiduciary net position was ptojected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments
(including expected dividends) of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return
on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the
total pension liability.

Sensiffvify of the city's proportionate share of the net pension liability (assef/ to changes in the
dlscount rafe, The following presents the city's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset)
calculated using the discount rate of 7.20 percent, as well as what the city's proportionate share of the net
pension liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point
lower (6,20 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.20 percent) than the current rate:

1% Decrease to
Dlscount Rate

{6.20%)
Current Discount

Rate (7.20%)

1% lncrease To
Discount Rate

t8.200h1
City of Oak Creek's proportionate
share of the net pension liability
(asset) $ 16.896,699 $ 1,284.369 $ (10,737,832)

Pension plan fiduciary net posltion. Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net position
is available in separately issued financial statements available at http://etf.wi.gov/publications/cafr.htm.

At December 31,2017, the City reported a payable to the pension plan of $249,03'l which represents
contractually required contributions outstanding as of the end of the year.
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As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE IV - OrneN INFORMATION

B. RISX MIUaEEMENT

The city is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, or destruction of assets;
errors and omissions; workers compensation; and health care of its employees. The city purchases
commercial insurance to provide coverage for losses from torts; theft of, damage to, or destruction of
assets; errors and omission and workers compensation. Employee health and dentalcare are accounted
for and financed by the city in the health insurance internal service fund, which includes commercial
insurance and self-funding. Settled claims have not exceeded the commercial coverage in any of ths past
three years. There were no significant reductions in coverage compared to the prior year.

Self lnsurance

For health claims, the uninsured risk of loss is $100,000 deductible per individual and $4,219,902 in the
aggregate for a policy year. Claims in excess of those amounts are covered by specific reinsurance with
an unlimited lifetime maximum reimbursement. Settled claims have not exceeded the commercial
coverage in any of the past three years. There were no significant reductions in coverage compared to
the prior year.

All funds in the city participate in the health and dental insurance internal service fund. Amounts payable
to the health insurance fund are based on actuarial estimates of the amounts necessary to pay prior and
current year claims and to establish a reserve for catastrophic losses. $2,216,329 was designated for that
reserve at year end, and is included in unrestricted net position of the internalservice fund,

A liability for a claim is established if information indicates that it is probably that a liability has been
incurred at the date of the financial statements and the amount of the loss is reasonably estimable.
Liabiliiles include an amount for claims that have been incurred but not yet reported, The city does not
allocated overhead costs or other non-incremental costs to the claims liability,

Claims Liabtlity
Prior Year Cunent Year

Unpaid claims - Beginning of Year
Current year claims and changes in estimates
Claim payments

Unpaid Claims - End of Year $ 387,112 $ 385,392

$ 790,308 $
4,018,908

(4,422,1041

387,112
4,392,939

(4,394,659)
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As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2017

NOTE lV - Orxen lnronmnron (cont.)

B, RtsKMANAGemmr(cont.)

Wlsconsln Municipal lnsurance Commlsslon (WMIC)
Ci#es and Vlllages Mutual lnsurance Company (CVMIC)

The WMIC is an intergovernmental cooperation commission created by contract under Section 66.30 of
the Wisconsin Statutes, lt was created in August, 1987 for the purpose of facilitating the organization,
establishment and capitalization of the CVMIC, and has numerous cities and villages as members.

The CVMIC is a municipal mutual insurance company established on September 19, 1987 under Section
611,23 of the Wisconsin Statutes. The CVMIC provides liability insurance coverage to the cities and
villages which make up the membership of the WMIC,

The CVMIC is self-insured up to a maximum of $2,000,000 of each insurance risk, Losses paid by CVMIC
plus administrative expenses will be recovered through premiums to the participating pool of
municipalities.

Management of each organization consists of a board of directors or officers comprised of
representatives elected by each of three classes of participants based on population, The city does not
exercise any control over the activities of the agencies beyond the election of the otficers and board.

Financial statements of WMIC and CVMIC are available from the WMIC / CVMIC administrative office.

The city pays an annual premium to CVMIC for its general liability insurance, which provides coverage up
to $5,000,000 per occurrence, less the city's retained liability. The city's retained liability is limited to
$75,000 per occurrence and an annual aggregate limit of $250,000.

C. C)MMITMENTS AND CONTINGE,VC,ES

Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of Governmental Accounting
Standards Board pronouncements are met. The liability and expenditure for claims and judgments are
only reported in governmental funds if it has matured. Claims and judgments are recorded in the
government-wide statements and proprietary funds as expenses when the related liabilities are incurred.

From time to time, the city is party to various pending claims and legal proceedings. Although the
outcome of such matters cannot be forecasted with certainty, it is the opinion of management and the
city's legal counsel that the likelihood is remote that any such claims or proceedings will have a material
adverse effect on the city's financial position or results of operations.

The city has received federal and state grants for specific purposes that are subject to review and audit
by the grantor agencies. Such audits could lead to requests for reimbursements to the grantor agency for
expenditures disallowed under terms of the grants. Management believes such disallowances, if any,
would be immaterial,

The city has active construction projects as of December 31, 2017. Work that has been completed on
these projects but not yet paid for (including contract retainages) is reflected as accounts payable and
expenditures.

Page 59



CITY OF OAK CREEK
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As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE lV- Ornen lruronruafloN (cont.)

C. Couutruears AND CoNftNGEvcrEs (cont.)

Tax lncremental Financl ng

The City of Oak Creek through its Tax lncremental Financing Districts (TlD) 7 has entered into a tax
abatement agreement with developers in the form of a tax incremental financing incentive payment to
stimulate economic development. The abatements are authorized through the TID project plan and
development agreements, The developers guaranteed a property taxable value of $10,200,000. The
developers also pay property taxes as they become due, and afier constructing the building as stated in
the development agreements, are entitled to a future incentive payment that directly correlate to the taxes
paid. The incentives are calculated based on the inoement derived specifically from the parcels as
stated in the developer agreement. The developer receives payments back of 75% taxes paid, up to
$900,000 or as much as can be received by October 1,2020. Aggregate incentive payments for the year
ended December 31, 2017 were $105,465.

The City of Oak Creek through its Tax lncremental Financing District 8 has entered into a tax abatement
agreement with developers in the form of a tax incremental financing incentive payment to stimulate
economic development. The abatements are authorized through the TID project plan and development
agreement. The developer received $650,000 upon confirmation of job creation and City being awarded
a grant. The developer pays property taxes as they become due, and after constructing the building as
stated in the development agreement, is entitled to a future incentive payment that directly correlate to the
taxes paid. The incentives are calculated based on the increment derived specifically from the parcels as
stated in the developer agreement. The developer receives payments back of 75% taxes paid for 8 years
(2,023). Aggregate incentive payments for the year ended December 31,2017 were $235,516,

The City of Oak Creek through its Tax lncremental Financing Districts (TlD) 10 has entered into a tax
abatement agreement with developers in the form of a tax incremental financing incentive payments to
stimulate economic development. The abatements are authorized through the TID project plan and
development agreements, The developers guaranteed a 15 year lease of space and job retainment.
The developers are entitled to a future incentive payments that directly correlate to the taxes paid, The
incentives are calculated based on the increment derived specifically from the parcels as stated in the
developer agreement. The developer receives payments back of 750lo taxes paid, up to $1,800,000 or as
much as can be received by October 1,2023. Aggregate incentive payments for the year ended
December 31,2017 were $231,464.

The City of Oak Creek through its Tax lncremental Financing District '11 has entered into a tax abatement
agreement with developers in the form of a tax incremental financing incentive payment to stimulate
economic development. The abatements are authorized through the TID project plan and development
agreement. The developer received $5,300,000 upon ownership of said property and entering into
construction contracts and the construction process and agreed to meet a minimum assessed value
varying each year from 2016-2032 and thereafter. ln the event that the minimum assessed value is not
met, the developer has a minimum valuation shortfall obligation payable for that year, in an amount equal
to the difference between the real estate taxes that would have been due and payable had such real
estate taxes been determined using the minimum asses$ed values, and the actual real estate taxes.
Aggregate incentive payments for the year ended December 31,2017 were $0, ($5,300,000 was paid in
201 5).
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NOTE lV - OrHen lnronnarnon (cont.)

C, Conurupurs AND CoNTINGE rcrEs (cont.)

Tax lncremental Flnancing (cont.)

The City of Oak Creek through its Tax lncremental Financing District 11 has entered into a tax abatement
agreements with developers in the form of a tax incremental financing incentive payments to stimulate
economic development, The abatements are authorized through the TID project plans and development
agreement. The developers received $2,750,000 loan upon ownership of said property which will be
paid back to the City beginning in 2021 (annually for 20 years), Additionally, the developer will receive a

$4,500,000 grant from the City for project costs once the construction process has begun and
construction contracts are executed. The developer has agreed to meet a minimum assessed value of
$26,200,000 effective 2020 with a moderate increase each year the TID is open ending with a minimum
assessed value of $35,800,900 in 2032, Additionally in 2A24 the developer will add another $9 million in
minimum assessed value for phase 3 of the development. ln the event that the minimum assessed value
is not met, the developer has a minimum valuation shortfall obligation payable for that year, in an amount
equal to the difference between the real estate taxes that would have been due and payable had such
real estate taxes been determined using the minimum assessed values, and the actual real estate taxes.
Aggregate incentive payments for the year ended December 31,2017 were $2,750,000.

The City of Oak Creek through its Tax lncremental Financing District 11 has entered into a tax abatement
agreement with developers in the form of a tax incremental financing incentive payment to stimulate
economic development. The abatements are authorized through the TID project plan and development
agreement. The developer received $2,500,000 upon beginning construction of a parking garage with
425 parking stalls. Once building permits are pulled for additional square footage of the medical facility
(targeting 130,000 square foot) the developer will be paid $65.80 per square foot up to an additional

$2,500,000. The City will in good faith effort work with the WEDC for a $1,000,000 grant for the
developer based on jobs, 425 parking stalls, and a 130,000 square foot facility. The developer agreed to
meet a minimum assessed value varying each year from 2017-2032. ln the event that the minimum
assessed value is not met, the developer has a minimum valuation shortfall obligation payable for that
year, in an amount equal to the difference between the real estate taxes that would have been due and
payable had such real estate taxes been determined using the minimum assessed values, and the actual
real estate taxes. Aggregate incentive payments for the year ended December 31,2017 were
$1,835,134.

The Cig of Oak Creek through its Tax lncremental Financing District 11 has entered into a tax abatement
agreement with developers in the form of a tax incremental financing incentive payment to stimulate

economic development. The abatements are authorized through the TID project plan and development
agreement. The developer received $'1,450,000 upon ownership of said property and entering into
construction contracts and the constructron process and a hotel franchise agreement and the construction
process and agreed to meet a minimum assessed value,varying each year from 2015-2032. ln the event
that the minimum assessed value is not met, the developer has a minimum valuation shortfall obligation
payable for that year, in an amount equal lo the difference between the real estate taxes that would have
been due and payable had such real estate taxes been determined using the minimum assessed values,
and the actual real estate taxes. Aggregate incentive payments for the year ended December 31,2017
were $0.

Page 61



CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,2017

NOTE lV - OrHER lNronmattoH (cont.)

C. Commtrmexrs aNo CoNnNeE rcrEs (cont.)

Tax lncremental Financing (cont.)

The City of Oak Creek through its Tax lncremental Financing District 11 has entered into a tax abatement
agreement with developers in the forrir of a tax incremental financing incentive payment to stimulate
economic development. The abatements are authorized through the TID project plan and development
agreement. The developer received $1,680,051 upon ownership of said property and entering into
construction contracts and the construction process and agreed to meet a minimum assessed value
varying each year from 2015-2032. ln the event that the minimum assessed value is not met, the
developer has a minimum valuation shortfall obligation payable for that year, in an amount equal to the
difference between the real estate taxes that would have been due and payable had such real estate
taxes been determined using the minimum assessed values, and the actual real estate taxes, Aggregate
incentive payments for the year ended December 31, 2017 were $0.

The City of Oak Creek through its Tax lncremental Financing District 11 has entered into a tax abatement
agreement with developers in the form of a tax incremental financing ineentive payment to stimulate
economic development, The abatements are authorized through the TID project plan and development
agreement. The developer received $1,319,949 upon ownership of said property and entering into
construction contracts and the construction process and agreed to meet a minimum assessed value
varying each year from 2015-2032. ln the event that the minimum assessed value is not met, the
developer has a minimum valuation shortfall obligation payable for that year, in an amount equalto the
difference between the real estate taxes that would have been due and payable had such real estate
taxes been determined using the minimum assessed values, and the actual real estate taxes, Aggregate
incentive payments for the year ended December 31,2A17 were $0,

The City of Oak Creek through its Tax lncremental Financing District 11 has entered into a tax abatement
agreements with developers in the form of a tax incremental financing incentive payments to stimulate
economic development. The abatements are authorized through the TID project plans and development
agreement. The developers will receive not to exceed $900,000 upon ownership, build out of project and
having reached the minimum assessed value: $5 million in 2019 and $8 million in 202A and for the
remaining life of the project. ln the event that the minimum assessed value is not met, the developer has
a minimum valuation shortfall obligation payable for that year, in an amount equal to the ditference
between the real estate taxes that would have been due.and payable had such real estate taxes been
determined using the minimum assessed values, and the actual real estate taxes, Aggregate incentive
payments for the year ended December 31,2017 were $0.

The City of Oak Creek through its Tax lncremental Financing District 12 has entered into a tax abatement
agreement with developers in the form of a tax incremental financing incentive payment to stimulate
economic development. The abatements are authorized through the TID project plan and development
agreement. The developers agree to invest roughly $50,000,000 in economic development building a

300,000 square foot retail facility. The City and developer agree to City Financing not to exceed

$5,225,000 for infrastructure leading up to the developer's property. ln each year, beginning 2017 and

ending the last year of the district 2036, the City will receive a check from the developer for taxes on the
property. The developer will receive the tax amount back less the annual bond payment for
infrastructure, and less $25,000 for administrative costs each year up to $13,000,000. Aggregate
incentive payments for the year ended December 31, 2017 were $0, as the project has not yet started.
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NOTE IV - OrHen INFoRMATIoN cont.

D, OrnenPosrEMPLoYMEurBearnrs

The city administers a single-employer defined benefit healthcare plan ("the Retiree Health Plan"), The
plan provides health insurance contributions for eligible retirees and their spouses through the city's
group health insurance plan, which covers both active and retired members. Benefit provisions are
established through collective bargaining agreements and state that eligible retirees and their spouses
receive lifetime healthcare insurance at established contribution rates. General employees hired after
January 1,2015 are not eligible to receive post employment benefits. Police officers hired after January
1,2015, are not eligible to receive post employment benefits. lnstead, the city shall pay into a Voluntary
Employee Beneficiary Association (VEBA) plan for the benefit of the employee, which can be used to pay
for retiree health insurance premiums. Firefighters hired after January 1,2016, are not eligible to receive
post employment benefits. lnstead, the city shall pay into section 457 plan for the benefit of the
employee, which can be used to pay for retiree health insurance premiums, The Retiree Health Plan
does not issue a publicly available financial report.

Contribution requirements are established through collective bargaining agreements and may be
amended only through negotiations between the city and the unions.

The city's annual other postemployment benefit (OPEB) cost (expense) is calculated based on the annual
required contribution of the employer (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with
parameters of GASB Statement No. 45. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing
basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or
funding excess) over a period not to exceed thirty years. The following table shows the components of the
city's annual OPEB cost for the year, the amount actually contributed to plan, and changes in the city's
net OPEB obligation to the Retiree Health Plan:

Annual Required Contribution
lnterest on net OPEB obligation
Adjustment to annual required conkibution

Annual OPEB cost
Contributions made

lncrease in net OPEB obligation

Net OPEB Obligation - Beginning of Year

Net OPEB Obligation - End of Year

$ 3,246,019
864,722

(1,427 ,745)

2,682,996
(2,022,000)

660,996

28,824,034

$ 29,485,030
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NOTE IV - Orxen INFORMATION cont.

D, Oruen PosreuptovmE JrBEA,EF,rs (cont.)

The city's annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the net
OPEB obligation tor 2017 and the two preceding years were as follows:

FiscalYear
Ended

Annual OPEB
Cost

Percentage of
Annual OPEB

Cost
Contributed

Net OPEB
Oblisation

12t31t2017 $ 2,682,996
12t31t2016 2,656,028
12t31t2015 3,321,021

74,5%
74.5o/o
59.3%

$ 29,485,030
28,824,434
28,146,006

The funded status of the plan as of January 1, 2016, the most recent actuarial valuation date, was as
follows:

Actuarial accrued liability (AAL)
Actuarial value of,plan assets

Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL)

$ 44,983,388

$ 44,983,388

Funded ratio (actuarial value of plan assets/AAL) 0%

$ 18,253,570

246.4%

Covered payroll (active plan members)

UML as percentage of covered payroll

The projection of future benefit for an ongoing plan involves estimates for the value of reported amounts
and assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include
assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined
regarding the funded status of the plan and annual required contributions of the employer are subject to
continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made
about the future. The schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary information
following the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend information that shows whether
the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued
liabilities for benefits.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan is
understood by the employer and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of
each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing benefit costs between the employer and plan

members to that point, The methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to
reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with
the longterm perspective of the calculations.
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NOTE lV- Orxen luronrurnon (cont.)

D. OTHER PosrEMpLoyMENT BENEFITS (cont.)

ln the January 1,2016 actuarial valuation, the projected unit credit actuarial cost method was used. The
actuarial assumptions include a 3,00 percent investment rate of return and an annual healthcare cost
trend rate of 6,20 percent initially and reduced by decrements to an ultimate rate of 4 percent after sixty-
five years. Both rates include assumptions for annual rates of medical inflation. The actuarial value of
Retiree Health Plan assets was determined using techniques that spread the effects of short-term
volatility in the market value of investments over a three-year period. The plan's unfunded actuarial
acmued liability is being amortized as a level percentage of projected payrollon an open basis. The
remaining amortization period at December 31,2017 , was 30 years.

E, Powea Geuenenuo Fecurv Mtnennou Reveuue

The city entered into an agreement with Wisconsin Energy Corporation (WEC), WEC is expanding its
electric generating facilities within the City of Oak Creek by creating three new units. WEC is expected to
pay the following annual mitigation payments to the city 30 days after the commencement of construction

Elm Road Unit '1 $1,500,000
Elm Road Unit 2 750,000
Elm Road Unit 3 250,000

The payments are required annually unless the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin determines that
these payments may not be included in the rent payments of the facilities lease or a new unit ceases
operation after start-up and is decommissioned.

ln 2017 , the city received $2,250,000

F, EFFEIT oF New Accouwnwc STAITDARDS oN Cunneur-Pentoo FtNANcnr Srarsmsnrrs

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has approved the following

> Statement No. 83, Ceftain Assef Reflrement Obligations

> Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities

> Statement No, 85, Omnibus 2017

> Statement No. 86, Certain Debt Extinguishment /ssues

> Statement No. 87, Leases

> Statement No. 88, Certain Drsclosures Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowings and
Direct Placements

When they become etfective, application of these standards may restate portions of these financial
statements.
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NOTE lV -\O1'JER lNronraEnoN (cont.)

G, SuBsEouEvrEvEilrs

ln April 2018, the City issued $8.9 million of Taxable General Obligation Refunding Bonds, which was
used to refund previously issued debt,
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

GENERAL FUND
For the Year Ended December 3l, 2017

REVENUES

TAXES
General property taxes
Motel room tax
Mobile home taxes

Other taxes
TOTALS

INTERGOVERNMENTAL REVENUES
Shared taxes from state
State transportation aids
State computer aids
Other state aids
Health department block grant

Police grants

TOTALS

REGULATION AND COMPLIANCE
Licenses

Liquor and beer
Publishing fees
Operators
Amusement devices
Amusement operators
Miscellaneous - business
Miscellaneous - non-business
DATCP
Late sanitarian license renewal
Sanltarian plan review

Landfill
Permits

Building
Electrical
Plumbing
Street opening
Erosion control
Fire inspections
Temp food
Sundry

Cable TV
AT&T video service

Court fines
TOTALS

PUBLIC CHARGES FOR SERVICES
General Government

Property status letter fees
Administrative fees
Photo copies sold
Zoning/housing appeal fees
Rezoning petitions and iiling fees
Text amendment fees
Right of way vacation fees
Special use request fees
Filing fee - certified survey maps
Plan commission agenda fees

Original and
Final Budset

Variance with

Final BudgetActual

$ 12,943,185
457,000

68,000
34,800

$ 13,10't,353 $
457,000

63,431
10,566

(4,56e)

"- (2!,234t
129,365

1 58,1 68

13,502,985 13,632,350

3,043,748
2,409,899

138,602
6,035
4,500

131,500

3,036,408
2,409,899

128,547
5,821

(7,340)

(10,055)
(214)

(4,500)
2,398133,898

5,734,284 5,714,573 ( 19,71 1 )

52,000
830

25,000
9,500
1,200

10,000
75

72,0Q0
200

500

500
285,000
'190,000

58,534
980

30,597
8,010
1,200
7,330

bb
88,657

565
3,717

6,534
150

5,597
(1,490)

(2,670)
(e)

16,657
365

3,717
(500)

425 000

681,813
146,431
112,640

16,444
27,659

6,151
2,165
1,845

339,1 83
152,990
367,649

371,000
90,000
75,000

8,000
10,000
4,000

310,813
56,431
37,640
8,444

17,659
2,151
2,165
'1,345

54,1 83
(37,010)

. (57,351)

424,8211,629,805 2.054.626

7,000
23,000

1,500
800

1,500
500
575

9,500
6,000

10,000

9,060
28,581

742
1,000
6,975

500
575

17,725
8,450

12,650

2,060
5,581

(758)
200

5,475

8,225
2,450
2,650

See independenl auditors' report and accompanying notes to required supplementary information.
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

GENEML FUND (cont.)
Forthe Year Ended December 31,2017

Original and

Final Budset
Variance with
Final BudsetActual

PUBLIC OHARGES FOR $ERVICES (cont.)
General Government (cont. )

Map amendments
Subdivision plat fees
Maps sold

Public Safety
State DWI seizures
Police patrol service fees
Miscellaneous fees
Copies of police and fire reports
False alarm penalties

Health and Sanitation
Health Departmenl
Clinic fees

Pet license fees/Humane Society
Public Works
Weed cutting
Sale of culvert pipe
Culvert installation

Library
Other income
Photocopies

Recreation
Sanitarian

Pre-inspection
Regular seruice fee

Miscellaneous charges for services

TOTALS

$2,325
950

42

$ 1,200 $
500

1,125
450

42

7,709
(e2e)

8,000'
13,000

18,500
7,000

140,000

5,000
3,100

295,675

1,749
5,904
3,850
3,856
6,019

15,709
12,071

10,870
12,554
2,310

19,051
7,992

1 26;956

EJ

o,J/o
9,617

334,464

(1 30)
2,554
1,310

55'l
992

(13,044)

5
1,376
6,517

2,000
4,500
2,500
3,000
5,000

(251},
1,404
1,350

856
1,0't9

11,000
10,000

1,000

38,789

INVESTMENT INCOME
lnvestment lncome

lnvestments
Taxes

TOTALS

MISCELLANEOUS INCOME
AT&T American tower lease

$outh Suburban Chamber Lease

lnsurance incentives
lnsurance recoveries
P-card rebates

Miscellaneous revenues

TOTALS

INTERFUND CHARGES FOR SERVICES
Engineering and administration charged to capital projects

Engineering and administration oharged to TID projects

Highway equipment seryice fee

Administrative services charged to enterprise funds

Miscellaneous charges for services

TOTALS

275,000 183,922 (91,078)

27,A0A

200,000
75,000

130,701
53,221

(6e,2S9)
(21,779\

75,000
11,300
12,000
10,000

55,200
8,000

108,782
4,376

11,529
377

27,600
8,000

33,782
(6,924)

(471)

t9,623)

135,900 188,264 52,364

65,000
200,000

38,500
4s,000

603
225,000
40,990
40,000
22,808

(64,397)

25,000
2,490

(5,000)

22,808

348,500 329 (19,099)

TOTAL REVENUES $ 21,922,149 $ 22,43 7.600 $ 515,451

See independent auditors' report and accompanying notes to required supplementary information.
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY I NFORMATION
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDU LE

cENERAL FUND (cont.)
For the Year Ended December 31,2017

EXPENDITURES

GENERAL GOVERNMENT
General government
Building maintenancE
City administrator
Data processing

City clerk
Treasurer
Finance
Assessor,
Attorney and legal

Community development
TOTALS

PUBLIC SAFETY
Police department
Emergency operations
Fire department
lnspection

Olher
TOTALS

HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES

Health department
TOTALS

PUBLIC WORKS
Engineering
Streets

TOTALS

LEISURE ACTIVITIES
Conservation and recreation
Library

Parks
TOTALS

TOTAL EXPENDITURES

orHER FINANC|NG SOURCES (USES)

Sale of property

Transfer in - tax equlvalent

Transfer out

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Net Change in Fund Balance

FUND BALANCE - Beginning of Year

FUND BALANCE - END OF YEAR

6,611,797 6,431,888 179,909

Original and

Final Budget
Variance with

Final Bgdget

(21,000)
62,157
25,939

( 12,388)
(746)

10,268
15,395
(3,012)
80,869
22,427

Actual

$ 2,62e,859 $
650,262
963,393
893,779
204,872
198,836
346,979
199,780
242,988
281,049

2,650,859 $
588,1 05
937,4s4
906,1 67
205,618
188,568
331,584
202,792
162,1 19

258,622

7,962,793
23,450

1,881,914
539,590
96,683

7,805,735
6,160

1,969,234
510,520

94,555

157,058
17,290

(87,320)
29,070
2]28

10,504,430 10,386,204 118,226

633,503 501,377 132,126

633,503 501,377 132,126

750,843
3,086,191

647,383
2,846,094

103,460
240,097

3,837 ,034 3,493,477 343,557

590,014
857,950
509,1 1 5

565,008
830,657
482,386

25,006
27,293
26,729

1,957,079 1,878,051

22,690,997

79,028

23,543,843 852,846

20,000
1,719,547

27,686
1,663,609
(923,956)

7,686
(55,938)

(923,956)

1,739,547 767,339 (972,208)

$ 117,853 513,942

7,698,188

$ 396,089

$8, 212.130

See independent auditors' report and accompanying notes to required supplementary information.
Page 69



CITY OF OAK CREEK

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES FUND. SPECIAL REVENUE FUND
Forthe Year Ended December 31,2017

Originaland
FinalBudqet

Variance with
Final BudgetActual

REVENUES
Taxes
lntergovernmental
Public charges for services
lnvestment income

Total Revenues

EXPENDITURES
Public Safety

Total Expenditures

Net Change in Fund Balance

FUND BALANCE - Beginning of year

FUND BALANCE - ENDING OF YEAR

4,826,296 4,886,063 59,767

4,826,296 4,859,595 (33,29e)

4,826,296 4,859,595

26,468

323,A62

$ 349,530

(33,299)

$ 26,468

$ 3,602,939 $
107,919

1,115,438

3,602,939 $
154,941

1,125,373
2,810

47,022
9,935
2,810

$

See independent auditors' report and accompanying notes to required supplementary information
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

SCHEDULE OF FUNDED STATUS

OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT$ PLAN. HEALTH CARE

December 31,2017

Actuarial

Valuation
Date

Actuarial

Value of

Assets
(a)

Actuarial

Accrued

Liability (ML)
- Projected unit

(b)

Unfunded

AAL
(uAAL)

(b-a)

Covered

Payroll
(c)

UAAL as a

Percentage of

Covered Payroll
((b-a)/c)

Funded

Ratio
(a/b)

111t16

1t1t14

1t1t12

$ $ 44,983,389

51,018,862

57,307,289

$ 44,983,388

51,018,862

57,307,289

$ 18,253,570

17,803,461

17,194,475

246.40/o

286,60/o

333.30/o

jYo

0o/o

Oa/o

See independent auditorsl report and accompanying notes to required supplementary information
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

ctTy's SCHEDULE OF pROpORTtONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSTON LIABTL|TY (ASSET)-

WISCONSI N RETIREMENT SYSTEM

December 31,2417

WRS

Fiscal

Proportion

of the Net

Pension

Proportionate

Share of the

Net Pension

Liability (Asset)
Covered

Payroll

Proportionate
Share of the Net

Pension Liability

(Asset) as a

Percentage of
Covered Payroll

Plan Fiduciary

Net Position

as a Percentage

of the Total

Pension LiabilityYear Endino Liabilitv (Asset)

12t31t14

12t31t15

12t31t16

0,16047000% $

0.157755090/o $

0.15582489% $

(3,941,582) $ 17,775,702

2,563,490 $ 18,256,231

1,284,369 $ 18,758,850

22.17%

14.04o/o

6.8570

102.740/o

98.20o/o

99.12Y0

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS - WISCONSIN RETIREMENT SYSTEM

For the Year Ended December 31,2017

CitY

Fiscal

Year Ending

Contractually

Required

Contributions

Contributions in

Relation to the

Contractually

Required

Contributions

Contribution

Deficiency Covered

Payroll

$ 18,256,231

$ 18,758,850

$ 19,136,951

Contributions

as a Percentage

of Covered

roll

8.19%

7,97o/o

8,6e%

12t31t15

12t31116

12t31117

$ 1,495,972 $

$ 1,495,955 $

$ 1,663,744 $

1,495,972 $
1,495,955 $
1,663,744 $

See independent auditors' report and accompanying notes to required supplementary information
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CITY OF OAK CREEK

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
As of and for: the Year Ended December 31, 2017

BUDGETARY INFORMAnION

Budgetary information is derived from the annual operating budget and is presented using the same basis
of accounting for each fund as described in Note l.C.

A budget has been adopted for all governmentalfund types. The budgeted amounls presented include
any amendments made, The city administrator may authorize transfers of budgeted amounts within
departments. Transfers between departments and changes to the overall budget must be approved by a
two{hirds councilaction, There were no supplemental appropriations during the year,

Appropriations lapse at year end unless specifically carried over. Carryovers to the following year were
$0. Budgets are adopted at the function level of expenditure.

Futtuua PRoeRess Dlre

The data presented in the Schedule of Funded Status was taken from the reports issued by the actuary

Wrscon s,rv RETIREM ENr Svs rem

The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar year-end that occurred
within the fiscalyear,

The city is required to present the last ten fiscal years data; however the standards allow the city to
present as many years as are available until ten fiscal years are presented.

Changes in benefit terms, There were no changes of benefit terms for any participating employer in the
Wisconsi n Retirement System.

Changes in assumptions. There were no changes in the assumptions.

See independent auditors' report.
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CTTY OF OAK CREEK

CS,iBINING BALAIICE SHEEI
NO'.IMAJOR GC}\/ERNIIENIAL FUNO6 {Cd* )

As af Oe€66d 31. 2017
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3 S:€t

358.030
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CTTY OF OAK CREEK

COIIBINING STATET/IENT OF REVENUES, EXPENdTRES AilO
CHANGES IN FUNO BALAAICES
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QB\54065069.1  

Quarles & Brady LLP 
411 East Wisconsin Avenue 

Milwaukee, WI  53202 
 

November 27, 2018 
 
Re: City of Oak Creek, Wisconsin ("Issuer") 

$5,100,000 Taxable General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2018D, 
dated November 27, 2018 ("Bonds") 

 
We have acted as bond counsel to the Issuer in connection with the issuance of the 

Bonds.  In such capacity, we have examined such law and such certified proceedings, 
certifications, and other documents as we have deemed necessary to render this opinion. 

 
Regarding questions of fact material to our opinion, we have relied on the certified 

proceedings and other certifications of public officials and others furnished to us without 
undertaking to verify the same by independent investigation. 

 
The Bonds are numbered from R-1 and upward; bear interest at the rates set forth below; 

and mature on October 1 of each year, in the years and principal amounts as follows: 
 

Year Principal Amount Interest Rate 
 

2021 $   220,000  4.00  % 
2022 250,000  4.00 
2023 280,000  4.00 
2024 310,000  4.00 
2025 345,000  4.25 
2026 385,000  4.00 
2027 425,000  4.00 
2028 465,000  4.25 
2029 520,000  3.95 
2030 575,000  4.00 
2032 1,325,000  4.125 

 
Interest is payable semi-annually on April 1 and October 1 of each year commencing on April 1, 
2019. 
 

The Bonds maturing on October 1, 2029 and thereafter are subject to redemption prior to 
maturity, at the option of the Issuer, on October 1, 2028 or on any date thereafter.  Said Bonds 
are redeemable as a whole or in part, and if in part, from maturities selected by the Issuer, and 
within each maturity by lot, at the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the date of 
redemption. 
 

The Bonds maturing in the year 2032 are subject to mandatory redemption by lot as 
provided in the resolution authorizing the Bonds, at the redemption price of par plus accrued 
interest to the date of redemption and without premium. 
 



QB\54065069.1  

We further certify that we have examined a sample of the Bonds and find the same to be 
in proper form. 

 
Based upon and subject to the foregoing, it is our opinion under existing law that: 
 
1. The Bonds have been duly authorized and executed by the Issuer and are valid 

and binding general obligations of the Issuer. 
 

2. All the taxable property in the territory of the Issuer is subject to the levy of ad 
valorem taxes to pay principal of, and interest on, the Bonds, without limitation as to rate or 
amount.  The Issuer is required by law to include in its annual tax levy the principal and interest 
coming due on the Bonds except to the extent that necessary funds have been irrevocably 
deposited into the debt service fund account established for the payment of the principal of and 
interest on the Bonds. 
 

3. The interest on the Bonds is included for federal income tax purposes in the gross 
income of the owners of the Bonds. 
 

We express no opinion regarding the accuracy, adequacy, or completeness of the Official 
Statement or any other offering material relating to the Bonds.  Further, we express no opinion 
regarding tax consequences arising with respect to the Bonds other than as expressly set forth 
herein. 
 

The rights of the owners of the Bonds and the enforceability thereof may be subject to 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar laws affecting creditors' rights 
and may be subject to the exercise of judicial discretion in accordance with general principles of 
equity, whether considered at law or in equity. 

 
This opinion is given as of the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to revise or 

supplement this opinion to reflect any facts or circumstances that may hereafter come to our 
attention, or any changes in law that may hereafter occur. 

 
QUARLES & BRADY LLP 
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE 
 
This Continuing Disclosure Certificate (the "Disclosure Certificate") is executed and 

delivered by the City of Oak Creek, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin (the "Issuer") in connection 
with the issuance of $5,100,000 Taxable General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2018D, 
dated November 27, 2018 (the "Securities").  The Securities are being issued pursuant to a 
resolution adopted on October 16, 2018 (the "Resolution") and delivered to Hutchinson, 
Shockey, Erley & Co. (the "Purchaser") on the date hereof.  Pursuant to the Resolution, the 
Issuer has covenanted and agreed to provide continuing disclosure of certain financial 
information and operating data and timely notices of the occurrence of certain events.  In 
addition, the Issuer hereby specifically covenants and agrees as follows: 
 

Section 1(a).  Purpose of the Disclosure Certificate.  This Disclosure Certificate is being 
executed and delivered by the Issuer for the benefit of the holders of the Securities in order to 
assist the Participating Underwriters within the meaning of the Rule (defined herein) in 
complying with SEC Rule 15c2-12(b)(5).  References in this Disclosure Certificate to holders of 
the Securities shall include the beneficial owners of the Securities.  This Disclosure Certificate 
constitutes the written Undertaking required by the Rule. 

 
Section 1(b).  Filing Requirements.  Any filing under this Disclosure Certificate must be 

made solely by transmitting such filing to the MSRB (defined herein) through the Electronic 
Municipal Market Access ("EMMA") System at www.emma.msrb.org in the format prescribed 
by the MSRB.  All documents provided to the MSRB shall be accompanied by the identifying 
information prescribed by the MSRB. 

 
Section 2.  Definitions.  In addition to the defined terms set forth in the Resolution, which 

apply to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Certificate unless otherwise defined in this 
Section, the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings: 
 

"Annual Report" means any annual report provided by the Issuer pursuant to, and as 
described in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Certificate. 

 
"Audited Financial Statements" means the Issuer's annual financial statements, which are 

currently prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for 
governmental units as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and 
which the Issuer intends to continue to prepare in substantially the same form. 
 

"Final Official Statement" means the Official Statement dated October 16, 2018 delivered 
in connection with the Securities, which is available from the MSRB. 
 

"Fiscal Year" means the fiscal year of the Issuer. 
 

"Governing Body" means the Common Council of the Issuer or such other body as may 
hereafter be the chief legislative body of the Issuer. 

 
 

http://www.emma.msrb.org/
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"Issuer" means the City of Oak Creek, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin, which is the 

obligated person with respect to the Securities. 
 
"Issuer Contact" means the City Clerk of the Issuer who can be contacted at 8040 S. 6th 

Street, Oak Creek, Wisconsin  53154, phone (414) 766-7000, fax (414) 766-7976. 
 
"Listed Event" means any of the events listed in Section 5(a) of this Disclosure 

Certificate. 
 
"MSRB" means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. 
 
"Participating Underwriter" means any of the original underwriter(s) of the Securities 

(including the Purchaser) required to comply with the Rule in connection with the offering of the 
Securities. 

 
"Rule" means SEC Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) promulgated by the SEC under the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time, and official 
interpretations thereof. 

 
"SEC" means the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

 
Section 3.  Provision of Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements. 
 
(a) The Issuer shall, not later than 270 days after the end of the Fiscal Year, 

commencing with the year ending December 31, 2018, provide the MSRB with an Annual 
Report filed in accordance with Section 1(b) of this Disclosure Certificate and which is 
consistent with the requirements of Section 4 of this Disclosure Certificate.  The Annual Report 
may be submitted as a single document or as separate documents comprising a package, and may 
cross-reference other information as provided in Section 4 of this Disclosure Certificate; 
provided that the Audited Financial Statements of the Issuer may be submitted separately from 
the balance of the Annual Report and that, if Audited Financial Statements are not available 
within 270 days after the end of the Fiscal Year, unaudited financial information will be 
provided, and Audited Financial Statements will be submitted to the MSRB when and if 
available. 

 
(b) If the Issuer is unable or fails to provide to the MSRB an Annual Report by the 

date required in subsection (a), the Issuer shall send in a timely manner a notice of that fact to the 
MSRB in the format prescribed by the MSRB, as described in Section 1(b) of this Disclosure 
Certificate. 

 
Section 4.  Content of Annual Report.  The Issuer's Annual Report shall contain or 

incorporate by reference the Audited Financial Statements and updates of the following sections 
of the Final Official Statement to the extent such financial information and operating data are not 
included in the Audited Financial Statements: 
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1. CITY DEBT STRUCTURE - Total Outstanding General Obligation Debt Summary 
2. CITY DEBT STRUCTURE - Total Outstanding Revenue Debt Summary 
3. CITY DEBT STRUCTURE - Debt Ratios (including Equalized Value) 
 
Any or all of the items listed above may be incorporated by reference from other 

documents, including official statements of debt issues of the Issuer or related public entities, 
which are available to the public on the MSRB’s Internet website or filed with the SEC.  The 
Issuer shall clearly identify each such other document so incorporated by reference. 
 

Section 5.  Reporting of Listed Events. 
 
(a) This Section 5 shall govern the giving of notices of the occurrence of any of the 

following events with respect to the Securities: 
 
1. Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 
 
2. Non-payment related defaults, if material; 
 
3. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 
 
4. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 
 
5. Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 
 
6. Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed 

or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-
TEB) or other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of 
the Securities, or other material events affecting the tax status of the Securities;  

 
7. Modification to rights of holders of the Securities, if material; 
 
8. Securities calls, if material, and tender offers; 
 
9. Defeasances; 
 
10. Release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the Securities, if 

material; 
 
11. Rating changes; 
 
12. Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Issuer; 
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13.  The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the Issuer 
or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer, other than in the 
ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake 
such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such 
actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; and 

 
14. Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a 

trustee, if material. 
 
For the purposes of the event identified in subsection (a)12. above, the event is 

considered to occur when any of the following occur:  the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent 
or similar officer for the Issuer  in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other 
proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or governmental authority has assumed 
jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the Issuer, or if such jurisdiction has 
been assumed by leaving the existing governing body and officials or officers in possession but 
subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an 
order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental 
authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the 
Issuer. 

 
(b) When a Listed Event occurs, the Issuer shall, in a timely manner not in excess of 

ten business days after the occurrence of the Listed Event, file a notice of such occurrence with 
the MSRB.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice of Listed Events described in subsections (a) 
(8) and (9) need not be given under this subsection any earlier than the notice (if any) of the 
underlying event is given to holders of affected Securities pursuant to the Resolution. 

 
(c) Unless otherwise required by law, the Issuer shall submit the information in the 

format prescribed by the MSRB, as described in Section 1(b) of this Disclosure Certificate. 
 

Section 6.  Termination of Reporting Obligation.  The Issuer's obligations under the 
Resolution and this Disclosure Certificate shall terminate upon the legal defeasance, prior 
redemption or payment in full of all the Securities. 

 
Section 7.  Issuer Contact; Agent.  Information may be obtained from the Issuer Contact.  

Additionally, the Issuer may, from time to time, appoint or engage a dissemination agent to assist 
it in carrying out its obligations under the Resolution and this Disclosure Certificate, and may 
discharge any such agent, with or without appointing a successor dissemination agent.   

 
Section 8.  Amendment; Waiver.  Notwithstanding any other provision of the Resolution 

or this Disclosure Certificate, the Issuer may amend this Disclosure Certificate, and any 
provision of this Disclosure Certificate may be waived, if the following conditions are met: 

 
(a)(i)   The amendment or waiver is made in connection with a change in circumstances 

that arises from a change in legal requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature, 
or status of the Issuer, or the type of business conducted; or 
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    (ii)   This Disclosure Certificate, as amended or waived, would have complied with the 
requirements of the Rule at the time of the primary offering, after taking into account any 
amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances; and 

 
(b)   The amendment or waiver does not materially impair the interests of beneficial 

owners of the Securities, as determined and certified to the Issuer by an underwriter, financial 
advisor, bond counsel or trustee. 

 
In the event this Disclosure Certificate is amended for any reason other than to cure any 

ambiguities, inconsistencies, or typographical errors that may be contained herein, the Issuer 
agrees the next Annual Report it submits after such amendment shall include an explanation of 
the reasons for the amendment and the impact of the change, if any, on the type of financial 
statements or operating data being provided. 

 
If the amendment concerns the accounting principles to be followed in preparing 

financial statements, then the Issuer agrees that it will give an event notice and that the next 
Annual Report it submits after such amendment will include a comparison between financial 
statements or information prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those 
prepared on the basis of the former accounting principles. 

 
Section 9.  Additional Information.  Nothing in this Disclosure Certificate shall be 

deemed to prevent the Issuer from disseminating any other information, using the means of 
dissemination set forth in this Disclosure Certificate or any other means of communication, or 
including any other information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, 
in addition to that which is required by this Disclosure Certificate.  If the Issuer chooses to 
include any information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event in 
addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure Certificate, the Issuer shall have 
no obligation under this Disclosure Certificate to update such information or include it in any 
future Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event. 

 
Section 10.  Default.  (a)  Except as described in the Final Official Statement, in the 

previous five years, the Issuer has not failed to comply in all material respects with any previous 
undertakings under the Rule to provide annual reports or notices of events. 

 
(b)   In the event of a failure of the Issuer to comply with any provision of this 

Disclosure Certificate any holder of the Securities may take such actions as may be necessary 
and appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific performance by court order, to cause the 
Issuer to comply with its obligations under the Resolution and this Disclosure Certificate.  A 
default under this Disclosure Certificate shall not be deemed an event of default with respect to 
the Securities and the sole remedy under this Disclosure Certificate in the event of any failure of 
the Issuer to comply with this Disclosure Certificate shall be an action to compel performance. 
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Section 11.  Beneficiaries.  This Disclosure Certificate shall inure solely to the benefit of 

the Issuer, the Participating Underwriters and holders from time to time of the Securities, and 
shall create no rights in any other person or entity. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have executed this Certificate in our official capacities 

effective the 27th day of November, 2018. 
 
 _____________________________ 

Daniel Bukiewicz 
Mayor 

(SEAL) 
_____________________________ 
Catherine A. Roeske 
City Clerk 




